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FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
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OR
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ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 001-36274

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)
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New York, New York 10032
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area codé12) 923-3344
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) ¢fie Exchange Act:
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Common Stock, $0.0001 Par Value Per Share The NASDAQ Global Select Market
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. YeEl No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b tiled all reports required to be filed by Seeti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f493

during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqmégiod that the registrant was required to filetsteports), and (2) has been subject to suclhyfilin
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iésnitted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&tb site, if any, every Interactive Data File reed
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submit and post such files). YeX] No O
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best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive praxyinformation statements incorporated by refeegndPart 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthis
Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantl&ge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&se
the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “ateated filer” and “smaller reporting company” inle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file O Accelerated file| O

Non-accelerated file O [Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act). Yes[O No

The aggregate market value of the registrant’shgodind non-voting common stock held by non-afgéigaof the registrant (without admitting that any
person whose shares are not included in such asilmulis an affiliate) computed by reference tophiee at which the common stock was last sold @madd
21, 2014 was approximately $389,487,576. The negishas provided this information as of March 2114 because its common stock was not publiclyettad
as of the last business day of its most recentiypteted second fiscal quarter.

As of March 15, 2014, the registrant had 29,222 sifes of common stock outstanding.
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PART |

All brand names or trademarks appearing in thisae@re the property of their respective holderselbr display by us of other parties’
trademarks, trade dress, or products in this repsmot intended to, and does not, imply a relahip with, or endorsements or sponsorshi
us by the trademark or trade dress owners. Unlessbntext requires otherwise, references in thrt to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and
“our” refer to Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. ands wholly-owned subsidiary, ITI, Inc.

Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused oniitevkry and clinical development of innovative adirmolecule drugs that address
underserved medical needs in neuropsychiatric ancofogical disorders by targeting intracellulayrgiling mechanisms within the central
nervous system, or CNS. Our lead product canditiek€07, is in clinical development as a first-gétass treatment for schizophrenia. Current
medications available for the treatment of schizepta do not adequately address the broad arraymoptoms associated with this CNS
disorder. Use of these current medications alfimited by their substantial side effects. ITI-08%esigned to be effective across a wider ri
of symptoms, treating both the acute and residoases of schizophrenia, with improved safety atetaobility.

ITI-007 exhibited antipsychotic efficacy in a ramiaed, double-blind, placebo and active controfdshse 2 clinical trial in patients with
an acutely exacerbated episode of schizophren@et®mber 2013, we announced the clinical residta this Phase 2 trial. In this Phase 2
trial, 335 patients were randomized to receiveaffeur treatments: 60 mg of ITI-007, 120 mg of 007, 4 mg of risperidone (active control)
or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio, orally once daily 28 days. The primary endpoint for this clinia@ftwas change from baseline to Day 28 on
Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, or PANSS| sobre. In this study, ITI-007 met the trial’®gspecified primary endpoint, improving
symptoms associated with schizophrenia as measyradstatistically significant and clinically meagful decrease in the PANSS total score.
The trial also met key secondary outcome measeteted to efficacy on PANSS subscales and safatglitidnal data from the Phase 2 trial
set forth below in the section entitled “—Our Ctiai Programs—ITI-007 Program—ITI-007 for the treatrhof exacerbated and residual
schizophrenia—Phase 2 Clinical Trial (ITI-007-00%). the second quarter of 2014, we plan to reqaeseeting with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, to discuss the existing4d07 safety and efficacy data and our future ciihdtevelopment plans for ITa07, including
our plans to conduct separate, but overlappind;eegitrolled clinical trials in schizophrenia anighblar disorder. The Phase 3 clinical trial
design for ITIO07 in schizophrenia will be the primary focuslué first meeting. Additional meetings may be retessas needed, to discus
greater detail our plans for bipolar disorder, attter elements of our regulatory strategy, inclgdidditional therapeutic indications, as the
program progresses.

Subject to discussions with the FDA, we intendnitiate Phase 3 clinical trials and additional saniipg trials in patients with acute
exacerbated schizophrenia in the second half of 20 plan to initiate separate additional trialbipolar disorder in 2015. We expect that the
planned trials in bipolar disorder will overlaptime with the clinical conduct of the planned tsiah schizophrenia. We have not yet discussec
our plans to develop ITI-007 for the treatment ipidtar disorder with the FDA. We currently anticipaonducting two placebo-controlled
Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients withute exacerbated schizophrenia, with approxim&@0 to 400 patients per trial. We expect
that these trials would include a four-week towiek treatment duration. Subject to our discussidgtisthe FDA, our finalization of the
protocols for the Phase 3 clinical trials and tiynehroliment, we anticipate that the results oéhPhase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients
with acute exacerbated schizophrenia could beahlailas soon as the fourth quarter of 2015. Intiathdio our Phase 3 clinical trials, we will
need to complete other clinical and non-clinicell$rand manufacturing and pre-commercializatidiviies necessary to support the
submission of a planned New Drug Application, orABor ITI-007 in patients with acute exacerbatetigophrenia, which we currently
expect could occur at the end of 2016 or the béginof 2017.
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We are also pursuing clinical development of ITIFG6r the treatment of additional CNS diseasesdisarders. At the lowest doses, ITI-
007 has been demonstrated to act primarily asenpbtHT2A serotonin receptor antagonist. As thgeds increased, additional benefits are
derived from the engagement of additional drugdesgncluding modest dopamine receptor modulatiwthmodest inhibition of serotonin
transporters. We believe that combined interactairibese receptors may provide additional benefits’e and beyond selective 5-HT2A
antagonism for treating agitation, aggression d@elsdisturbances in diseases that include demexitheimer’s disease and autism spectrum
disorders, while avoiding many of the side effetsociated with more robust dopamine receptor antsigp. As the dose of ITI-007 is further
increased, leading to moderate dopamine receptdulation, inhibition of serotonin transporters, andirect glutamate modulation, these
actions complement the complete blockade of 5-H¥&/tonin receptors. At a dose of 60 mg, ITI-003 been shown effective in treating the
symptoms associated with schizophrenia, and we\rethis higher dose range will be useful for tieatment of bipolar disorder, major
depressive disorder and other neuropsychiatriadee

In March 2014, we announced the initiation of ITI76200, a Phase 1/2 clinical trial designed to wata the safety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007 in healtjgyiatric subjects and in patients with demerieluding Alzheimer’s disease. The
commencement of this study marks an important teitesin our strategy to develop low doses of ITF-80r the treatment of behavioral
disturbances associated with dementia and relasedders. We expect that initial data from thel tidl be available in the second half of 20

Given the potential utility for ITI-007 and follown compounds to treat these additional indicatiamsinay investigate, either on our
own or with a partner, agitation, aggression apdsidisturbances in additional diseases that iechutism spectrum disorders; major
depressive disorder; intermittent explosive disgrden-motor symptoms and motor complications assed with Parkinson’s disease; and
post-traumatic stress disorder. We hold exclusixe]dwide commercialization rights to ITI-007 andaanily of compounds from Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company pursuant to an exclusive fieen

We have a second major program that has yieldexdittojio of compounds that selectively inhibits thezyme phosphodiesterase 1, or
PDEL. PDEL1 helps regulate brain activity relatedagnition, memory processes and movement/cooidmatVe have licensed the lead
compound in this portfolio, ITI-214, and other casopds in this portfolio, to Takeda PharmaceuticanPany Limited, or Takeda. ITI-214 is
the first compound in its class to successfullyambe into Phase 1 clinical trials and is being e for the treatment of cognitive
impairment associated with schizophrenia, or CI&®&] other disorders. The results of our first PHasknical trial in 70 subjects in a
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled stimdiicate that ITI-214 was safe and well-toleraterbas a broad range of single oral doses.
Other compounds in the PDE1 portfolio outside thkela collaboration are being advanced for théntrerat of other indications, including
non-CNS therapeutic areas.

Our pipeline also includes pre-clinical programat tare focused on advancing drug candidates fard¢laément of cognitive dysfunction,
in both schizophrenia and Alzheimer’s disease,fandisease modification and the treatment of néegenerative disorders, including
Alzheimer’s disease.

We have assembled a management team with sigrtificdinstry experience to lead the discovery ancetbgment of our product
candidates. We complement our management teamavgithup of scientific and clinical advisors thatlirdes recognized experts in the fields
of schizophrenia and other CNS disorders, includhogel laureate, Dr. Paul Greengard, one of ouiocoiders.

We were originally incorporated in the State of &ere in August 2012 under the name “Oneida RessuZorp.” Prior to a reverse
merger that occurred on August 29, 2013, or thegeieiOneida Resources Corp. was a “shell” compagigtered under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, wittspecific business plan or purpose until it begagrajing the business of ITI, Inc., or ITI,
through the Merger transaction on August 29, 20LBwas incorporated in Delaware in May 2001 tods@rimarily on the
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development of novel drugs for the treatment ofrapsychiatric and neurologic diseases and otherdiss of the CNS. Effective upon the
Merger, a whollyewned subsidiary of the Company merged with ana lifit, and ITI continues as the operating subsidafrthe Company. A
used herein, the words the “Company,” “we,” “usitdd'our” refer to the current Delaware corporataperating the business of ITl as a
wholly-owned subsidiary, which business continueghe business of the Company.

Our corporate headquarters and laboratory areddct3960 Broadway, New York, New York, and olggaone number is (212) 923-
3344. We also have an office in Towson, Marylane Maintain a website at www.intracellulartheragiesy, to which we regularly post
copies of our press releases as well as additinfaimation about us. Our filings with the SEC wik available free of charge through the
website as soon as reasonably practicable afteg l&éctronically filed with or furnished to the SBnformation contained in our website d
not constitute a part of this report or our othkmds with the SEC.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to discover and develop novel smallaoole therapeutics for the treatment of CNS diseaserder to improve the lives of
people suffering from such ilinesses. Using our kegierstanding of intracellular signaling, we saekccomplish our goal, using our in-house
expert drug discovery and clinical development t®amtwo ways:

* we seek to have the capability to develop-finstlass medications with novel mechanisms thaetthe potential to treat CNS
diseases for which there are no previously marketads; anc

* we seek to develop drugs that either can diffeagmthemselves in competitive markets by addresspgcts of CNS disease wh
are not treated by currently marketed drugs orbeaaffective with fewer side effec

The key elements of our strategy are to:

» complete the development of ITI-007 for itsdeéadication, treatment of acute symptoms in sgbtizenia, and for additional
neuropsychiatric indications, such as bipolar d@lsorand residual symptoms in schizophre

» expand the commercial potential of ITI-007 hyastigating its usefulness in neurological arsash as behavioral disturbances in
dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease and auspectrum disorder, and in additional neuropsydiiatdications, such as sleep
disorders associated with neuropsychiatric andalegical disorders and major depressive disor

» continue to develop with our collaboration part Takeda, PDE inhibitor compounds, such as [@;2or CNS indications such as
CIAS; and

» advance earlier stage product candidates in oetipg

Our Drug Discovery Platform and Capabilities

Based on the pioneering efforts of ITI co-founded &lobel laureate, Dr. Paul Greengard, we haveldped a detailed understanding of
intracellular signaling pathways and intracelltkgets. We have used that knowledge to develograkstate of the art technology platforms,
including one called CNSProfilé . This technology monitors the phosphoprotein cleargjicited by major psychotropic drug classes and
subclasses, and generates a unique molecularwigriat drug compounds. By monitoring how the lewafl these phosphoproteins change
vivo, we identify intracellular signaling pathways thgh which several major drug classes operate. Alditigwhat we believe to be state of
the art drug discovery efforts, we have used, aag continue to use, this information as a tooldtidate our selection of preclinical candidate
molecules.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 20 curred $23.0 and $15.5 million in research dekelopment expenses,
respectively.
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Given the nature of our research and developmehbasiness activities, we do not expect that caanpk with federal, state and local
environmental laws will result in material costdhhe Company or have a significant negative eff@cour operations.

Disease and Market Overview

Our programs for small molecule therapeutics asged to address various CNS diseases that wevbedre underserved or unmet by
currently available therapies and that represegetlpotential commercial market opportunities fer Background information on the CNS
diseases and related commercial markets that magdiressed by our programs is set forth below.

Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a disabling and chronic mentaédk that is characterized by multiple symptomsduan acute phase of the disorder
that can include so-called “positive” symptoms,sas hearing voices, grandiose beliefs and sugsioEss or paranoia. These symptoms can
be accompanied by additional, harder to treat sgmpt such as social withdrawal, blunted emotioespponse and speech deficits, collectively
referred to as “negative” symptoms, difficulty centrating and disorganized thoughts, or cognitimpdirment, depression and insomnia. Suc
residual symptoms often persist even after theeggositive symptoms subside, and contribute subialigrto the social and employment
disability associated with schizophrenia. Currentipsychotic medications provide some relief fax Hymptoms associated with the acute
of the disorder, but they do not effectively trdad residual phase symptoms associated with chsahizophrenia. Currently available
medications used to treat acute schizophreniararedl in their use due to side effects that cauitle movement disorders, weight gain,
metabolic disturbances, and cardiovascular diserdedeed, the side effects associated with cuemetipsychotic medications often make st
of the residual phase symptoms, such as negatimpteyns and social function, worse. There is an ummealical need for new therapies that
have improved side effect and efficacy profiles.

According to the National Institute of Mental Hémlover 1% of the world’s population suffers froohizophrenia, and more than
3 million Americans suffer from the illness in agiven year. Worldwide sales of antipsychotic druged to treat schizophrenia and other CN:
related disorders exceeded $40 billion in 2012 s€ldrugs have been increasingly used by physitieaddress a range of disorders in add
to schizophrenia, including bipolar disorder andaeety of psychoses and related conditions inrgldmatients. Despite their commercial
success, current antipsychotic drugs have substdintitations, including inadequate efficacy amdere side effects.

The first-generation, or typical, antipsychoticattivere introduced in the late-1950s block doparmsgeptors. While typical
antipsychotics are effective against positive syonyst of schizophrenia in many patients, these doftgs induce disabling motor disturbances.
and they fail to address or worsen most of the tigyaymptoms and cognitive disturbances associatédschizophrenia.

Most schizophrenia patients in the United Statedated today with second-generation, or atyparaipsychotics, which induce fewer
motor disturbances than typical antipsychotics,dhilltfail to address most of the negative sympgarhschizophrenia and other symptoms
associated with social function impairment. Mantigrets with schizophrenia have deficits in socialdtion. Social function is the ability to
recognize, understand, process and use externat@selve problems, maintain work performance, @mtiuct interpersonal relationships.
Deficits in social function often remain after pog symptoms, such as hallucinations and delusios@ee resolved in these patients. In
addition, currently prescribed treatments do nf#atively address or may exacerbate cognitive distuces associated with schizophrenia. It i
believed that the efficacy of atypical antipsycbstis due to their interactions with dopamine afdlT2A receptors. The side effects inducet
the atypical agents may include weight gain, nauin dependent (type 1) diabetes, cardiovascsilte effects, sleep disturbances, and moto
disturbances. We believe that these side effectsrg8ly arise either from non-essential recepttaractions or from excessive dopamine
blockade.
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The limitations of currently available antipsyclustresult in poor patient compliance. A landmaddgtfunded by the National Institute
of Mental Health, the Clinical Antipsychotic Triat$ Intervention Effectiveness, also referred t&CaSTIE, which was published in The New
England Journal of Medicine in September 2005, dotimat 74% of patients taking typical or atypicatipsychotics discontinued treatment
within 18 months because of side effects or lac&ffifacy. We believe there is a large undersemedical need for new therapies that have
improved side effect and efficacy profiles.

Behavioral Disturbances in Dementia, Including Algimer's Disease

It has been estimated that 44.4 million people swidle were living with dementia in 2013, includiager 5.0 million patients with
Alzheimer’s disease in the United States. This nemidexpected to nearly double to 75.6 million2030 and to 135.5 million by 2050. While
the diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer’s disease atiter dementias mostly focus on the related cogniteficits, it is often the behavioral and
psychiatric symptoms that are most troublesomedoegivers and lead to poor quality of life foripats. Several behavioral symptoms are
quite prevalent in patients with dementia, inclgdpatients with Alzheimer’s disease. Rates of degiom in Alzheimer’s disease are estimated
to be up to 87%, although most estimates are bet&@& and 50%. Agitation and aggression are préseqproximately 60% of patients.
Sleep disturbances, particularly as an increagetiibod of day-night reversal, are present inawpgproximately 60% of patients. In view of
the potential multiple effects of ITI-007 on aggies, agitation, sleep disorders and depressiahjtarsafety profile to date, we believe that
ITI-007 may provide a novel therapy for treating tiehavioral disturbances accompanying dementilyding Alzheimer’s disease.

The FDA has not approved any drug to treat theiehal symptoms of dementia, including Alzheimetlisease. As symptoms progress
and become more severe, physicians often resoff-tabel use of antipsychotic medications in thpaients. Current antipsychotic drugs are
associated with a number of side effects, whichbmaproblematic for elderly patients with demenitisaddition, antipsychotic drugs may
exacerbate the cognitive disturbances associatixddementia. We believe there is a large unmet caédieed for a safe and effective therapy
to treat the behavioral symptoms in patients wémdntia, including Alzheimer’s disease.

Bipolar Disorder

Bipolar disorder, commonly referred to as manicrdegpive iliness, is characterized by extreme shiftaood. Individuals with bipolar
disorder may experience intense feelings of overtement, irritability, and impulsivity with grandse beliefs and racing thoughts, referred to
as a manic episode. Symptoms of depression maydedeeling tired, hopeless and sad, with difficalbncentrating and thoughts of suicide.
Some people experience both types of symptomsisdame “mixed” episode. Severe symptoms of bipgtitaorder can be associated with
hallucinations or delusions, otherwise referredg@sychosis.

Bipolar disorder affects 4.4% of the adult Unitadt8s population, or approximately 13 million adpitith a worldwide prevalence of
2.4%. In 2012, therapeutics used to treat bipakarder had global sales of approximately $6 hillio

Bipolar disorder is often treated with antipsychatiedications alone or in combination with mood#izers. The side effects and safety
risks associated with antipsychotic drugs in pasievith bipolar disorder are similar to those eigreced by patients with schizophrenia.
Moreover, a large national research program coreduftom 1998 to 2005 called the Systematic Treatfeahancement Program for Bipolar
Disorder, or STEP-BD, followed 4,360 patients witholar disorder long term and showed that abolitdigatients who were treated for
bipolar disorder still experienced lingering andueent symptoms, indicating a clear need for imptbtreatments.
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Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer’s disease is a progressive neurodegeanerdisorder that slowly destroys memory and thigkskills, and eventually even the
ability to carry out simple tasks. Its symptomdiiie cognitive dysfunction, memory abnormalitiemgressive impairment in activities of
daily living, and a host of behavioral and neuratsgtric symptoms. Alzheimer’s disease primarilieafs older people and, in most cases,
symptoms first appear after age 60. Alzheimer'sake gets worse over time and is fatal.

The market for Alzheimer’s disease therapeuticategorized into two segments: acetylcholinestardsbitors and NMDA receptor
antagonists, which include Aricept Namend® , Exelon® and Ebixa® . Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, which account46% of the total
worldwide market, had total sales of $4.1 billior2011. In 2012, global sales of CNS therapeuticsiémentia and Alzheimer’s disease
reached $8 billion.

According to the Alzheimer's Association, 5.2 nati people in the United States are living with Airher’s disease, and it is currently
the fifth leading cause of death for people agartd older. It has been estimated that 44.4 milieople worldwide were living with dementia
in 2013. This number is expected to nearly doublgs.7 million by 2030 and to 115.4 million by 20%8hile the diagnostic criteria for
Alzheimer’s disease mostly focus on the relatechtag deficits, it is often the behavioral and pkiatric symptoms that are most troublesome
for caregivers and lead to poor quality of life ftients. These symptoms include agitation, agore®ehaviors, depression, sleep disorders,
and psychosis. Studies have suggested that apmatetin60% of patients with Alzheimer’s disease eigee agitation/aggression, up to 87%
of patients experience depression, approximately 60patients experience sleep disturbances, péatlg as an increased likelihood of day-
night reversal, and approximately 20% to 51% ofh&imer’s disease patients may develop psychosismaé point in the disease process,
commonly consisting of hallucinations and delusidifse diagnosis of Alzheimer’s disease psychoséssociated with more rapid cognitive
and functional decline and institutionalizatione& disturbances increase the likelihood of datmigversion, increased agitation and
increased caregiver stress that strongly influedeessions for nursing home placement.

The FDA has not approved any drug to treat the aehal symptoms of Alzheimer’s disease. As sympt@rmagress and become more
severe, physicians often resort to off-label usantipsychotic medications in these patients. Guraatipsychotic drugs are associated with a
number of side effects, which can be problematiefderly patients with Alzheimer’s disease. Iniéidd, antipsychotic drugs may exacerbate
the cognitive disturbances associated with Alzheimdisease. Current antipsychotic drugs also hdgxed warning for use in elderly patie
with dementiarelated psychosis due to increased mortality anidity. There is a large unmet medical need feafe and effective therapy
treat the behavioral symptoms in patients with &iner’'s disease.

Parkinsor’'s Disease

Parkinson’s disease is a chronic and progressivedegenerative disorder that involves malfunctiod death of neurons in a region of
the brain that controls movement. This neurodegsiter creates a shortage of an important brainasiiggy chemical, or neurotransmitter,
known as dopamine, thereby rendering patients ertahilirect or control their movements in a normahner. Parkinson’s disease is
characterized by well-known motor symptoms, inahgdiremors, limb stiffness, slowness of movemaeants, difficulties with posture and
balance, as well as by non-motor symptoms, whicluite sleep disturbances, mood disorders, cogriitipairment and psychosis. Parkinson’
disease progresses slowly in most people and tleiseof symptoms tends to worsen over time.

Parkinson’s disease is the second most common degeoerative disorder after Alzheimer’s diseaseofding to the National
Parkinson Foundation, about 1 million people inltheted States and from approximately 4 to 6 millgeople worldwide suffer from this
disease. Parkinson’s disease is more common inlgewpr 60 years of age, and the prevalence offibease is expected to increase
significantly as the average



Table of Contents

age of the population increases. Parkinson’s déspaients are commonly treated with dopamine oepteent therapies, such as levodopa,
commonly referred to as L-DOPA, which is metabdlite dopamine, and dopamine agonists, which arecuotds that mimic the action of
dopamine. Sales of therapeutics such as L-DOPAdapdmine agonists used to treat the motor sympudrie disease reached $2.5 billion in
2012.

Non-motor symptoms can be particularly distressing even more troublesome to patients with Parkissdisease than the primary
motor disturbances. Non-motor symptoms substaptiaihtribute to the burden of Parkinson’s diseambdeeply affect the quality of life of
patients and their caregivers. Non-motor symptohtzaskinson’s disease are associated with increeasedjiver stress and burden, nursing
home placement, and increased morbidity and mtytali

Treatment of non-motor symptoms associated witkiRson's disease poses a challenge to physiciamse@ dopamine replacement
drugs used to treat the motor symptoms of Parkisstisease do not help, and sometimes worsen,ahenotor symptoms. No drugs are
currently approved by the FDA for treating the lsro®n-motor symptoms associated with Parkinsorssatie, and this remains a large unmet
medical need.

Depressior

Major depressive disorder, or MDD, is a brain disrthat can be associated with symptoms of sadhepslessness, helplessness,
feelings of guilt, irritability, loss of interest iformerly pleasurable activities, cognitive impaént, disturbed sleep patterns, and suicide ida
or behavior. Different people may experience dédfgrsymptoms, but everyone with major depressi@eggnces symptoms that are severe
enough to interfere with everyday functioning, sastthe ability to concentrate at work or schootja interactions, eating and sleeping.
Sometimes the depressive episode can be so seieeecompanied by psychosis (hallucinations aidsions). According to the National
Institute of Mental Health, approximately 3% ofrtagers and approximately 7% of adults experiencéMBch year. Worldwide sales of
antidepressant drugs reached $11.9 billion in 2Th&. antidepressant market is primarily composesktective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
such as Lexapr8 (marketed by Forest Laboratories and Lundbeck)safettive norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, oR8)\ such as
Cymbalta® (marketed by Eli Lilly). Antipsychotics such as 8euel® (marketed by Astrazeneca) and Abilffiffmarketed jointly by Bristol-
Myers Squibb and Otsuka Pharmaceutical) are alsd as adjunctive treatments with antidepressaatntrent. The National Institute of Men
Health-funded Sequenced Treatment AlternativeselteiRe Depression, or STAR*D, study showed thay ame-third of treated patients
experience complete remission of depressive symgptdiearly two-thirds of patients were considereatiment-resistant.
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Our Clinical Programs

Our pipeline includes two product candidates inichl development and two product candidates iraaded pre-clinical testing. We
believe that our product candidates offer innoweatherapeutic approaches and may provide signifadvantages relative to current therapies
The following table summarizes our product candidatnd programs:

ITI Therapeutic Pipeline
I o o

M-007 Program
& Schipoohrenia
* Bogvar Disor dier

* Sleep Mainterance Insammia & Seep Disturbances associated wiih Newmlogic &
Papchiatric Disarders

# Bohaviora! Dsturbanoes associated weth Dementia, including Akbeimer's dizeme
o=

& Slopp & Bohaviorad Dishurbences assaciated witn Autism Spactram Diserdor *
* Oegrassan and sther Mood Ddsardess, inchid ng MI'..II'.I_ FTED, |r.n .

ITH-002 (PDEL] Program

3 IT-214 Partnered with Takeda
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ITI-007 Program

Our lead product candidate, ITI-007, possesses amsms of action that we believe have the potetdigleld a first-in-class
antipsychotic therapy. In our pre-clinical and idal trials to date, ITI-007 combines potent seniaitdb-HT2A receptor antagonism, dopamine
receptor phosphoprotein modulation, or DPPM, glat@mgic modulation and serotonin reuptake inhihifitto a single drug candidate for the
treatment of acute and residual schizophrenia.offchine D2 receptors, ITI-007 has been demonsttatedve dual properties and to act as
both a post-synaptic antagonist and a pre-syngaptital agonist. ITI-007 has also been demonstrmtetimulate phosphorylation of
glutamatergic NMDA NR2B, or GIuN2B, receptors imasolimbic specific manner. We believe that thggaral selectivity in brain areas
thought to mediate the efficacy of antipsychotiegd, together with serotonergic, glutamatergic, @oghminergic interactions, may result in
antipsychotic efficacy for positive, negative, affge and cognitive symptoms associated with sgitizenia. The serotonin reuptake inhibition
could allow for antidepressant activity for theatiraent of schizoaffective disorder, co-morbid depi@en, and/or as a stand-alone treatment fo
major depressive disorder. We believe ITI-007 may e useful for the treatment of bipolar disoraled other psychiatric and
neurodegenerative disorders, particularly behalvidisturbances associated with dementia, autisnmoéimet CNS diseases.
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We believe these features of ITI-007 may be ablenfrove the quality of life of patients with schjghrenia and enhance social function
to allow them to integrate more fully into theinfdies and their workplaces. In addition, ITI-00Ayrbe shown to treat disorders at either low-
doses €.g.,sleep, aggression and agitation) or high-doseg.( acute exacerbated and residual schizophrenialanidisorders, and mood
disorders).

Phase 1 studies to support multiple clinical indicas

We have conducted a series of Phase 1 safety stofli€l-007 in Europe and the United States duthgperiod from 2007 to 2011. All
of the studies conducted to date in the UnitedeSthive been conducted under an Investigationalteg, or IND, filed in 2007 by ITI. Data
from these studies are being used to support thieal development of ITI-007 in multiple indicatis, including acute exacerbated
schizophrenia, sleep disorders in neuropsychiatritneurodegenerative disease, major depressivaldis, bipolar disorders, behavioral
disturbances in dementia and Alzheimer’s diseagésra, posttraumatic stress disorder, or PTSD,imtedmittent explosive disorder, or IED.
We have completed the following three Phase Istitahealthy volunteers:

* A Phase 1, double-blind placebo controlledglsirascending dose study in 40 healthy volunteeEurope in 2007. ITI-007 was
generally well tolerated at all doses. Most advensants, or AEs, were mild to moderate and alltineat related AEs resolved. The

most frequent AE was headac

* A Phase 1, placebo controlled multiple ascemdiose study in 25 healthy volunteers in Europsf2®07 to 2008. ITI-007 was
generally well tolerated at all doses. Most AEseveild to moderate and all treatment related AEslved.

* A Phase 1, open-label positron emission tonmagraor PET, study to demonstrate receptor occupaadety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics after single oral dose adminisinatf ITI-007 in 16 healthy male volunteers. Thiady was conducted in the
United States from 2007 to 2009. ITI-007 was walktated, all AEs were of mild or moderate intgnaind all treatment related
AEs resolved. Dose related increases in receptarpancy at dopamine D2 receptors in the striatune \demonstrated after ITI-
007 administration. Brain occupancy at 5-HT2A aecdbtonin reuptake transporters also was demondtedter singles doses of
ITI-007.

We continued Phase 1 development of ITI-007 inguéisi with schizophrenia in order to advance ITI-00this target therapeutic
indication. Specifically, we conducted the followiadditional studies:

A Phaselb/2, placebo controlled multiple asoendose study in 45 patients with stable schizeptarin the United States during
2009 to 2010. ITI-007 was generally well toleragdcll doses. All AEs were mild to moderate andrathitment related AEs
resolved. The overall percentage of patients regptteatment related AEs was similar for thosated with 1TI-007 (83.3% to
100%, across dose groups) and placebo (72.7%)mBferity of the treatment related AEs that occumethe commencement of
the study decreased in terms of frequency andi@rite with repeated administration. We observephsiconsistent with clinical
efficacy in stable patients with schizophreniahis study.

* A Phase 1, randomized study to determine tleeability, safety and pharmacokinetics of I007 using different dosing regimens
11 patients with schizophrenia. This study was ceotet in the United States in 2011. In this stway showed that administration
of ITI-007 in a capsule dosage form taken with foeduced the incidence of treatment related AEsadirtdeatment related AEs
resolved. The most commonly reported treatmenta@lAE in this study was somnolence, commonly knawmrowsines:

ITI-007 for the treatment of exacerbated and realdichizophrenia

In multiple clinical trials of ITI-007 in patientsith schizophrenia, the drug candidate has dematestrclinical signals consistent with
reductions in psychosis, depression and insomraduBtions in psychosis are consistent with theriatieto treat acute schizophrenia, wherea:
reductions in depression and insomnia are
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consistent with the potential to treat residualgghschizophrenia. ITI-007 has been shown to beasafevell-tolerated across a wide range of
doses in these studies. Further, at doses thatdemenstrated clinical activity, ITI-007 has caugader adverse effects than those typically
associated with antipsychotic drug treatment, sscimpaired motor function. These adverse sidetsfigan be a major cause of patient
noncompliance with current antipsychotic therapied can lead to poorer social function.

Phase 2 Clinical Trial (ITDO7-005)

ITI-007 exhibited antipsychotic efficacy in ITI-08005, a randomized, double-blind, placebo and aatontrolled Phase 2 clinical trial in
patients with an acutely exacerbated episode dfgghrenia. In December 2013, we announced the&alinesults from this Phase 2 trial. In
this Phase 2 trial, 335 patients were randomizeddeive one of four treatments: 60 mg of ITI-00Z0 mg of ITI-007, 4 mg of risperidone
(active control) or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio.i®ats received study treatment orally once dailtheamorning for 28 days. Of those
randomized, 311 patients were included in the trtetreat primary analysis. Subject participation ldsipproximately 7 to 8 weeks, includ
a one week screening period, a four week treatmemdd followed by stabilization on standard ofesaand a safety follow up visit
approximately two weeks after stabilization. Thienary endpoint for this clinical trial was changerh baseline to Day 28 on the PANSS tota
score. The PANSS is a well-validated 30-item ratingle that measures the ability of a drug to redetizophrenia symptom severity. The
PANSS measures positive symptoms, such as delysiosgiciousness, and hallucinations; negative symg such as blunted affect, social
and emotional withdrawal, and stereotyped thinkanyj general psychopathology, such as anxietyioiendepression, and active social
avoidance.

Secondary endpoints in this trial included weeldgessments of the PANSS total score as well aslitscales (Positive Symptom
Subscale, Negative Symptom Subscale, and Genegrethéizathology Subscale) and the Negative SymptartoFfased on a subset of
PANSS questions), individual item response on thR®S, and the Calgary Depression Scale for Schizmph. Safety and tolerability were
also assessed.

In December 2013, we announced that topline refolts the ITI-007-005 study indicated that ITI-OBi&t the trial’'s pre-specified
primary endpoint, improving symptoms associatedh withizophrenia as measured by a statisticallyifsignt and clinically meaningful
decrease in the PANSS total score. The trial alsbkay secondary outcome measures related to @ffma PANSS subscales and safety.

Many patients with schizophrenia have deficitsanial function. Social function is the ability teaognize, understand, process and use
external cues to solve problems, maintain workgrerhnce and conduct interpersonal relationshipficiBein social function often remain
after positive symptoms, such as hallucinationsdeidsions, have resolved in these patients. IiPtiase 2 trial, ITI-007 exhibited a
differentiating response profile across a broadjeasf symptoms that we believe is consistent withrovements in these social functioning
deficits. The study also showed that ITI-007 wadi-tederated at the tested doses. ITI-007 demotestra favorable safety profile in the study
without characteristic antipsychotic drug side effeor any serious adverse events.

ITI-007 at a dose of 60 mg demonstrated a stadisfisignificant improvement in psychosis (p = 0/pbn the trial’'s pre-specified
primary endpoint, which was change from baselinéhenPANSS total score, compared to placebo. Timegpy statistical analysis was pre-
specified and used a Mixed-Effect Model Repeateddviee method for handling missing data in the iatestreat, or ITT, study population
and a Bonferroni procedure to correct for multigphe-sided comparisons (each dose of ITI-007 congptnglacebo). The trial’s pre-specified
sensitivity analysis on the primary endpoint udegldnalysis of covariance, or ANCOVA, model and ¢tdsservation carried forward, or LOC
method for handling missing data for the ITT pofiolaand confirmed the positive outcome with stat#ly significant improvements
compared to placebo in patients receiving the 6@owg of ITI-007 (p = 0.011). ITI-007 at a dosé6fmg also significantly improved the
positive symptom subscale (p < 0.05) and the gépsyehopathology subscale (p < 0.05) on the PARES 28 days of treatment using the
ANCOVA-LOCF on the ITT population.
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The improvement in the PANSS total score in the h20dose group did not reach statistical signifieatWwe believe that it is possible
that sedation, the most frequent side effect inl2@mg dose group, interfered with the abilityé&gect an efficacy signal at this dose
administered once daily in the morning. ApproxinhaB?2.5% of subjects randomized to 120 mg of ITF@Xperienced sedation/somnolence,
compared to 21% of subjects randomized to rispagada7% of subjects randomized to 60 mg of ITI-GW] 13% randomized to placebo. We
believe that nighttime administration may be magoprapriate for testing the effectiveness of the addose of ITI-007 in this patient
population. In the trial, the 60 mg dose of ITI-00&s effective when administered once daily inrtteening.

Consistent with preliminary indications from theégrnm analysis and with the drug’s pharmacologprafile, ITI-007 at a dose of 60 mg
significantly improved certain items on the negatbtymptom and general psychopathology subscalesstant with improved social function.
The study was statistically powered only on thenairly endpoint. ITI-007 did significantly improve masecondary endpoints, although the
study was not designed for significance on seconeadpoints and was not powered to detect staldifferences in subgroup analyses.
Additional secondary endpoints, including deprassomntinue to be analyzed, and we expect thatwliithe presented at upcoming scientific
conferences.

A high percentage (74%) of randomized subjects detag trial participation. Only 19% of subjectsatiatinued from study treatment
during the 28 day study treatment period, and aitiadal 7% of subjects completed study treatmentviere lost to follow up.

In the Phase 2 trial, ITI-007 was well-toleratetieTmost frequent adverse event was sedation, asliEbabove. There were no serious
adverse events related to ITI-007. There were imically meaningful changes in safety measures WitkD07. Notably, ITI-007 demonstrated
a favorable metabolic profile with no increase laiddl levels of glucose, insulin, cholesterol ogliycerides over a four week treatment period.
Moreover, in contrast to risperidone, 60 mg of 007 was effective with no difference from placeloweight change parameters, prolactin
levels, extrapyramidal symptoms (EPS) or akathI3in007 was not associated with EPS as measur@dé@impson-Angus Scale, Barnes
Akathisia Rating Scale, or Abnormal Involuntary Maovent Scale. There was no increase in suicidatiadear behavior with ITI-007.

Proposed Phase 3 Clinical Trials and RegulatorgsPla

Subject to discussions with the FDA, we intendnitiate Phase 3 clinical trials and additional sanipg trials in patients with acute
exacerbated schizophrenia in the second half of 20 plan to initiate separate additional trialbipolar disorder in 2015. We expect that the
planned trials in bipolar disorder will overlaptime with the clinical conduct of the planned tsi&h schizophrenia. We have not yet discussec
our plans to develop ITI-007 for the treatment ipidtar disorder with the FDA. With the recent coetn of the ITI-007-005 Phase 2 clinical
trial in schizophrenia, in the second quarter di2®e plan to request a meeting with the FDA teuss the existing ITI-007 safety and
efficacy data and our future clinical developmelang for ITI-007, including our plans to conducpagate, but overlapping, well-controlled
clinical trials in schizophrenia and bipolar diserdThe Phase 3 clinical trial design for K07 in schizophrenia will be the primary focus lod
first meeting. Additional meetings may be requeststheeded, to discuss in greater detail our tartsipolar disorder, and other elements of
our regulatory strategy, including additional theratic indications, as the program progresses. Wkeatly anticipate conducting two placebo-
controlled Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 intigats with acute exacerbated schizophrenia, wafiraimately 300 to 400 patients per trial.
We expect that these trials would include a fouekvi® six-week treatment duration to support theary antipsychotic efficacy endpoint as
well as a longer treatment duration extension plassafety. Subject to our discussions with theAl-Bur finalization of the protocols for the
Phase 3 clinical trials and timely enrollment, wéicpate that the results of these Phase 3 clitiieds of ITI-007 in patients with acute
exacerbated schizophrenia could be available as a®the fourth quarter of 2015. However, the FDdymot agree with our clinical
development plans for advancing ITI-007, includmg plans to conduct separate, but overlappingd;eegitrolled clinical trials in
schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. In additiooto Phase 3
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clinical trials, we will need to complete othemitial and non-clinical trials and manufacturing gmelcommercialization activities necessar
support the submission of a planned NDA for ITI-00patients with acute exacerbated schizophrevtiecch we currently expect could occur
at the end of 2016 or the beginning of 2017. Owiadl plans may change based on any discussiathstiaé FDA, the relative success and cos
of our research, preclinical and clinical developi@ograms, whether we are able to enter intaréutollaborations, and any unforeseen
delays or cash needs. If the FDA does not agrdeauit clinical development plans for ITI-007, owvelopment of ITI-007 may be delayed
and the costs of our development of ITI-007 conlttéase, which would have a material adverse effectur business, financial condition and
results of operations.

ITI-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbas@ssociated with dementia, including Alzheimeisgase

Behavioral disturbances are common in dementiafdriteimer’s disease. These disturbances are a roajoponent of the burden to
caregivers, and often lead to institutionalizatidithough currently available treatments for patsewith dementia mainly address cognitive
disturbances, behavioral disturbances are conityenzore problematic and likely more amenable tagdreatment. Several behavioral
symptoms are quite prevalent in patients with deragimcluding patients with Alzheimex'disease. In March 2014, we announced the iriti
of ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinical trial desigrieavaluate the safety, tolerability and pharmauetics of low doses of ITI-007 in healthy
geriatric subjects and in patients with dementialuding Alzheimer's disease. The commencemertisfstudy marks an important milestone
in our strategy to develop low doses of ITI-007 thee treatment of behavioral disturbances assatiatitn dementia and related disorders. We
plan to conduct the ITI-007-200 trial in two pafart 1 is a randomized, double-blind, placebatrolled multiple ascending dose evaluatio
ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjects. In each adhio Part 1, we anticipate that 10 subjects wéllrandomized to receive ITI-007 (N=8) or
placebo (N=2) for seven days. In Part 2, we ardigighat twelve patients with dementia will be ramized to receive ITI-007 (N=9) or
placebo (N=3) for seven days. The number of colinrémch part may be adjusted based on resultstyS#&dlerability and pharmacokinetic
data will be determined. Exploratory pharmacodyraenidpoints will be included to assess feasibiftyneasuring agitation, sedation, sleep
and cognition in potential future trials. We exp#t initial data from the trial will be availabie the second half of 2014.

ITI-007 for the treatment of bipolar disorder

The pharmacological profile of ITI-007 offers thetential to treat bipolar mania, depression, anxeshsymptoms at doses similar to
those targeted for the treatment of schizophréfiabelieve that ITBO7 may be effective alone or in combination withaa stabilizers. Give
that many patients with bipolar disorder also eigrere disturbed sleep and cognitive impairmentlainto that observed in schizophrenia, we
believe that ITI-007 may treat a wide array of syomps in patients with bipolar disorder, includimgprovement of cognition and sleep. We
expect that data from our completed Phase 1 stadiéslata from our Phase 2 trial in acute exacedtsthizophrenia will be used to advance
ITI-007 directly into well-controlled clinical trla for the treatment of bipolar disorder. Basedtmnsuccessful completion of our Phase 2 trial
in acute exacerbated schizophrenia, subject taisissons with the FDA, we intend to initiate Phas#itiical trials and additional supporting
trials in patients with acute exacerbated schizepiarin the second half of 2014 and plan to iréte¢parate additional trials in bipolar disorder
in 2015. We expect that the planned trials in pdlisorder will overlap in time with the clinicabnduct of the planned trials in schizophrenia
We have not yet discussed our plans to develof®0Vlfor the treatment of bipolar disorder with B2A. With the recent completion of the
ITI-007-005 Phase 2 clinical trial in schizophrerifathe second quarter of 2014 we plan to reqa@seeting with the FDA to discuss the
existing ITI-007 safety and efficacy data and auufe clinical development plans for ITI-007, inding our plans to conduct separate, but
overlapping, well-controlled clinical trials in dzbphrenia and bipolar disorder. The Phase 3 dirital design for ITI-007 in schizophrenia
will be the primary focus of the first meeting. Atlohal meetings may be requested, as neededstosh in greater detail our plans for bipolar
disorder, and other elements of our regulatorytesysg including additional therapeutic indicatioas,the program progresses.
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The FDA may not agree with our clinical developmelains to advance ITI-007 for the treatment of aopihrenia and bipolar disorder
with separate, but overlapping, well-controllechial trials in both indications. Our clinical pgamay change based on any discussions with
the FDA. If the FDA does not agree with our clinidavelopment plans for ITI-007, our developmentTdf007 may be delayed and the costs
of our development of ITI-007 would increase, whiahy have an adverse effect on our business, fimacandition and results of operations.

ITI-007 for the treatment of sleep disturbancesaiged with neurologic and psychiatric disorders

In A Phase 2 double-blind, placebo controlled citmasr clinical trial conducted in 19 patients awldoses was completed in 2008 and
conducted in Europe. The primary outcome measusesieay wave sleep as determined by polysomnogrdph07 demonstrated a dose-
related statistically significant increase in sleave sleep. Secondary measures were consistenimytibovement of sleep maintenance in
patients with primary insomnia, indicated by desezhwaking after sleep onset, increased total $ieep and no increase in latency to sleep
onset. At these low doses ITI-007 did not indueeg)| but rather helped maintain sleep once slegpéen initiated. In addition, ITI-007 was
not associated with next day cognitive impairmenthang-over” effects. We believe that 1007 may be particularly useful in the treatmer
sleep disorders that accompany neuropsychiatrimandblogic disorders, including schizophreniajssmtspectrum disorder, or ASD,
Parkinson’s disease and dementia. Previous workinggested that selective 5-HT2A receptor antatpimsrease deep, slow wave sleep in
both humans and animals. We believe, however atiherr neuropharmacological mechanisms, in addidd®HT2A receptor antagonism, su
as engaging some dopamine modulation, may be logidtr the successful treatment of sleep maimeaansomnia, or SMI, in humans. We
believe that ITI-007 represents a new approachddreatment of sleep maintenance insomnia beadutseunique pharmacology and
neuropharmacological interactions beyond sele&##T2A receptor antagonism. We believe that ITI-@8f&rs a potentially new approach to
the treatment of sleep maintenance disorderscpéatly in those disorders that accompany neurdgagic and neurologic disorders. Many of
these disorders are accompanied by profound skefegitd, which impair daytime functioning includirmpgnition, exacerbate disease sympt
and increase the cost of care. We are presentlgrxg clinical designs to incorporate the examiorabf sleep disturbances in one or more of
these indications. There is no assurance thatwaty design would be sufficient for an FDA apprdiealthis indication.

ITI-007 for the treatment of sleep and behavioliatutbances associated with autism spectrum disorde

Sleep problems are common in patients with ASDamechot adequately treated by currently availafitierventions. Approximately two
thirds of children and adolescents with ASD experéesleep problems, higher than the rate of slesgigms in age-matched developmentally
typical children. Moreover, individuals with ASDf$er from behavioral disturbances, including aggres, irritability, anxiety and depression.
With its multiple pathway mechanism of action, wiéve that ITI-007 could address the multi-facdtetavioral symptoms associated with
ASD. 5-HT2A receptor antagonism is predicted taéase slow wave sleep, improve sleep maintenarttesginice aggression. D2 receptor
modulation is predicted to improve sleep mainteraartd reduce irritability and aggression. Serotoauptake inhibition is predicted to reduce
anxiety and depression. Accordingly, we believe t&007 could improve sleep maintenance, redustealioral disturbances and enhance
social interaction in patients with ASD. We belighat our completed Phase 1 studies support advghi€i-007 into Phase 2 trials in this
patient population, and we are presently explotirggfeasibility of such trials.

ITI-007 for the treatment of depression and otheothdisorders

As a potent 5-HT2A receptor antagonist and seratoguptake inhibitor, we believe that ITI-007 couttbrove symptoms of depression
with fewer side effects than selective serotonirptake inhibitors, or SSRIs. Dopamine modulationy007 may reduce irritability and
aggression that can accompany many mood disomigisuch, ITI-007 may be effective for the treatmefntnood disorders including MDD,
PTSD, and IED. We are presently exploring the fakisi of clinical studies in these indications.
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ITI-002 (PDE1) Program

We have a second major program, called our ITI{@@@ram that has generated a portfolio of compotnmaishave demonstrated the
ability to modulate CNS pathways that are crittoatontrolling cognition and motor behavior througk inhibition of an important
intracellular enzyme, PDE1. In March 2011, we eedéanto a license and collaboration agreement Watkeda to develop and commercialize
selected PDEL inhibitors in our ITI-002 program tiee treatment of CIAS and other disorders, inclgdParkinson’s disease, cognitive
impairment in Alzheimer’s disease, and AttentiorfiEieHyperactivity Disorder. Cognitive deficits abelieved to underlie much of the
significant functional impairments observed in pats with schizophrenia. One of these portfolio poonds, ITI-214, has advanced into Phas
1 clinical studies. In the first quarter of 2013 announced the completion by Takeda of a singlerming dose Phase 1 study in 70 healthy
volunteers in the United States under an IND fiigdrakeda in 2012. Takeda will be solely respomrsibt development, manufacturing and
commercialization of PDE1 inhibitors. The resultshos randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlRithse 1 study indicated that 1714 wa:
safe and well-tolerated across a broad range gfesoral doses. Moreover, the study demonstrafasaable pharmacokinetic profile of ITI-
214 consistent with once-a-day dosing. We beliba¢ this study represents a significant milestantha first use of a potent and highly
specific PDE1 inhibitor in humans. We have workkxsely with Takeda since 2011 to advance ITI-214 oiinical development and to
optimize select backup/follow-on compounds for tiraother CNS diseases, including Parkinson’satiegcognitive impairment in
Alzheimer’s disease and attention deficit and hgptvity disorders. We believe that inhibition dDB1 may also be beneficial in a number of
therapeutic indications outside of CNS diseases) ag pulmonary arterial hypertension, heart fajlanuscular dystrophy and inflammatory
disease. We are pursuing additional ITI-002 PDHibitor compounds outside the scope of the Taketlaloration for the treatment of
cardiovascular and other disorders.

Additional PDE Programs

There are multiple forms and isoforms of PDE wiistidct roles in intracellular signaling. We haveveéloped strong internal expertise in
the design and synthesis of inhibitors specificifalividual PDE isoforms. Based on our understagdaifithe expression and functions of these
isoforms in the CNS, we have identified PDE2 andPRs compelling targets for drug discovery. Weelvel that inhibitors of these PDEs
may be useful in treating neurodegeneration andr@metic failure in a variety of CNS diseases.

Alzheimers disease—ITI-012 (Casein Kinase 1 Inhibitors) ati@l-009 (gSAP Inhibitors)

We are pursuing early stage drug discovery progtangeting two different pathways thought to beoiwed in the pathogenesis of
Alzheimer’s disease. The first program targetsaiheyme casein kinase 1, or CK1, the misregulatfamhich in Alzheimer’'s disease may
provoke misfolding of a neuronal protein, tau, whitas been linked to cellular loss in the brainpaifents with Alzheimer’s disease. We are
currently optimizing our CK1 inhibitors in anticifian of advancing them into preclinical developméiie have a second program targeting
protein Gamma Secretase Activating Protein, or gSA® have demonstrated in preclinical models thiaibiting gSAP lowers the level of a
toxic protein located in the brain called AbetaieBtists in the field of dementia and Alzheimerisase believe that inhibiting the
accumulation of Abeta may slow the onset of Alzhaimdisease. The discovery of gSAP was made byjnl€bllaboration with Dr. Paul
Greengard, Nobel laureate and ITI co-founder. Tieelmical characterization of this class of molesus ongoing. We believe that these
compounds have the potential to provide novel,adisemodifying treatments for Alzheimer's disease r@hated disorders.

Intellectual Property
Our Patent Portfolio

As of March 1, 2014, we owned or controlled appmuadely 60 patent families filed in the United Staded other major markets
worldwide, including approximately 31 issued opaled U.S. patents, 50 pending U.S. patent appbicatil02 issued foreign patents, and 344
pending foreign patent applications, directed teah@ompounds, formulations, methods of treatmgyithetic methods, and platform
technologies.
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Our ITI-007 program on novel compounds for neurapgtric and neurodegenerative diseases includestsaexclusively in-licensed
from Bristol-Myers Squibb on families of compoundg;luding the ITI-007 lead molecule. We have exteely characterized this lead and
filed additional patent applications on polymorplesmulations, additional indications, derivativeasd additional compounds. The ITI-007 leac
molecule has composition of matter protection tigfoA025 and additional Orange Book-listable pradacto 2034. Additionally, we expect to
have data exclusivity in the European Union fotafil years from commercial launch. We also hafalaw-on program, directed to
compounds structurally related to the ITI-007 |daat, having composition of matter protection bey@031.

Our program on PDEL1 inhibitors for cognition anghdmine-mediated disorders, such as Parkinson’askséncludes patent protection
for the lead molecule, ITI-214, as well as a widege of filings on other proprietary compounds edlications. Certain PDE1 inhibitors are
being developed under a joint development agreemightTakeda, under which we received an upfroshgaayment and are eligible to rect
payments for development and sales, as well astyqyayments. We also have an option to co-promatie Takeda in the U.S., and we retain
certain rights to PDE1 inhibitor compounds and uséside the scope of that collaboration. The IT42ad molecule has composition of
matter protection to 2029, with possible extensiamg additional Orange Bodistable protection to 2034. Additionally, we exp&x have dat:
exclusivity in the European Union for up to 11 yeftom commercial launch. We are also evaluatingmal follow-on compounds for ITI-
214 which would have patent protection beyond 2030.

We have also filed patent applications on noveppetary targets and lead compounds for Alzheimaissase, which would provide
compound protection beyond 2028 or beyond 2034enidipg on which compound is ultimately selecteddevelopment.

License Agreemer
The Bristol-Myers Squibb License Agreement

On May 31, 2005 we entered into a worldwide, exglusicense Agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Guamy, or BMS, pursuant to
which we hold a license to certain patents and khow of BMS relating to ITI-007 and other specifieeimpounds. The agreement was
amended on November 3, 2010. The licensed rigbtexslusive, except BMS retains rights in speciiechpounds in the fields of obesity,
diabetes, metabolic syndrome and cardiovasculaades However, BMS has no right to use, devela@mmmercialize ITI-007 and other
specified compounds in any field of use. We haeerifpht to grant sublicenses of the rights convaye8MS. We are obliged under the lice
to use commercially reasonable efforts to devetapa@mmercialize the licensed technology. We age pfohibited from engaging in the
clinical development or commercialization of speaifcompetitive compounds.

Under the agreement, we made an upfront payme$tt.6fmillion to BMS. Under the agreement, we maybkged to make milestone
payments to BMS for each licensed product of ugrt@ggregate of approximately $14.8 million, whietiudes a milestone payment of $1.25
million that we made during the fourth quarter 623 in connection with our recently completed PhHas#al. We are also obliged to make
tiered single digit percentage royalty paymentsales of licensed products. We are obliged to p&8MS a percentage of non-royalty
payments made in consideration of any sublicense.

The agreement extends, and royalties are payabke country-by-country and product-by-product basisough the later of ten years
after first commercial sale of a licensed producsuch country, expiration of the last licensedpttovering a licensed product, its method of
manufacture or use, or the expiration of other gowveent grants providing market exclusivity, subjectertain rights of the parties to termir
the agreement on the occurrence of certain evemtsermination of the agreement, we may be obligezbnvey to BMS rights in
developments relating to a licensed compound en$ied product, including regulatory filings, resbaesults and other intellectual property
rights.
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Collaboration Agreement
The Takeda Pharmaceutical License and Collaboratigreement

On February 25, 2011, we entered into a licensecatidboration agreement with Takeda Pharmaceu@icatpany Limited under which
we agreed to collaborate to research, develop aminercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 atiteo selected compounds that
selectively inhibit PDEL for use in the preventamd treatment of human diseases. As part of theeagent, we assigned to Takeda certain
patents owned by us that claim ITI-214 and graifigikkbda an exclusive license to develop and comalereicompounds identified in the
conduct of the research program that satisfy sigelcdriteria. However, we have retained rightslte@mpounds that do not meet the specified
criteria and we continue to develop PDEL1 inhibitousside the scope of the agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, we have condactesearch program with an initial term of threarg to identify and characterize
compounds that meet certain specified criteriaigefit for further development by Takeda. This ezsh program ended in February 2014. W
were responsible for our expenses incurred in timelact of certain research activities specifiethmresearch plan. Takeda agreed to reiml
us for expenses we incurred in conducting additieesearch activities.

Takeda is obliged to use commercially reasonalitatefto develop and commercialize licensed compsuat its expense, and has agree
to reimburse us for the costs and expenses of aievelnt activities we may perform. We formed a jsieering committee with Takeda to
coordinate and oversee activities on which we bollate under the agreement. We have the optioo-fx@mote any licensed product in the
United States by assuming responsibility for aaierpercentage of the detailing activity with resige that product.

We fulfilled our responsibility under the agreememsupply Takeda with 1TI-214 for nonclinical agties and Phase 1 clinical trials at
our expense. Takeda is responsible, at its expéarsine manufacture and supply of compounds th@gvelops and commercializes under the
agreement for all other activities.

Upon execution of the agreement, Takeda made a&homtable payment to us. We are eligible to recpasgments of approximately
$500 million in the aggregate upon achievementeofain development milestones and up to an ad@iti$250 million in the aggregate upon
achievement of certain sales-based milestonesg alith tiered royalty payments ranging from thethgingle digits to the low teens in percent
based on net sales by Takeda.

The agreement extends, on a country-by-countrypaoduct-byproduct basis, through the later of expirationhef flast licensed patent cover

a licensed product, its method of manufacture er tige expiration of other government grants priogiagnarket exclusivity or ten years after
first commercial sale of a licensed product in scotntry, subject to rights of the parties to sedaaminate the agreement on certain events
and the right of Takeda to unilaterally termindte agreement upon a specified number of days’ potice. Upon the termination of the
agreement, Takeda is obliged to assign to us ttemfsacovering ITI-214 assigned to Takeda uporettezution of the agreement, to grant us a
license to develop and commercialize licensed camgs developed by Takeda and to transfer to uainemnaterials, information and
regulatory materials reasonably necessary for gsmtinue the development and commercializatiotho$e compounds.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our product candidates,do we have plans to develop
our own manufacturing operations in the foreseehliee. We currently rely on one third-party cautr manufacturer for all of our required
raw materials, active pharmaceutical ingredienBl, and finished product for our preclinical rasgh and clinical trials, including the Phas
trial for ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrardnd the Phase1/2 clinical trial of ITI-007 in lt@ageriatric subjects and in

18



Table of Contents

patients with dementia, including Alzheimer’s diseaWe believe that we would be able to contratit amother third-party contract
manufacturer to obtain API if our existing sourée\®l was no longer available, but there is no easce that APl would be available from
another third-party manufacturer on acceptabledeon the timeframe that our business would reqgoirat all. We do not have long-term
agreements with our existing third-party contraennfacturer. We also do not have any current cottshrelationships for the manufacture of
commercial supplies of any of our product candislédtehey are approved. As ITI-007 and any of adifveo product candidates continue to
progress towards potential regulatory approvalintend to enter into agreements with a third-padgtract manufacturer and one or more
back-up manufacturers for the commercial produatibthhose products. Development and commercial fifigsof any products that we
develop will need to be manufactured in facilitiaegd by processes, that comply with the requiremehthe FDA and the regulatory agencies
of other jurisdictions in which we are seeking ajyad. We currently employ internal resources to aggnour manufacturing contractors.

Sales and Marketing

We currently have no marketing, sales or distrirutiapabilities. In order to commercialize any of product candidates, we must
develop these capabilities internally or throughatmration with third parties. In selected thenatpeareas where we feel that our product
candidates can be commercialized by a specialgs $atce that calls on a limited and focused grfyghysicians, we may plan to participat
the commercialization of our product candidatethnUnited States. In therapeutic areas that requiarge sales force selling to a large and
diverse prescribing population, we may elect to e@rtialize through, or in collaboration with, ségic partners. We may choose to
commercialize our products in markets outside efliimited States by establishing one or more sti@tdliances in the future.

Competition

We face, and will continue to face, intense contipetifrom pharmaceutical and biotechnology compsris well as numerous academic
and research institutions and governmental ageroi¢l in the United States and abroad. We competsill compete, with existing and new
products being developed by our competitors. Sohtieese competitors are pursuing the developmephafmaceuticals that target the same
diseases and conditions that our research andagaaeht programs target.

Even if we are successful in developing our proaacididates, the resulting products would compdite awariety of established drugs
the areas of our targeted CNS therapeutic indisati®ur potential products for the treatment ofamgphrenia and bipolar disorder would
compete with, among other branded products, Abflifynarketed jointly by Bristol-Myers Squibb and (kalPharmaceutical; Fandpt
marketed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals; SeroquePXkarketed by AstraZeneca; Invegamarketed by Janssen; and Lat@danarketed by
Sunovion. In addition, our product candidatespipraved, will compete with, among other generidgpayichotic products, haloperidol,
risperidone, quetiapine, olanzapine and clozapine.

In addition, the companies described above and eathrapetitors may have a variety of drugs in depelent or awaiting FDA approval
that could reach the market and become establisbiede we have a product to sell. Our competitcaly also develop alternative therapies
could further limit the market for any drugs that may develop. Many of our competitors are usiggrielogies or methods different or sim
to ours to identify and validate drug targets andiscover novel small molecule drugs. Many of campetitors and their collaborators have
significantly greater experience than we do infthlewing:

» identifying and validating target
e screening compounds against targ
» preclinical and clinical trials of potential pharceatical products; an

» obtaining FDA and other regulatory clearanc
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In addition, many of our competitors and their abtirators have substantially greater advantagéeifollowing areas:
» capital resource:
e research and development resour
e manufacturing capabilities; ai

» sales and marketin

Smaller companies also may prove to be significantpetitors, particularly through proprietary resbaliscoveries and collaborative
arrangements with large pharmaceutical and estedalibiotechnology companies. Many of our competit@ve products that have been
approved by the FDA or are in advanced developnWetface competition from other companies, académsiitutions, governmental
agencies and other public and private researchaa@ons for collaborative arrangements with pheceutical and biotechnology companies,
in recruiting and retaining highly qualified scigittand management personnel and for licensesld@ianal technologies. Our competitors,
either alone or with their collaborators, may stk developing technologies or drugs that areeneffiective, safer, and more affordable or
more easily administered than ours and may aclgatent protection or commercialize drugs soonar tie Developments by others may
render our product candidates or our technolodisslete. Our failure to compete effectively coudtvé a material adverse effect on our
business.

Government Regulation
United States—FDA Process

The research, development, testing, manufactuvelitey, promotion, advertising, import and expdistribution and marketing, among
other things, of drug products are extensively l&gd by governmental authorities in the Unitedetand other countries. In the United
States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal,/orug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, andrtplementing regulations. Failure to
comply with the applicable U.S. requirements mayject us to administrative or judicial sanctions;lsas FDA refusal to approve pending
NDAs, warning letters, fines, civil penalties, puatl recalls, product seizures, total or partiapgmsion of production or distributio
injunctions and/or criminal prosecution.

Drug Approval ProcesNone of our drug product candidates may be marketéte United States until the drug has received F
approval. Such approval can take many years taroatal may be rejected by the FDA at a numberagsstThe steps required before a drug
may be marketed in the United States generallydethe following:

« completion of extensive pre-clinical laboratbéegts, animal studies, and formulation studiescitordance with the FDA’s Good
Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulatio

e submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinitadting, which must become effective before hunaaical trials may begin

» performance of adequate and well-controlled &linical trials to establish the safety andagitly of the drug for each proposed
indication;

» submission to the FDA of an NDA after completioradifclinical trials;

» satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-apprawabection of the manufacturing facility or fadéis at which the API and finished
drug product are produced and tested to assesdiaoogwith cGMPs

» satisfactory completion of FDA inspections bifical trial sites to assure that data supporthngsafety and effectiveness of produc
candidates has been generated in compliance witld Gtinical Practices; ar

» FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any aoercial marketing or sale of the drug in the UniBtdtes
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The development and approval process requiresaniizttime, effort and financial resources, andocarnot be certain that any
approvals for our product candidates will be grdrie a timely basis, if at all.

Pre<linical tests include laboratory evaluation of gmot chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as wedlanimal studies. The conduct of
pre-clinical tests and formulation of the compoufatstesting must comply with federal regulatiomsl aequirements. The results of the pre-
clinical tests, together with manufacturing infotioa and analytical data, are submitted to the F3Aart of an IND, which must become
effective before human clinical trials may begim IND will automatically become effective 30 dayteareceipt by the FDA, unless before
that time the FDA raises concerns or questionstatheuconduct of the trial, such as whether huneaearch subjects will be exposed to an
unreasonable health risk. In such a case, the MIDsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding EBAcerns or questions before clinical
trials can proceed. We cannot be sure that submnisdian IND will result in the FDA allowing clingt trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve administration of the inu@gational drug to human subjects under the supemviof qualified investigators. Clinic
trials are conducted under protocols detailingabjectives of the study, the parameters to be imsetnitoring safety and the effectiveness
criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol must beigenl to the FDA as part of a separate submissidhe IND. Further, an Institutional Review
Board, or IRB, for each medical center proposingdonduct the clinical trial must review and apprtive study protocol and informed consent
information for study subjects for any clinicalfrbefore it commences at that center, and thertiRBt monitor the study until it is completed.
There are also requirements governing reportingnegoing clinical trials and clinical trial resulis public registries. Study subjects must sign
an informed consent form before participating tliaical trial.

Clinical trials necessary for product approval tgtly are conducted in three sequential phaseghkbythases may overlap.

* Phase 1 usually involves the initial introdoatiof the investigational drug into a limited pagtion, typically healthy humans, to
evaluate its shotierm safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism, pharkivaetics and pharmacologic actions, and, if possitd gain a
early indication of its effectivenes

* Phase 2 usually involves trials in a limitedi@at population to (i) evaluate dosage toleramue @ppropriate dosage; (i) identify
possible adverse effects and safety risks; andefidluate preliminarily the efficacy of the druay pecific targeted indications.
Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conductgdhte sponsor to obtain information prior to begmgnlarger and more expensive
Phase 3 clinical trials

» Phase 3 trials, commonly referred to as pivsttadlies, are undertaken in an expanded patienigiign at multiple, geographically
dispersed clinical trial centers to further evadueiinical efficacy and test further for safetyusing the drug in its final form. There
can be no assurance that Phase 1, Phase 2 orPtessiag will be completed successfully within @pecified period of time, if at
all. Furthermore, we, the FDA or an IRB may suspelimdcal trials at any time on various groundglinding a finding that the
subjects or patients are being exposed to an uptdie health risk. Moreover, the FDA may approwéN®A for a product
candidate, but require that the sponsor condudtiadadl clinical trials to further assess the dafter NDA approval under a post-
approval commitment. Pc-approval trials are typically referred to as Phéaséinical trials.

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgiaen an opportunity to meet with the FDA at certaoints. These points may be
prior to submission of an IND, at the end of Phasand before an NDA is submitted. Meetings at iotinees may be requested. These
meetings can provide an opportunity for the spofsshare information about the data gathered t®, d@r the FDA to provide advice, and for
the sponsor and the FDA to reach an agreementeometkt phase of development. Sponsors typicallythesend of Phase 2 meeting to discuss
their Phase 2 clinical results and present theinpfor the pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial thatytielieve will support approval of the new drug.
A sponsor may request a Special Protocol Assessime8PA, to
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reach an agreement with the FDA that the protoesigh, clinical endpoints, and statistical analymesacceptable to support regulatory
approval of the product candidate with respecffiecéveness in the indication studied. If suchagmeement is reached, it will be documented
and made part of the administrative record, amdlitoe binding on the FDA except in limited circgtances, such as if the FDA identifies a
substantial scientific issue essential to detenmgjthe safety or effectiveness of the product afiiaical studies begin, or if the sponsor fails to
follow the protocol that was agreed upon with tiBAFThere is no guarantee that a study will ultiehatbe adequate to support an approval
even if the study is subject to an SPA.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuatymplete additional animal safety studies and ralsst develop additional information
about the chemistry and physical characteristidh®irug and finalize a process for manufactutfirgproduct in accordance with cGMP
requirements. The manufacturing process must babbtapf consistently producing quality batcheshef drug candidate and the manufacturer
must develop methods for testing the quality, puaitd potency of the final drugs. Additionally, appriate packaging must be selected and
tested and stability studies must be conducte@moahstrate that the drug candidate does not undergeceptable deterioration over its shelf
life.

Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdintesting, the results of pre-clinical studiesl @f clinical studies, together with
other detailed information, including information the manufacture and composition of the drugsatemitted to the FDA in the form of an
NDA requesting approval to market the product floe or more indications. An NDA must be accompamiga significant user fee, which
waived for the first NDA submitted by a qualifyisgnall business.

The testing and approval process requires subataintie, effort and financial resources. The FDA véview the NDA and may deem it
to be inadequate to support approval, and we caymetire that any approval will be granted on &lrbasis, if at all. The FDA may also re
the application to the appropriate advisory conemittypically a panel of clinicians, for review adwation and a recommendation as to whethe
the application should be approved. The FDA ishwatnd by the recommendations of the advisory cotemibut it typically follows such
recommendations.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA inspects the facibr the facilities at which the drug and/or d@istive pharmaceutical ingredient is
manufactured and will not approve the product unthe manufacturing is in compliance with cGMPgh# FDA evaluates the NDA and the
manufacturing facilities are deemed acceptableFiw& may issue an approval letter, or in some casésmplete Response Letter. The
approval letter authorizes commercial marketinthefdrug for specific indications. As a conditidn\NDA approval, the FDA may require
post-marketing testing and surveillance to mortiverdrug’s safety or efficacy, or impose other dtods. A Complete Response Letter
indicates that the review cycle of the applicai®oomplete and the application is not ready fgrapal. A Complete Response Letter may
require additional clinical data and/or additioakhical trial(s), and/or other significant, exparesand time-consuming requirements related tc
clinical trials, pre-clinical studies or manufadéhg. Even if such additional information is submitf the FDA may ultimately decide that the
NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval. ®&bm clinical trials is not always conclusive ahéd FDA may interpret data differently th
we or our collaborators interpret data. Alterndtiyéhe FDA could also approve the NDA with a Riskaluation and Mitigation Strategy to
mitigate risks of the drug, which could include rieadion guides, physician communication plans,lements to assure safe use, such as
restricted distribution methods, patient registoesther risk minimization tools. Once the FDA epges a drug, the FDA may withdraw
product approval if on-going regulatory requirenseste not met or if safety problems occur aftemqtteeluct reaches the market. In addition,
the FDA may require testing, including Phase 4icdihtrials, and surveillance programs to moniter safety effects of approved products that
have been commercialized, and the FDA has the ptayanevent or limit further marketing of a prodbetsed on the results of these post-
marketing programs or other information.

Post-Approval Requirementafter a drug has been approved by the FDA for shke FDA may require that certain post-approval
requirements be satisfied, including the condu@dafitional clinical studies. In addition, certaimanges to an approved product, such as a
new indications, making certain manufacturing
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changes, or making certain additional labelingnefgiare subject to further FDA review and approBafore a company can market products
for additional indications, it must obtain addit@dmpprovals from the FDA, typically a new NDA. @isting approval for a new indication
generally requires that additional clinical studiesconducted. A company cannot be sure that atiji@uhl approval for new indications for
any product candidate will be approved on a tinbalgis, or at all.

If post-approval conditions are not satisfied, Bi®A may withdraw its approval of the drug. In adutit holders of an approved NDA are
required to (i) report certain adverse reactionh&FDA and maintain pharmacovigilance progranart@ctively look for these adverse
events; (ii) comply with certain requirements canégg advertising and promotional labeling for th@ioducts; and (iii) continue to have
quality control and manufacturing procedures canfts cGMPs after approval. The FDA periodicallydasts the sponsor’s records related to
safety reporting and/or manufacturing facilitiediieh includes assessment of on-going compliance e&MPs. Accordingly, manufacturers
must continue to expend time, money and efforhadrea of production and quality control to mamtaGMP compliance. We intend to use
third-party manufacturers to produce our productslinical and commercial quantities, and futureAFRDspections may identify compliance
issues at the facilities of our contract manufaatsithat may disrupt production or distributionyequire substantial resources to correct. In
addition, discovery of problems with a product aftpproval may result in restrictions on a prodotnufacturer or holder of an approved
NDA, including recall of the product from the marke withdrawal of approval of the NDA for that @yt

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivitgpending upon the timing, duration and specificB[@A approval of the use of our
drugs, some of our U.S. patents may be eligibldificited patent term extension under the Drug P@oenpetition and Patent Term Restora
Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amesais1 The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a pagstonation term of up to five
years as compensation for patent term lost dunindyxt development and the FDA regulatory revieacpss. However, patent term restore
cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyotaodal of 14 years from the product’s approvded@he patent term restoration period is
generally one-half the time between the effectiadf an IND and the submission date of an NDAs phe time between the submission date
of an NDA and the approval of that application. Yoihe patent applicable to an approved drug isbdidor the extension and the extension
must be requested prior to expiration of the pafEimé USPTO, in consultation with the FDA, revieavsl approves the application for any
patent term extension or restoration. In the futueintend to apply for restorations of patenttéor some of our currently owned or licensed
patents to add patent life beyond their currentratipn date, depending on the expected lengtHimital trials and other factors involved in 1
submission of the relevant NDA.

Data and market exclusivity provisions under theCADalso can delay the submission or the approvaedhin applications. The FDCA
provides a five-year period of non-patent dataesiuity within the United States to the first ajgpglnt to gain approval of an NDA for a new
chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entityhié FDA has not previously approved any other dayg containing the same active moiety,
which is the molecule or ion responsible for theascof the drug substance. During the exclusipigyiod, the FDA may not accept for review
an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, &@0&(b)(2) NDA submitted by another company for &eotversion of such drug where the
applicant does not own or have a legal right oémexfice to all the data required for approval. H@vean application may be submitted after
four years if it contains a certification of patémealidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also pides three years of marketing exclusivity for
an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an existMDA if new clinical investigations, other than bi@alability studies, conducted or
sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the F& ®ssential to the approval of the applicationgkample, for new indications, dosage
strengths of an existing drug. This three-yearesielty covers only the conditions associated wlith new clinical investigations and does not
prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(RDAs for drugs containing the original active agdfive-year and thregear exclusivit
will not delay the submission or approval of a fNIDA; however, an applicant submitting a full NDAowld be required to conduct, or obtain a
right of reference to all of the pre-clinical stesj adequate and well-controlled clinical trialsassary to demonstrate safety and effectivenes:
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Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,witbe subject to a variety of foreign regulat®governing clinical trials and
commercial sales and distribution of our produdtiether or not we obtain FDA approval for a progduat must obtain approval by the
comparable regulatory authorities of foreign coiestbefore we can commence clinical trials and @ygdrof foreign countries or economic
areas, such as the European Union, before we megetr@roducts in those countries or areas. Theouapprocess and requirements gover
the conduct of clinical trials, product licensiqgicing and reimbursement vary greatly from plazelace, and the time may be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval.

In the European Economic Area, or EEA, which is pdsed of the 27 member states of the EuropeanriJoioMember States, plus
Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein, medicinal pradwan only be commercialized after obtaining akdtng Authorization, or MA. There &
two types of MAs:

*  Community MAs—These are issued by the Euro@ammission through the Centralized Procedure, basdte opinion of the
Committee for Medicinal Products for Human UseCotMP, of the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, ane valid througho!
the entire territory of the EEA. The Centralizedé&dure is mandatory for certain types of produstish as biotechnology
medicinal products, orphan medicinal products, medicinal products indicated for the treatment &d8, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorders, diabetes, aatoune and viral diseases. The Centralized Proegduwptional for products containi
a new active substance not yet authorized in thi; Ed products that constitute a significant theratic, scientific or technical
innovation; or for products that are in the inté@spublic health in the European Unic

* National MA—These are issued by the competent authoritidseoftember States of the EEA and only cover theaipeetive
territory, and are available for products not fajliwithin the mandatory scope of the CentralizestPdure. Where a product has
already been authorized for marketing in a MemhateSof the EEA, this National MA can be recogniednother Member State
through the Mutual Recognition Procedure. If thedorct has not received a National MA in any Mentbiate at the time of
application, it can be approved simultaneouslydrious Member States through the Decentralizeddeiuwre. Under the
Decentralized Procedure, an identical dossierhsndtied to the competent authorities of each ofMlenber States in which the
MA is sought, one of which is selected by the agapit as the Reference Member State. The competthdray of the Reference
Member State prepares a draft assessment rebeftaummary of the product characteristics, o€ S&hd a draft of the labeling
and package leaflet, which are sent to the othenbés States (referred to as the Member States @uentefor their approval. If t
Member States Concerned raise no objections, lasadpotential serious risk to public health, te #ssessment, SPC, labeling or
packaging proposed by the Reference Member Skatgroduct is subsequently granted a National MAllithe Member States
(i.e., in the Reference Member State and the Mei8tses Concernec

Under the above described procedures, before gratite MA, the EMA or the competent authoritieshef Member States of the EEA
assess the risk-benefit balance of the produchemasis of scientific criteria concerning its diyakafety and efficacy. As in the United States
it may be possible in foreign countries to obtajpeaiod of market and/or data exclusivity that vebloave the effect of postponing the entry
the marketplace of a competitor’s generic prodiaat.example, if any of our products receive marigtipproval in the EEA, we expect they
will benefit from eight years of data exclusivitychten years of marketing exclusivity. An additibnan-cumulative one-year period of
marketing exclusivity is possible if during the a@a&ixclusivity period (the first eight years of th@year marketing exclusivity period), we
obtain an authorization for one or more new theutipeéndications that are deemed to bring a sigaiiit clinical benefit compared to existing
therapies. The data exclusivity period begins endéte of the product’s first marketing authorizatin the European Union and prevents
generics from relying on the marketing authorizatimlder’'s pharmacological, toxicological and alalidata for a period of eight years. After
eight years, a generic product application mayuimrstted and generic companies may rely on the etgut authorization holder’s data.
However, a generic cannot launch until two yeaterléor a total of 10 years after the first mankgtauthorization in the European
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Union of the innovator product), or three yearsigor a total of 11 years after the first markgtauthorization in the European Union of the
innovator product) if the marketing authorizatiavider obtains marketing authorization for a newiégation with significant clinical benefit
within the eight-year data exclusivity period. Bpan, our products may be eligible for eight yedmdata exclusivity. There can be no
assurance that we will qualify for such regulaterglusivity, or that such exclusivity will prevecwmpetitors from seeking approval solely on
the basis of their own studies.

When conducting clinical trials in the European &niwe must adhere to the provisions of the Eunopérdon Clinical Trials Directive
and the laws and regulations of the European Ukiember States implementing them. These provisiegaire, among other things, that the
prior authorization of an Ethics Committee ande¢bepetent Member State authority is obtained beforemencing the clinical trial.

Pricing and Reimbursemer

In the United States and internationally, salegrotlucts that we market in the future, and ouritgltib generate revenues on such sales,
are dependent, in significant part, on the avditgtnf adequate coverage and reimbursement frard-frarty payors, such as state and federal
governments, managed care providers and privabeanse plans. Private insurers, such as healthtem@ince organizations and managed car
providers, have implemented castiting and reimbursement initiatives and likelylwontinue to do so in the future. These inclugtblishing
formularies that govern the drugs and biologics il be offered and the out-of-pocket obligatiamfsmember patients for such products. We
may need to conduct pharmacoeconomic studies tomiEnate the cost-effectiveness of our productédionulary coverage and
reimbursement. Even with such studies, our produétg be considered less safe, less effective srdest-effective than existing products, anc
third-party payors may not provide coverage anchbeirsement for our product candidates, in whole qart.

In addition, particularly in the United States ancdreasingly in other countries, we are requiredrtavide discounts and pay rebates to
state and federal governments and agencies in cbonavith purchases of our products that are reirséd by such entities. It is possible that
future legislation in the United States and otlheisglictions could be enacted to potentially impaanbursement rates for the products we are
developing and may develop in the future and cfurdher impact the levels of discounts and rebpted to federal and state government
entities. Any legislation that impacts these aadd impact, in a significant way, our abilitygenerate revenues from sales of products tt
successfully developed, we bring to market.

Political, economic and regulatory influences angjacting the health care industry in the Unitealt&t to fundamental changes. There
have been, and we expect there will continue tddggslative and regulatory proposals to changéhttadth care system in ways that could
significantly affect our future business. For exénthe Patient Protection and Affordable Care Astamended by the Health Care and
Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or celttively, the PPACA, enacted in March 2010, sulizihy changes the way health care is
financed by both governmental and private insurnsong other cost containment measures, PPACA listab:

» an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thatufatures or imports certain branded prescriptiags and biologic agent

* anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discourgrpm, in which pharmaceutical manufacturers whdwashave their drugs
covered under Part D must offer discounts to digiieneficiaries during their coverage gap perawdhe donut hole; ar

» anew formula that increases the rebates a manuéachust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Proc

In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted in the United States sinceRAER was enacted, which, among
other things, potentially reduce Medicare paymémisroviders by up to 2% per fiscal year.
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Sales and Marketing

The FDA regulates all advertising and promotiorivétids for products under its jurisdiction priar &nd after approval, including
standards and regulations for direct-to-consumeerdiding, dissemination of off-label informatiandustry-sponsored scientific and
educational activities and promotional activitiegdlving the Internet. Drugs may be marketed oplytfie approved indications and in
accordance with the provisions of the approvedlldhether, if there are any modifications to thiagl including changes in indications,
labeling, or manufacturing processes or facilitigs,may be required to submit and obtain FDA apalro¥a new or supplemental NDA, whi
may require us to collect additional data or comdwidlitional pre-clinical studies and clinical tsiaFailure to comply with applicable FDA
requirements may subject a company to adverseqiyblenforcement action by the FDA, corrective adiging, consent decrees and the full
range of civil and criminal penalties availablgte FDA.

Physicians may prescribe legally available drugsuifes that are not described in the drug’s lagedimd that differ from those tested by
us and approved by the FDA. Such off-label usesanmemon across medical specialties, and oftenatedi@hysician’s belief that the off-label
use is the best treatment for the patient. The EDés not regulate the behavior of physicians iir tf®ice of treatments, but FDA regulations
do impose stringent restrictions on manufacturessimunications regarding off-label uses. Failuredmply with applicable FDA
requirements may subject a company to adverseqitybienforcement action by the FDA, corrective exdiging, consent decrees and the full
range of civil and criminal penalties availabldtie FDA.

Outside the United States, our ability to markpt@duct is contingent upon obtaining marketing ati#tation from the appropriate
regulatory authorities. The requirements govermiragketing authorization, pricing and reimbursememy widely from country to country.

We may also be subject to various federal and &ate pertaining to health care “fraud and abuseluding anti-kickback laws and
false claims laws. Anti-kickback laws make it ili@dor a prescription drug manufacturer to solioffer, receive, or pay any remuneration in
exchange for, or to induce, the referral of businesluding the purchase or prescription of aipaldr drug. Due to the breadth of the statuton
provisions, the absence of guidance in the formegélations, and very few court decisions addrgssidustry practices, it is possible that our
practices might be challenged under anti-kickbackimilar laws. False claims laws prohibit anyoranf knowingly and willingly presenting,
or causing to be presented, for payment to thady payors (including Medicare and Medicaid) miaifor reimbursed drugs or services that
false or fraudulent, claims for items or services provided as claimed, or claims for medically eoessary items or services. Our activities
relating to the sale and marketing of our produtdy be subject to scrutiny under these laws.

Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punishalglcriminal and/or civil sanctions, includingdmand civil monetary penalties, the
possibility of exclusion from federal health caregrams (including Medicare and Medicaid) and coapmintegrity agreements, which impc
among other things, rigorous operational and moinigorequirements on companies. Similar sanctiorsenalties also may be imposed upor
executive officers and employees, including crirhsanctions against executive officers under thealed “responsible corporate officer”
doctrine, even in situations where the executiVieaf did not intend to violate the law and waswaee of any wrongdoing. Given the penal
that may be imposed on companies and individualenvicted, allegations of such violations oftesulein settlements even if the company or
individual being investigated admits no wrongdoigttlements often include significant civil sangs, including fines and civil monetary
penalties, and corporate integrity agreementselfgovernment was to allege or convict us or oecetive officers of violating these laws, our
business could be harmed. In addition, privateviddils have the ability to bring similar actio@ur activities could be subject to challenge
for the reasons discussed above and due to thd booge of these laws and the increasing attebgarg given to them by law enforcement
authorities. Further, there are an increasing nurabstate laws that require manufacturers to nrakerts to states on pricing and marketing
information. Many of these laws contain ambiguitissto what is required to
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comply with the laws. Given the lack of claritylaws and their implementation, our reporting acdionuld be subject to the penalty provision:
of the pertinent state authorities.

Description of the Merger and Private Placement ilAugust 2013

Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dateglist 23, 2013, or the Merger Agreement, by andrngn@neida Resources Corp.,
which we refer to as the Company, we, our andTis;ihc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-ownetdsidiary of the Company, or Merger
Sub; and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., a Delaveamgoration, which we refer to as ITI; Merger Subrged with and into ITI, with ITI
remaining as the surviving entity and a wholly-odmperating subsidiary of the Company. This tratisads referred to throughout this report
as the “Merger.” The Merger was effective on Aug2&t 2013, upon the filing of a Certificate of Mergvith the Secretary of State of the Statt
of Delaware. As part of the Merger, ITI changechisne to ITI, Inc.

Immediately following the Merger, a newly organizglolly-owned subsidiary of the Company named ‘dn@ellular Therapies, Inc.tr
Name Change Merger Sub, merged with and into thepaay, leaving the Company as the surviving copmmaWe refer to this transactic
as the “Name Change Merger.” In connection withNlaene Change Merger, we relinquished our corparatee “Oneida Resources Corp.”
and assumed in its place the name “Intra-Cellukerapies, Inc.” The Name Change Merger and namagehlaecame effective on August 29,
2013, upon the filing of a Certificate of Ownershipd Merger with the Secretary of State of theeSthDelaware.

At the effective time of the Merger, or the EffeetiTime, the legal existence of Merger Sub ceasddeach share of ITI common stock
and each share of ITI preferred stock that waesund outstanding immediately prior to the Effexflime was automatically exchanged for
0.5 shares of our common stock, which we refessttha Exchange. We issued an aggregate of 22,1B4l&tes of our common stock upon
such exchange of the outstanding shares of ITI comstock and preferred stock. In addition, at tffedive Time, we assumed ITI's 2003
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, or the 2003t dicentive Plan, and all options to purchaseddinmon stock then outstanding under the
2003 Equity Incentive Plan, and such options becaxeecisable for an aggregate of 1,462,380 shdresr&common stock, subject to the
vesting and other terms of such options. The vgsifrsuch options was not accelerated as a rektiiedvierger. At the Effective Time, we a
assumed the outstanding warrant to purchase IThoamstock, and such warrant became exercisable8@2 shares of our common stock.

Immediately following the Effective Time, pursudatthe terms of a Redemption Agreement dated Aug@,s2013, or the Redemption
Agreement, by and among the Company and its theneqtiusole stockholder, we completed the closing rédemption of 5,000,000 shares of
our common stock, or the Redemption, from our tbement sole stockholder in consideration of $60,G0us professional costs related to the
transaction that were approximately $20,000. TBO®G 000 shares constituted all of the issued atgtanding shares of our capital stock, on a
fully-diluted basis, immediately prior to the Merge

Upon completion of the Merger and the Redemptibe former stockholders of ITI held 100% of the tansling shares of our capital
stock. Unless otherwise indicated in this repdttsizare and per share figures reflect the exchafigach share of ITI common stock and eact
share of ITI preferred stock then outstanding f&rshares of our common stock at the Effective Time

As a condition to the Merger, we entered into afemnity Agreement with our former sole officer atficector, or the Indemnity
Agreement, pursuant to which we agreed to indermsifyh former officer and director for actions takgrhim in his official capacities relating
to the consideration, approval and consummaticheMerger and certain related transactions.
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The Merger was accounted for as a capital trarmadtipon the effectiveness of the Merger, the Comjsabusiness became the
operation of ITI and its business. Immediatelydaling the Effective Time, our board of directorsjigh immediately prior to the Effective
Time consisted of Samir N. Masri as our sole doeadppointed Sharon Mates, Ph.D., who was Chairfgsident and Chief Executive
Officer of ITI, as our Chairman, President and Chirecutive Officer, to serve on our board of dicgs with Mr. Masri. At the Effective Tim:
Mr. Masri resigned from all of his positions asdadficer of the Company. In addition, immediatelyiéaving the Effective Time, our board of
directors appointed Lawrence J. Hineline, who vies\Mtice President of Finance, Chief Financial @Gffiand Secretary of ITI, as our Vice
President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer amdi®tary; Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.D., who was thee/Rresident of Business Development of
ITI, as our Vice President of Business Developmeatyrence P. Wennogle, Ph.D., who was the Viceiéeas, Drug Discovery of ITI, as our
Vice President, Drug Discovery; and Kimberly E. \@aar, Ph.D., who was the Vice President, Clinical8lopment of ITI, as our Vice
President, Clinical Development. On September 232&hich was the eleventh day following the dat tve filed with the SEC and
transmitted to our sole stockholder prior to thergde, a Schedule 14f-1 reporting a change in thienitof our directors, Christopher Alafi,
Ph.D., Richard Lerner, M.D., Joel S. Marcus and\Bahael Rawlins, M.D., FRCP, FMedSci, were appedto our board of directors to serve
on our board of directors with Dr. Mates, and Miagvi resigned from our board of directors as ohdiette. Each of Dr. Mates, Dr. Alafi,

Dr. Lerner, Mr. Marcus, and Sir Michael were dimstof ITI immediately prior to the Merger. In atidn, in January 2014, Rory B. Riggs and
Robert L. Van Nostrand joined our board of direstor

Prior to the Merger, ITI sold to accredited investapproximately $60.0 million of its shares of enon stock, or 18,889,307 shares at a
price of $3.1764 per share, which included $15.aniin principal and $0.8 million in accrued imgst from the conversion of ITI's then
outstanding convertible promissory notes, or Notés.refer to this transaction as the Private Plargrand the number of shares stated in the
preceding sentence does not reflect the ExchanteiMerger. The price per share in the Privated?feent, as adjusted for the Exchange it
Merger, would be $6.3528 per share of our post-ecogmmon stock. Also, ITI granted the investorthim Private Placement registration
rights requiring ITI or any successor to registarse shares of ITI common stock (which were excedrigr shares of our common stock, al
with the rest of the outstanding shares of ITI tatock, except for dissenting shares, at thedgffe Time) for public resale, as described in
more detail in Item 13 of this report under thetap“Certain Relationships and Related Transastiamd Director Independence—
Agreements with Stockholders—Registration Rightse®gent.” The then existing stockholders of ITI vagreed to become parties to the
registration rights agreement also became entitledich registration rights, subject to specifigtetences in the agreement between the right
of new investors and existing stockholders. Thatexg Second Amended and Restated Investor Rigiftsefnent, by and among ITI and the
investors listed therein, dated as of October BB72as amended, was terminated at the EffectiveeTThe Private Placement closed
immediately prior to the filing of a Certificate dferger with the Secretary of State of the StatBeaware, on August 29, 2013.

Employees

As of March 1, 2014, we employed 22 employees,f2Z¢hmm were full-time. To successfully develop olung candidates, we must be
able to attract and retain highly skilled personkié¢ anticipate hiring additional employees fore@sh and development, clinical and
regulatory affairs and general and administratité/dies over the next few years. In addition, iweend to use clinical research organizations
and third parties to perform our clinical studi@sl ananufacturing.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company

As a company with less than $1.0 billion in revedueing our last fiscal year, we qualify as an “egieg growth company” as defined in
the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBSehacted in April 2012. An
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emerging growth company may take advantage of estlteporting requirements that are otherwise agiplécto public companies. These
provisions include, but are not limited to:

» being required to provide only two years of audfiedncial statements in this report, with corrasgiogly reduced disclosure in t
“Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatio” section of this repor

* not being required to comply with the audittestation requirements of Section 404 of the Smbaxley Act of 2002, or
Sarbane-Oxley Act;

» reduced disclosure obligations regarding exeewtompensation in our periodic reports, proxyestents and registration
statements; an

« exemptions from the requirements of holdingahinding advisory vote on executive compensatimhstockholder approval of
any golden parachute payments not previously ajsok

We may take advantage of these provisions for diwéoyears after the first sale of our common ggsecurities pursuant to an effective
registration statement under the Securities Act. i@itial registration statement under the Secesithct, providing for the resale of up to
21,961,496 shares of our common stock by the gedliackholders named therein, became effectiveege®ber 18, 2013. However, if certain
events occur prior to the end of such five yeaigagiincluding if we become a “large acceleratéerfi our annual gross revenues exceed $1
billion or we issue more than $1 billion of non-eentible debt in any three year period, we wouldseeto be an emerging growth company
prior to the end of such five year period.

We may choose to take advantage of some but not #iese reduced burdens. We have taken advaotagetain of the reduced
disclosure obligations, which include providingpiwo years of audited financial statements andesmpondingly reduced financial disclosu
and reduced executive compensation disclosuradrreéport and may elect to take advantage of atghiced burdens in future filings. As a
result, the information that we provide to our &toalders may be different than you might receiwefrother public reporting companies in
which you hold equity interests.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies edaycadopting new or revised accounting standamtissuch time as those
standards apply to private companies. However,ave lirrevocably elected not to avail ourselveshif extended transition period for
complying with new or revised accounting standauad, therefore, we will be subject to the same aerevised accounting standards as othe
public companies that are not emerging growth congsa

We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defimeRule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and have etkttidake advantage of certain of
the scaled disclosure available to smaller repgrtimmpanies.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Except for the historical information contained &igr, this report contains forwarlboking statements that involve risks and uncetiag
These statements include projections about ourwaaiag and finances, plans and objectives for therg, future operating and economic
performance and other statements regarding futemgomance. These statements are not guarantefesuné performance or events. C
actual results could differ materially from thosealissed in this report. Factors that could causeantribute to these differences include, but
are not limited to, those discussed in the follgngection, as well as those discussed in Partdml7 entitled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” and elsewhere throughout this report.

You should consider carefully the following riskttas, together with all of the other informatiorciuded. If any of the following risks,
either alone or taken together, or other risks pasently known to us or that we currently beligvaot be significant, develop into actual
events, then our business, financial conditionyultesof operations or prospects could be materiaiyersely affected. If that happens, the
market price of our common stock could decline, stodkholders may lose all or part of their invesirn

Risks Related to Our Business

We currently do not have, and may never have, amyducts that generate significant revenues.

We have a limited operating history on which toleste our business and prospects. To date, wer@vgenerated any product reven
from our product candidates currently in developm&fe cannot guarantee that any of our productidates currently in development will
ever become marketable products.

We must demonstrate that our drug candidates waitigfrous standards of safety and efficacy foirtmtended uses before the FDA and
other regulatory authorities in the European Urdad elsewhere will approve them for commercial@atSignificant additional research,
preclinical testing and clinical testing is requifgefore we can file applications with the FDA ¢iner regulatory authorities for premarket
approval of our drug candidates. In addition, tmpete effectively, our drugs must be easy to adstani cost-effective and economical to
manufacture on a commercial scale. We may not eetday of these objectives. ITB7, our most advanced drug candidate, has juspleted
a Phase 2 clinical trial and ITI-214 is currentiyfhase 1 clinical trials. We cannot be certaihtte clinical development of these or any othel
drug candidates in preclinical testing or clinidalvelopment will be successful, that we will reecikie regulatory approvals required to
commercialize them or that any of our other redearal drug discovery programs will yield a drugdidate suitable for investigation through
clinical trials. Our commercial revenues from ownguct candidates currently in development, if amiyl,be derived from sales of drugs that
will not become marketable for several years, Hlat

There is no guarantee that our planned clinical &fs for ITI-007 in acute schizophrenia or in othéndications will be successful.

In our Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials, oud fgaduct candidate, ITI-007, has demonstrated ovgat sleep maintenance,
antipsychotic efficacy, and clinical signals cotesig with reduction in negative symptoms associatithl schizophrenia, depression and
anxiety, and other symptoms associated with impgaceial function. ITI-007 exhibited antipsychogifficacy in a randomized, double-blind,
placebo and active controlled Phase 2 clinical imigatients with an acutely exacerbated episddeloizophrenia. Our preclinical studies and
initial clinical trials demonstrate that ITI-007 iahown evidence of addressing the symptoms of@ghienia without causing cardiovascular
and metabolic abnormalities, or motor impairmeRtgther, ITI-007 was shown effective at a dose théinot cause adverse effects displayed
by existing antipsychotic drugs that tend to leadigh rates of noncompliance by the patients wiastmeed these drugs. We are currently
planning confirmatory later-stage clinical trials.
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The historical rate of failures for product candédain clinical development and late-stage clintdals is high. While we plan to conduct
further clinical studies in patients with acuteigophrenia and other indications, there is no guaethat we will have the same level of
success in these trials as we have had in oueealihical trials, or be successful at all. We nm&gd to conduct additional clinical trials before
we are able to advance ITI-007 into Phase 3 clitic@s in patients with acute schizophrenia.

In addition, although we believe that ITI-007 antidw-on compounds may also have clinical utilityindications other than acute
schizophrenia, such as behavioral disturbanceernmedtia, bipolar disorder, IED, non-motor disordessociated with Parkinson’s disease,
obsessive compulsive disorder and anxiety disoraledspost-traumatic stress disorder, we have rtestzd ITI-007 in Phase 2 clinical trials in
the patient population for these other indicatiand in March 2014 we announced the initiation Bhase 1/2 clinical trial of ITO07 in health
geriatric subjects and in patients with dementieluding Alzheimer’s disease.

If we do not successfully complete clinical devefgmt of ITI-007, we will be unable to market andl peoducts derived from it and to
generate product revenues. Even if we do succéssfuhplete clinical trials for ITI-007 in patientsith acute schizophrenia, those results are
not necessarily predictive of results of futuregtal trials that may be needed before we may suami DA to the FDA for the initial or other
future indications. Of the vast number of drugdlévelopment, only a small percentage result irsth@mission of an NDA to the FDA, and
even less result in the NDA ultimately being apgaby the FDA for commercialization.

If the FDA does not agree with our clinical develognt plans to advance 11007 for the treatment of schizophrenia and bipoldisorder
with separate, but overlapping, well-controlled migal trials in both indications, our development 6T1-007 may be delayed and the costs of
our development of ITI-007 would increase.

Subject to discussions with the FDA, we intendnitidate Phase 3 clinical trials and additional saipg trials in patients with acute
exacerbated schizophrenia in the second half o4 201 plan to initiate separate additional trialbipolar disorder in 2015. We expect that the
planned trials in bipolar disorder will overlaptime with the clinical conduct of the planned tsiah schizophrenia. We have not yet discussec
our plans to develop ITI-007 for the treatment ipidtar disorder with the FDA. With the recent coetn of the ITI-007-005 Phase 2 clinical
trial in schizophrenia, in the second quarter cf£2@e plan to request a meeting with the FDA teubs the existing ITI-007 safety and
efficacy data and our future clinical developmelanp for ITI-007, including our plans to conducpagate, but overlapping, well-controlled
clinical trials in schizophrenia and bipolar diserdThe Phase 3 clinical trial design for 0~ in schizophrenia will be the primary focus o
first meeting. Additional meetings may be requessstheeded, to discuss in greater detail our ftartsipolar disorder, and other elements of
our regulatory strategy, including additional thpatic indications, as the program progresses. Wifewtly anticipate conducting two placebo-
controlled Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 intigats with acute exacerbated schizophrenia, wiffiraximately 300 to 400 patients per trial.
We expect that these trials would include a fowsixeweek treatment duration. Subject to our distrss with the FDA, our finalization of the
protocols for the Phase 3 clinical trials and tiyneroliment, we anticipate that the results o6thPhase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients
with acute exacerbated schizophrenia could beahlailas soon as the fourth quarter of 2015. Howéer-DA may not agree with our
clinical development plans for advancing ITI-00%luding our plans to conduct separate, but ovpitep well-controlled clinical trials in
schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. In additioowo Phase 3 clinical trials, we will need to contglether clinical and non-clinical trials and
manufacturing and pre-commercialization activitiesessary to support the submission of a planne#l fdDITI-007 in patients with acute
exacerbated schizophrenia, which we currently expaad occur at the end of 2016 or the beginnihg0d.7. Our clinical plans may change
based on any discussions with the FDA, the relatiwazess and cost of our research, preclinicathnidal development programs, whether
are able to enter into future collaborations, amg anforeseen delays or cash needs. If the FDA dotagree with our clinical development
plans for ITI-007, our development of ITI-007 mag dkelayed and the costs of our development of O-€ould increase, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.
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We expect our net losses to continue for at leastesal years and are unable to predict the extehfuture losses or when we will become
profitable, if ever.

We have experienced significant net losses sincéneaption. As of December 31, 2013, we had anmecdated deficit of approximate
$57.6 million. We expect to incur net losses oherext several years as we advance our progratnsieunr significant clinical development
costs. We have not received, and do not expeeicive for at least the next several years, argmass from the commercialization of our
product candidates. Substantially all of our revento date were from our license and collaboragmneement with Takeda and our agreement
with various U.S. governmental agencies and otheigs, including our research and developmenttgraie anticipate that our collaboratic
which provide us with research funding and potémigestone payments, will continue to be our priynsources of revenues for the next
several years. We cannot be certain that the roilestrequired to trigger payments under our exjstoilaborations will be achieved or that
will enter into additional collaboration agreemenite obtain revenues from our product candidatesmust succeed, either alone or with
others, in developing, obtaining regulatory apptdeg and manufacturing and marketing drugs wigngicant market potential. We may
never succeed in these activities, and may nevergte revenues that are significant enough teeseprofitability.

We will require substantial additional funding, wbh may not be available to us on acceptable terorsat all, and, if not so available, may
require us to delay, limit, reduce or cease our ogt@ns.

We have consumed substantial amounts of capite¢ $iar inception. Our cash, cash equivalents arestment securities totaled
$37.2 million at December 31, 2013. On August Z8,3 immediately prior to the Merger, ITI issue@agpximately $60.0 million in a private
placement of common stock, which included approxatye15.3 million in principal and $0.8 million mccrued interest from the conversion
of ITI's then outstanding convertible promissoryteg and which resulted in net proceeds, afterresqe of approximately $40.0 million. In
addition, we received net proceeds of approxima&l5.4 million from the public offering of sharesour common stock in February 2014.
While we believe that our existing cash, cash esjaivts and investment securities, together witkr@st on cash balances, will be sufficient to
fund our operating expenses and capital expendiaqgirements through early 2016, the amount anithgj of our actual expenditures will
depend upon numerous factors, including the ongsiatys of our planned Phase 3 clinical trialST®#f007 in patients with acute exacerbated
schizophrenia, our Phase 1/2 clinical trial of 007 in healthy geriatric subjects and in patienth @ementia, including Alzheimer’s disease,
and our other planned clinical and non-clinicadlsi Furthermore, we anticipate that we will needdcure additional funding to complete the
planned additional clinical and non-clinical trialsanufacturing and pre-commercialization actigitieeded for potential regulatory approval
and commercialization of ITI-007 in patients wittuée exacerbated schizophrenia, for further devedy of ITI-007 in patients with bipolar
disorder and other indications, and for developnoéwiur other product candidates. If the FDA regsithat we perform additional preclinical
studies or clinical trials, or we experience delaysther setbacks in our clinical trials, our exges would further increase beyond what we
currently expect and the anticipated timing of pogential NDA would likely be delayed.

We intend to use substantially all of the net peatsefrom our recently completed public offerindund the completion of two proposed
Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients withute exacerbated schizophrenia; to fund thetioti of other planned clinical and naolinical
trials, including manufacturing, needed for antitgy regulatory approval of ITI-007 in patientshadicute exacerbated schizophrenia and oth
potential additional indications; to fund the coetn of proposed Phase 1/2 and Phase 2 cliniedd of ITI-007 for the treatment of patients
with behavioral disturbances in dementia, includizheimer’s disease; and to fund research andipresl development of our other product
candidates. Any remaining amounts will be usedyBweral corporate purposes, including general dndrastrative expenses, capital
expenditures, working capital and prosecution aathtenance of our intellectual property. As suble, et proceeds from our recently
completed public offering will not be sufficient tomplete advanced clinical development of anyuwf@oduct candidates other than ITI-007
in patients with acute exacerbated schizophrermaoilingly, we will continue to require substantdditional capital beyond the net proceed:
from the offering to continue our clinical developnmt and commercialization activities. In particulae anticipate that we will need to secure
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additional funding to complete the planned addaiariinical and non-clinical trials, manufacturingd pre-commercialization activities needec
for potential regulatory approval and commercidi@aof ITI-007 in patients with acute exacerbasetlizophrenia, for further development of
ITI-007 in patients with bipolar disorder and otliradications, and for development of our other miiccandidates. Because successful
development of our product candidates is uncerteinare unable to estimate the actual funds weredgjlire to complete research and
development and commercialize our products undegldpment.

Our future capital requirements will depend on, aadld increase significantly as a result of, m&agtors, including:

» the progress in, and the costs of, our preclirgtadies and clinical trials and other researchdewlopment program
» the scope, prioritization and number of our redearcd development progran

» the ability of our collaborators and us to te#étwe milestones, and other events or developmeigigering payments under our
collaboration agreements or to otherwise make paysnmder these agreemet

e our ability to enter into new, and to maintain &rig, collaboration and license agreeme

» the extent to which our collaborators are obligateteimburse us for clinical trial costs under oallaboration agreement
» the costs involved in filing, prosecuting, enfoigiand defending patent claims and other intellégit@perty rights

» the costs of securing manufacturing arrangementslifical or commercial productiol

» the costs of preparing applications for regulagpprovals for our product candidat

» the costs of establishing, or contracting $ades and marketing capabilities if we obtain ratpuly clearances to market our product
candidates; an

» the costs associated with litigatic

Until we can generate significant continuing revesiuve expect to satisfy our future cash needsigfirour existing cash, cash
equivalents and investment securities, stratedlatworations, private or public sales of our settesj debt financings, grant funding, or by
licensing all or a portion of our product candidate technology. Turmoil and volatility in the fimeial markets have adversely affected the
market capitalizations of many biotechnology conipsnand generally made equity and debt financingerdifficult to obtain. This, coupled
with other factors, may limit our access to additibfinancing. This could have a material adveffeceon our ability to access sufficient
funding. We cannot be certain that additional fagduvill be available to us on acceptable termstall. If we do obtain additional funding
through equity offerings, the ownership of our &rig stockholders and purchasers of shares of @wnmon stock in any such offering will be
diluted, and the terms of any financing may advgraffect the rights of our stockholders. In addlitj the issuance of additional shares by u
the possibility of such issuance, may cause thé&etarice of our shares to decline. If funds areawailable, we will be required to delay,
reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more ofesearch or development programs or our commizati@n efforts. We also could be
required to seek funds through arrangements withlmaration partners or otherwise that may requ&¢o relinquish rights to some of our
technologies or product candidates or otherwiseety terms unfavorable to us.

Our management has broad discretion over the us@wif cash and we may not use our cash effectivelitich could adversely affect our
results of operations.

Our management has significant flexibility in appty our cash resources, including the net procé&eds our recently completed public
offering, and could use these resources for cotpgrarposes that do not increase
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our market value, or in ways with which our stodklews may not agree. We may use our cash resolmcesrporate purposes that do not y
a significant return or any return at all for otwckholders, which could adversely affect our fetgrowth prospects.

Our lead product candidate, ITI-007, is only partay through the clinical trials we anticipate needirto complete before we may be able to
submit an NDA to the FDA. Clinical trials are longexpensive and unpredictable, and there is a higgkrof failure.

Preclinical testing and clinical trials are longpensive and unpredictable processes that cantpecsto delays. It may take several ye
to complete the preclinical testing and clinicalelepment necessary to commercialize a drug, alaysler failure can occur at any stage.
Interim results of clinical trials do not neceslapredict final results, and success in preclihteating and early clinical trials does not ensure
that later clinical trials will be successful. Amber of companies in the pharmaceutical and biokeldgy industries have suffered significant
setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even aftenpsing results in earlier trials.

In connection with clinical trials, we face riskesat a product candidate may not prove to be efificac patients may die or suffer other
adverse effects for reasons that may or may ne¢laged to the product candidate being testedrabelts may not confirm the positive results
of our earlier preclinical studies and clinicahts; and the results may not meet the level ofssizdl significance required by the FDA or other
regulatory agencies. If we do not successfully detegpreclinical and clinical development, we Vel unable to market and sell products
derived from our product candidates and to gengnatéuct revenues. Even if we do successfully ceteptlinical trials, those results are not
necessarily predictive of results of additionalgithat may be needed before an NDA may be sudmhtittthe FDA or the FDA may approve
the NDA.

Delays, suspensions and terminations in our clini¢gals could result in increased costs to us, dglour ability to generate product revent
and therefore may have a material adverse effectoom business, results of operations and future g prospects.

The commencement of clinical trials can be deldged variety of reasons, including delays in: destmating sufficient safety and
efficacy to obtain regulatory approval to commeadgginical trial; reaching agreement on acceptédiams with prospective contract research
organizations and clinical trial sites; manufagtgrsufficient quantities of a product candidateagbing clearance from the FDA to commence
clinical trials pursuant to an IND; obtaining irtational review board approval to conduct a clihicial at a prospective clinical trial site; and
patient enrollment, which is a function of manytéas, including the size of the patient populatith® nature of the protocol, the proximity of
patients to clinical trial sites, the availabil effective treatments for the relevant diseaskthe eligibility criteria for the clinical trial.

Once a clinical trial has begun, it may be delagedpended or terminated due to a number of fadgtmlsiding: ongoing discussions w
regulatory authorities regarding the scope or desigur clinical trials or requests by them fopplemental information with respect to our
clinical trial results; failure to conduct clinictilals in accordance with regulatory requiremeltsier than anticipated screening or retention
rates of patients in clinical trials; serious adecevents or side effects experienced by partitspand insufficient supply or deficient quality
product candidates or other materials necessampéoconduct of our clinical trials.

Many of these factors may also ultimately leadeaidl of regulatory approval of a current or poi@rgroduct candidate. If we
experience delays, suspensions or terminationglimiaal trial, our costs will increase, the commgial prospects for the related product
candidate will be harmed, and our ability to geteegoduct revenues will be delayed.

Safety issues with our product candidates, or wittoduct candidates or approved products of thirdrfies that are similar to our produc
candidates, could give rise to delays in the redatg approval process, restrictions on labeling product withdrawal after approval.

Problems with product candidates or approved prisdnarketed by third parties that utilize the saéinezapeutic target or that belong to
the same therapeutic class as our product candidated adversely affect the
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development, regulatory approval and commerciatimaf our product candidates. In 2012, the FDAaskd draft guidance recommending
that prospective suicidality assessments be peddiimclinical trials of any drug being developed & psychiatric indication. Our developm
programs are focused on psychiatric indications. FIDE1 program is a novel target and may have wetrd safety effects that do not appeal
until late in clinical development or after commat@pproval. To date, we have not experiencedt@atment-related serious adverse effects,
or SAEs, in clinical trials for any of our produmndidates; however, some approved products markgtéhird parties for psychiatric
indications that utilize different therapeutic tatgor are in a different therapeutic class hapeggnced SAEs. As we continue the
development and clinical trials of our product ddatks, there can be no assurance that our prodndidates will not experience any SAEs.

Discovery of previously unknown class effect protdemay prevent or delay clinical development andrmoercial approval of product
candidates or result in restrictions on permissiisies after their approval, including withdrawatted medicine from the market. Many drugs
acting on the CNS include boxed warnings and ptémasirelated to suicidal behavior or ideationyihg) impairment, somnolence/sedation
and dizziness, discontinuation, weight gain, nauiim dependent (type 1) diabetes, cardiovascsitde effects, sleep disturbances, and motor
disturbances. If we or others later identify undade side effects caused by the mechanisms afrecticlasses of our product candidates or
specific product candidates:

* we may be required to conduct additional chihicials or implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitiga Strategies program prior to
approval;

* regulatory authorities may not approve our pictandidates or, as a condition of approval, ireggpecific warnings and
contraindications

» regulatory authorities may withdraw their approefithe product and require us to take our druglaffmarket
* we may have limitations on how we promote our dr

» sales of products may decrease significal

e we may be subiject to litigation or product lialyildlaims; anc

* our reputation may suffe

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewingaintaining market acceptance of the affectedyct or could substantially
increase our commercialization costs and expemgash, in turn, could delay or prevent us from gatieg significant revenues from its sale.

Finally, if the FDA determines that a drug may pr@sa risk of substance abuse, it can recommetitetBrug Enforcement
Administration that the drug be scheduled undeiGbaetrolled Substances Act. Any failure or delagammencing or completing clinical trie
or obtaining regulatory approvals for our produmdidates would delay commercialization of our pidcandidates, and severely harm our
business and financial condition.

If we seek to enter into strategic alliances forrodrug candidates, but fail to enter into and maaih successful strategic alliances, we
have to reduce or delay our drug candidate develeptor increase our expenditures.

An important element of a biotechnology companyfategy for developing, manufacturing and commédimigy its drug candidates may
be to enter into strategic alliances with pharméicalcompanies or other industry participantsd@amce its programs and enable it to mair
its financial and operational capacity. We may fsigmificant competition in seeking appropriatéaaites. If we seek such alliances, we may
not be able to negotiate alliances on acceptabiestdf at all. In addition, these alliances mayubsuccessful. If we seek such alliances and
then fail to create and maintain suitable allianeesmay have to
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limit the size or scope of, or delay, one or mdreuwr drug development or research programs. leleet to fund drug development or researct
programs on our own, we will have to increase ogeaditures and will need to obtain additional fungd which may be unavailable or
available only on unfavorable terms.

To the extent we are able to enter into collabovatiarrangements or strategic alliances, we willdgosed to risks related to those
collaborations and alliances.

We are currently party to a license and collaboratigreement with Takeda. Biotechnology compariesiastage of development
sometimes become dependent upon collaborativegamaents or strategic alliances to complete theldpweent and commercialization of
drug candidates, particularly after the Phase @estd clinical testing. If we elect to enter intollaborative arrangements or strategic alliances,
these arrangements may place the development afrogrcandidates outside our control, may requsreouelinquish important rights or may
otherwise be on terms unfavorable to us.

Dependence on collaborative arrangements or sicaaéliances would subject us to a number of rigksluding the risk that:
* we may not be able to control the amount and tinoifigesources that our collaborators may devotaealrug candidate
» our collaborators may experience financial diffics;
* we may be required to relinquish important rigbtsch as marketing and distribution rigt

» business combinations or significant changesdnllaborator’s business strategy may also adiyeedfect a collaborator’s
willingness or ability to complete its obligationeder any arrangemei

e acollaborator could independently move forwarth a competing drug candidate developed eithéependently or in
collaboration with others, including our competioand

» collaborative arrangements are often terminatezllowed to expire, which would delay the deypeh@nt and may increase the cost
of developing our drug candidatt

Preliminary and interim data from our clinical stuigs that we may announce or publish from time tm& may change as more patient d:
become available.

From time to time, we may announce or publish priglary or interim data from our clinical studieselminary and interim results of a
clinical trial are not necessarily predictive afdl results. Preliminary and interim data are stutitjethe risk that one or more of the clinical
outcomes may materially change as patient enrolimemtinues and more patient data become availalsle. result, preliminary and interim
data should be viewed with caution until the fidata are available. Material adverse changes ifithkedata compared to the interim data
could significantly harm our business prospects.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinicalitils and perform data collection and analysis, whimay result in costs and delays that
prevent us from successfully commercializing ouropiuct candidates

Although we design and manage our current predirgtudies and clinical trials, we do not now hthe ability to conduct clinical trials
for our product candidates on our own. In additimour collaborators, we rely on contract researgjanizations, medical institutions, clinical
investigators, and contract laboratories to perfdata collection and analysis and other aspeatsio€linical trials. In addition, we also rely
third parties to assist with our preclinical stiglimcluding studies regarding biological activisafety, absorption, metabolism, and excretic
product candidates.

Our preclinical activities or clinical trials mag lelayed, suspended, or terminated if: the qualiyccuracy of the data obtained by the
third parties on whom we rely is compromised duthtor failure to adhere
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to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirenseat if for other reasons, these third parties atosnccessfully carry out their contractual du
or fail to meet regulatory obligations or expecteddlines, or these third parties need to be reglac

If the third parties on whom we rely fail to perforour development costs may increase, our aldigbtain regulatory approval, and
consequently, to commercialize our product candslatay be delayed or prevented altogether. Werttlyngse several contract research
organizations to perform services for our prechhigtudies and clinical trials. While we believattthere are numerous alternative sources to
provide these services, in the event that we saek alternative sources, we may not be able ta érttereplacement arrangements without
delays or incurring additional expenses.

Even if we successfully complete the clinical tsabf one or more of our product candidates, the guat candidates may fail for othe
reasons.

Even if we successfully complete the clinical s8ifdr one or more of our product candidates, tloelpet candidates may fail for other
reasons, including the possibility that the prodrarididates will:

» falil to receive the regulatory approvals requirednarket them as drug

» be subject to proprietary rights held by otherainéag the negotiation of a license agreement panarketing
» be difficult or expensive to manufacture on a comuiad scale

* have adverse side effects that make their uselesgable; o

» fail to compete with product candidates or otheatments commercialized by our competit

If we are unable to receive the required regulatgprovals, secure our intellectual property rightsimize the incidence of any adverse
side effects or fail to compete with our compestgroducts, our business, financial condition, agglilts of operations could be materially an
adversely affected.

Following regulatory approval of any of our drug calidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatatyligations and restrictions, which
may result in significant expense and limit our dity to commercialize our potential products.

With regard to our drug candidates, if any, appdolge the FDA or by another regulatory authority, ave held to extensive regulatory
requirements over product manufacturing, labelpagkaging, adverse event reporting, storage, dadweyt promotion and record keeping.
Regulatory approvals may also be subject to sicpnifi limitations on the indicated uses or marketihthe drug candidates. Potentially costly
follow-up or postmarketing clinical studies may be required as alitmm of approval to further substantiate safatgfficacy, or to investiga
specific issues of interest to the regulatory axitjoPreviously unknown problems with the drug diaate, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, may resuiestrictions on the marketing of the drug, and dontlude withdrawal of the drug from the
market.

In addition, the law or regulatory policies govemipharmaceuticals may change. New statutory reopgnts may be enacted or
additional regulations may be enacted that coutdqmt or delay regulatory approval of our drug édates. We cannot predict the likelihood,
nature or extent of adverse government regulatiahrhay arise from future legislation or administr&action, either in the United States or
elsewhere. If we are not able to maintain regujab@mpliance, we might not be permitted to marketdrugs and our business could suffer.
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Our product candidates may not gain acceptance am@mysicians, patients, or the medical communityeteby limiting our potential to
generate revenues, which will undermine our futuggowth prospects

Even if our product candidates are approved forroensial sale by the FDA or other regulatory auttiesi the degree of market
acceptance of any approved product candidate bsighps, health care professionals and third-paasors, and our profitability and growth
will depend on a number of factors, including:

« our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safatd efficacy

» pricing and cost effectiveness, which may be suligecegulatory control

» our ability to obtain sufficient thi-party insurance coverage or reimbursem
» effectiveness of our or our collaboraf sales and marketing stratey

+ relative convenience and ease of administra

» prevalence and severity of any adverse side effant

» availability of alternative treatment

If any product candidate that we develop does nmtige a treatment regimen that is at least asflmgleas the current standard of can
otherwise does not provide some additional patienefit over the current standard of care, thatlgpcowill not achieve market acceptance an
we will not generate sufficient revenues to achienditability.

The failure to attract and retain skilled personnahd key relationships could impair our drug develment and commercialization efforts.

We are highly dependent on our senior managemehkeyclinical development, scientific and techhjwarsonnel. Competition for
these types of personnel is intense. The losseo$éhvices of any member of our senior managerokmital development, scientific or
technical staff may significantly delay or prevém achievement of drug development and other basinbjectives and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating resottginancial condition. We also rely on consultamsl advisors to assist us in formulating our
strategy. All of our consultants and advisors diteee selfemployed or employed by other organizations, aeg thay have conflicts of intere
or other commitments, such as consulting or adyisontracts with other organizations, that mayaftaeir ability to contribute to us. We
intend to expand and develop new drug candidateswdl need additional funding to grow our busise#/e will need to hire additional
employees in order to continue our research amditalitrials and to market our drugs when approvidts strategy will require us to recruit
additional executive management and clinical dgulent, regulatory, scientific, technical and saled marketing personnel. There is
currently intense competition for skilled execusvand employees with relevant clinical developmsgigntific, technical and sales and
marketing expertise, and this competition is likelycontinue. The inability to attract and retaiffisient clinical development, scientific,
technical and managerial personnel, due to inteosgetition and our limited resources, would lioritdelay our product development efforts,
which would adversely affect the development of g candidates and commercialization of our pakdrugs and growth of our business.

We may not be able to continue or fully exploit opartnerships with outside scientific and clinicaldvisors, which could impair the progre
of our clinical trials and our research and develont efforts.

We work with scientific and clinical advisors atg@emic and other institutions who are experts éfigtld of CNS disorders. They advise
us with respect to our clinical trials. These adidsare not our employees and may have other canants that would limit their future
availability to us. If a conflict of interest arsbetween their work for us and their work for d&m@otentity, we may lose their services, which
may impair our reputation in the industry and detas development or commercialization of our praciamdidates.
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Relying on thirc-party manufacturers may result in delays in ouriical trials, regulatory approvals and product irgductions.

We have no manufacturing facilities and do not hextensive experience in the manufacturing of diarga designing drug-
manufacturing processes. We have contracted wiitth-gfarty manufacturers to produce, in collabomatidgth us, our product candidates,
including ITI-007, for clinical trials. If any ofur product candidates are approved by the FDAlegrategulatory agencies for commercial sale
we may need to amend our contract with our cummeartufacturer or contract with another third pactyrtanufacture them in larger quantities.
While we believe that there are alternative souaseslable to manufacture our product candidatethe event that we seek such alternative
sources, we may not be able to enter into replaneareangements without delays or additional exgares. We cannot estimate these delays
or costs with certainty but, if they were to ocdhiey could cause a delay in our development antheercialization efforts. We have not
entered into a long-term agreement with our curtleind-party manufacturer or with any alternateigys. Although we intend to do so prior
to any commercial launch of a product that is appdoby the FDA in order to ensure that we maintaiaquate supplies of commercial drug
product, we may be unable to enter into such ageatsror do so on commercially reasonable terms;iwtnuld delay a product launch or
subject our commercialization efforts to signifitanopply risk.

Manufacturers of our product candidates are obltgezperate in accordance with FDA-mandated cugent! manufacturing practices,
or cGMPs. In addition, the facilities used by oantract manufacturers or other third party manufias to manufacture our product candid
must be approved by the FDA pursuant to inspectioaswill be conducted after we request regulatpproval from the FDA. A failure of
any of our current or future contract manufactutersstablish and follow cGMPs and to documentr théherence to such practices may le¢
significant delays in clinical trials or in obtamng regulatory approval of product candidates ontiemate launch of products based on our
product candidates into the market. Failure bycaurent or future third-party manufacturers oraissamply with applicable regulations could
result in sanctions being imposed on us, includiimgs, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of tigevernment to grant pre-market approval of
drugs, delays, suspension or withdrawal of appe\saizures or recalls of products, operatingictns, and criminal prosecutions.

We will need to continue to manage our organizatiand we may encounter difficulties with our staffinand any future transitions, which
could adversely affect our results of operations.

We will need to manage our operations and facdlig&ectively in order to advance our drug develeptrprograms (including ITI-007,
ITI-214 and those compounds covered by our collaimm with Takeda), achieve milestones under manke and collaboration agreement
with Takeda, facilitate additional collaboratioasd pursue other development activities. It is idesshat our infrastructure may be inadequatt
to support our future efforts and growth. In partée, we may have to develop internal sales, margeaind distribution capabilities if we
decide to market any drug that we may succesdfigilyelop. We may not successfully manage our ope&mind, accordingly, may not achit
our research, development, and commercializati@isgo

Our ability to generate product revenues will baerdnished if our products do not receive coveragerfr payors or sell for inadequate prices,
or if patients are unable to obtain adequate levefseimbursement.

Patients who are prescribed medicine for the treatrof their conditions generally rely on third-yapayors to reimburse all or part of
the costs associated with their prescription dragequate coverage and reimbursement from govertahleealth care programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors iscetito new product acceptance. Coverage decisitmsdepend upon clinical and
economic standards that disfavor new drug produben more established or lower cost therapeuticratives are already available or
subsequently become available. Even if we obtawrei@mge for any approved products, the resultinglvearsement payment rates might not be
adequate or may require co-payments that patiendsihacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to arsg products we may market unless
coverage is provided and reimbursement is adedoatever a significant portion of the cost of thgseducts.
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In addition, the market for any products for whiga may receive regulatory approval will depend sigantly on access to third-party
payors’ drug formularies, or lists of medications fhich third-party payors provide coverage arichbeirsement. The industry competition to
be included in such formularies often leads to deanml pricing pressures on pharmaceutical compaaiss, third-party payors may refuse to
include a particular branded drug in their formidaror otherwise restrict patient access to a lmdmlug when a less costly generic equivalen
or other alternative is available.

Third-party payors, whether foreign or domestiocvggomental or commercial, are developing incredgiagphisticated methods of
controlling health care costs. In addition, in wited States, no uniform policy of coverage anchbeirsement for drug products exists among
third-party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimdament for drug products can differ significantigri payor to payor. As a result, the
coverage determination process is often a toresuming and costly process that will requireaugrbvide scientific and clinical support for 1
use of our product candidates to each payor seghgratith no assurance that coverage will be oletgirif we are unable to obtain coverage of,
and adequate payment levels for, our products ftord-party payors, physicians may limit how muctuader what circumstances they will
prescribe or administer them and patients may wke¢t purchase them. This in turn could affectahility to successfully commercialize any
approved products and thereby adversely impacpafitability, results of operations, financial abtion, and future success.

In the future, if we have products that are appraliehealth care legislation may make it more diffitto receive revenues from tho:
products.

In both the United States and certain foreign ficigons, there have been a number of legislatheragulatory proposals in recent years
to change the health care system in ways that éoydect our ability to sell our products profitablyg March 2010, the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health @aceEducation Affordability Reconciliation Act, oollectively, PPACA, became law in
the United States. PPACA substantially changedvidne health care is financed by both governmentdlmivate insurers and significantly
affects the health care industry. Among the provisiof PPACA of importance to our potential produamdidates are the following:

» imposition of an annual, nondeductible fee on amytyethat manufactures or imports certain brangiegscription drugs and biolog
agents, apportioned among these entities accotditigeir market share in certain government hezdtle programs

* anincrease in the statutory minimum rebatemaufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug RePabgram, retroactive to
January 1, 2010, to 23% and 13% of the average faetuwer price for most branded and generic driggpectively

» expansion of health care fraud and abuse leekiding the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickkegtatute, new government
investigative powers, and enhanced penalties focompliance

* anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discourgrpr, in which manufacturers must agree to offé& $int-of-sale discounts off
negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs tdtdédoeneficiaries during their coverage gap perasda condition for the
manufacture’ s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare®:

» extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebatbiliy to covered drugs dispensed to individualsovare enrolled in Medicaid
managed care organizatiol

» expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicajgtograms by, among other things, allowing statesffier Medicaid coverage to
additional individuals beginning in 2014 and by iaddnew mandatory eligibility categories for cent&ndividuals with income at «
below 133% of the Federal Poverty Level, therebptially increasing manufactur’ Medicaid rebate liability

» expansion of the entities eligible for discountslemthe Public Health Service pharmaceutical pgigirogram
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* new requirements to report certain financishagements with physicians and teaching hospitatkjding reporting any “payments
or transfers of value” made or distributed to prigsrs, teaching hospitals and other health caeigers and reporting any
ownership and investment interests held by physicend their immediate family members and applegbbup purchasing
organizations during the preceding calendar yeiih, aata reporting to the Centers for Medicare &didaid Services to be requir
by March 31, 2014 and by the 90th day of each sples# calendar yes

e anew requirement to annually report drug samlasrhanufacturers and distributors provide to pligas; anc

* anew Patient-Centered Outcomes Researchutestd oversee, identify priorities in, and condeminparative clinical effectiveness
research, along with funding for such resea

Many of the details regarding the implementatio®BACA are yet to be determined and, at this tilmemains unclear what the full
effect that PPACA will have on our business. Asttime, it remains unclear whether there will bg fumther changes made to PPACA,
whether in part or in its entirety. Some statesshiadicated that they intend not to implement dersactions of PPACA, and some members o
the U.S. Congress are still working to repeal PPAG/& cannot predict whether these challenges wiitioue or other proposals will be made
or adopted, or what impact these efforts may haveso

In addition, in many foreign countries, particwatthe countries of the European Union, the pri@hgrescription drugs is subject to
government control. In some non-U.S. jurisdictidhg, proposed pricing for a drug must be approefdri it may be lawfully marketed. The
requirements governing drug pricing vary widelynfreountry to country. For example, the Europearobmpirovides options for its member
states to restrict the range of medicinal prodfatsvhich their national health insurance systemmvigle reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A manskete may approve a specific price for the medigbroduct or it may instead adopt a
system of direct or indirect controls on the patfitity of the company placing the medicinal prodor the market. We may face competition
from lower-priced products in foreign countriestthave placed price controls on pharmaceuticalyctsd In addition, there may be
importation of foreign products that compete witly @roducts we may market, which could negativeipact our profitability.

We expect that PPACA, as well as other health foem measures that may be adopted in the fuhoag, result in more rigorous
coverage criteria and in additional downward pressun the price that we may receive for any appmtgueduct. Any reduction in
reimbursement from Medicare or other governmenganms may result in a similar reduction in paymérm private payors. The
implementation of cost containment measures o dtbalth care reforms may prevent us from being tdbbenerate revenue, attain
profitability, or commercialize any products for iwh we receive regulatory approval.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirapabilities or enter into agreements with third gas to sell and market any products
may develop, we may not be able to generate procaatnue.

We do not currently have an organization for tHesamarketing or distribution of pharmaceuticalgucts. In order to market any
products that may be approved by the FDA, we muitd lour sales, marketing, managerial, and relatgghbilities or make arrangements with
third parties to perform these critical commersiailvices. If we are unable to establish adequégs,saarketing, and distribution capabilities,
whether independently or with third parties, we maybe able to generate product revenue and midyecome profitable.

There are possible limitations on our use of netevpting losses.

As of December 31, 2013, we had net operatingdasyforwards of approximately $49.3 million to teé future federal and state
taxable income through 2034. Since we had net tipgrioss carryforwards as of
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December 31, 2013 and 2012, no excess tax befwfifse tax deductions related to share-based anmede recognized in the statements of
operations. The net operating loss carryforwardsppiroximately $49.3 million as of December 31,204l begin to expire in the year 203(
unused. The use of our net operating loss carrgaisrmay be restricted due to changes in our olwimeriscluding as a result of our recent
public offering in February 2014.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresirdaarnal computer systems, and those of ouradiniesearch organizations and othel
third parties on which we rely, are vulnerable éondige from computer viruses, unauthorized accass;at disasters, terrorism, war and
telecommunication and electrical failures. If sachevent were to occur and cause interruptionsiiroperations, it could result in a material
disruption of our drug development programs. Fameple, the loss of clinical trial data from complkkbr ongoing or planned clinical trials
could result in delays in our regulatory approviéores and significantly increase our costs to reoor reproduce the data. To the extent that
any disruption or security breach were to result lnss of or damage to our data or applicationgappropriate disclosure of confidential or
proprietary information, we could incur liabilityd the further development of our product candelatauld be delayed.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our ability to compete may be undermined if we dot adequately protect our proprietary rights.

Our commercial success depends on obtaining anatai@ing proprietary rights to our product candétaaind technologies and their
uses, as well as successfully defending thesesraginst third-party challenges. We will only tseao protect our product candidates,
proprietary technologies, and their uses from umanigzed use by third parties to the extent thaithvahd enforceable patents, or effectively
protected trade secrets, cover them. We have padgrs under issued patents in many cases covetingT1-007 and ITI-002 development
programs. Nonetheless, the issued patents andt ggijglications covering our primary technology peogs remain subject to uncertainty and
continuous monitoring and action by us due to alemof factors, including:

* we may not have been the first to make the invest@mvered by our pending patent applicationssureid patents

* we may not have been the first to file patent aapions for our product candidates or the techriefoge rely upon

» others may independently develop similar or altéveaechnologies or duplicate any of our technisg

« our disclosures in patent applications may notuficgent to meet the statutory requirements fotepéability;

« any or all of our pending patent applications maynesult in issued paten

* we may not seek or obtain patent protection ic@lintries that will eventually provide a signifi¢dousiness opportunit

* any patents issued to us or our collaboratag not provide a basis for commercially viable pratd, may not provide us with any
competitive advantages or may be challenged by {rarties:

» our proprietary technologies may not be patent:
» others may design around our patent claims to m®dompetitive products which fall outside of tikese of our patent:
» others may identify prior art which could invalidadur patents; ar

» changes to patent laws that limit the exclusivights of patent holder:
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Even if we have or obtain patents covering our pobdandidates or technologies, we may still bedabairom making, using and selling
our product candidates or technologies becaudeegbatent rights of others. Others have or may Filate and in the future are likely to file,
patent applications covering compounds, assaygsggene products and therapeutic products thairaikar or identical to ours. There are
many issued U.S. and foreign patents relating tegenucleic acids, polypeptides, chemical compsumdherapeutic products, and some of
these may encompass reagents utilized in the fabatitbn of candidate drug compounds or compouhdswe desire to commercialize.
Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pemuditent applications owned by others exist inattea of central nervous system disor¢
and the other fields in which we are developingdpiats. These could materially affect our abilityd&velop our product candidates or sell our
products. Because patent applications can take yeamg to issue, there may be currently pendingicgtipns, unknown to us, that may later
result in issued patents that our product candédatéechnologies may infringe. These patent apfitins may have priority over patent
applications filed by us.

We regularly conduct searches to identify patenysatent applications that may prevent us fromiobig patent protection for our
proprietary compounds or that could limit the righte have claimed in our patents and patent apioliitsa Disputes may arise regarding the
ownership or inventorship of our inventions. Itifficult to determine how such disputes would bealved. Others may challenge the validity
of our patents. If our patents are found to belidyave will lose the ability to exclude others finamaking, using or selling the inventions
claimed therein.

Some of our academic institutional licensors, regeaollaborators and scientific advisors havetsgh publish data and information to
which we have rights. If we cannot maintain thefmentiality of our technology and other confidettinformation in connection with our
collaborations, then our ability to receive paterdtection or protect our proprietary informatioiil\lwe impaired. Additionally, any employee
whose employment with us terminates, whether vealiigtby the employee or by us in connection webtructurings or otherwise, may seek
future employment with our competitors. Althougltleaf our employees is required to sign a confidditit agreement with us at the time of
hire, we cannot guarantee that the confidentialneadf our proprietary information will be mainteihin the course of such future employm
In addition, technology that we may license-in rbagome important to some aspects of our businesgyailerally will not control the patent
prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of in-Beeintechnology.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otharay not adequately prevent disclosure of our &amkcrets and other proprietary
information and may not adequately protect our itiextual property, which could limit our ability taompete.

Because we operate in the highly technical fieldroig discovery and development of small moleculmsl, we rely in part on trade
secret protection in order to protect our proprietachnology and processes. However, trade searetdifficult to protect. We enter into
confidentiality and intellectual property assignmagreements with our corporate partners, employ®esultants, outside scientific
collaborators, sponsored researchers, and othesarglvThese agreements generally require thaittier party keep confidential and not
disclose to third parties all confidential inforneat developed by the party or made known to théydayr us during the course of the party’s
relationship with us. These agreements also gdpgnalvide that inventions conceived by the parntyhie course of rendering services to us
be our exclusive property. However, these agreesmeal not be honored and may not effectively assiglectual property rights to us.
Enforcing a claim that a party illegally obtainettds using our trade secrets is difficult, expeasind time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the EthiStates may be less willing to protect tradeetecihe failure to obtain or maintain trade
secret protection could adversely affect our coitipetposition.
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A dispute concerning the infringement or misappraation of our proprietary rights or the proprietaryights of others could be tim
consuming and costly, and an unfavorable outcomeiltbharm our business.

There is significant litigation in our industry @gling patent and other intellectual property sgh/hile we are not currently subject to
any pending intellectual property litigation, arré aot aware of any such threatened litigationnvag be exposed to future litigation by third
parties based on claims that our product candigieknologies or activities infringe the intellegk property rights of others. If our drug
development activities are found to infringe anglspatents, we may have to pay significant damagesek licenses to such patents. We ma
need to resort to litigation to enforce a patestiésl to us, protect our trade secrets or deterthescope and validity of third-party proprietary
rights. From time to time, we may hire scientifierponnel formerly employed by other companies w&olin one or more areas similar to the
activities conducted by us. Either we or theseviddials may be subject to allegations of tradeetaunisappropriation or other similar claims
a result of their prior affiliations. If we becoriresolved in litigation, it could consume a substahportion of our managerial and financial
resources, regardless of whether we win or losealdemay not be able to afford the costs of Ittaya

The patent applications of pharmaceutical and biotmology companies involve highly complex legal afadtual questions, which, if
determined adversely to us, could negatively impagt patent position.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldyy companies can be highly uncertain and invotv@plex legal and factual
qguestions. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Officg’s|SPTO’s, standards are uncertain and could eanthe future. Consequently, the
issuance and scope of patents cannot be predidtiedevtainty. Patents, if issued, may be challeihgevalidated or circumvented. U.S. pate
and patent applications may also be subject toferEnce proceedings, and U.S. patents may bedubjeeexamination proceedings in the
USPTO (and foreign patents may be subject to ofipogir comparable proceedings in the corresponftirgign patent office), which
proceedings could result in either loss of the mpiade denial of the patent application or lossestuction in the scope of one or more of the
claims of the patent or patent application. Sinlampposition or invalidity proceedings could risao loss of rights or reduction in the scopt
one or more claims of a patent in foreign jurisdics. In addition, such interference, reexaminatiod opposition proceedings may be costly.
Accordingly, rights under any issued patents maypnavide us with sufficient protection against quetitive products or processes.

In addition, changes in or different interpretatiarf patent laws in the United States and foremméries may permit others to use our
discoveries or to develop and commercialize ounretogy and products without providing any compéinseo us or may limit the number of
patents or claims we can obtain. In particularrgheave been proposals to shorten the exclusieitip@s available under U.S. patent law the
adopted, could substantially harm our business.pfbduct candidates that we are developing arepied by intellectual property rights,
including patents and patent applications. If ahgur product candidates becomes a marketable ptode will rely on our exclusivity under
patents to sell the compound and recoup our invagsrin the research and development of the conthdtithe exclusivity period for patents
is shortened, then our ability to generate revemuittwut competition will be reduced and our buskeould be materially adversely impacted
The laws of some countries do not protect intaliacproperty rights to the same extent as U.S. lawd those countries may lack adequate
rules and procedures for defending our intellegwaperty rights. For example, some countries uidicig many in Europe, do not grant patent
claims directed to methods of treating humans emtihese countries, patent protection may not laéla@ve at all to protect our product
candidates. In addition, U.S. patent laws may chantpich could prevent or limit us from filing pateapplications or patent claims to protect
our products and/or technologies or limit the eglity periods that are available to patent holdEs example, the Leahy-Smith America
Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was recentfyned into law and includes a number of significeiminges to U.S. patent law. These
include changes to transition from a “first-to-imgesystem to a “first-to-file” system and to thewissued patents are challenged. These
changes may favor larger and more established coepthat have more resources to devote to papgtfication filing and prosecution. The
USPTO has been in the process of implementing atiguk and procedures to administer the Leahy-SAdthand many of the substantive
changes to patent law associated with the LeahykSiat may
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affect our ability to obtain, enforce or defend patents. Accordingly, it is not clear what, if aimyppact the Leahy-Smith Act will ultimately
have on the cost of prosecuting our patent appdicat our ability to obtain patents based on oscalveries and our ability to enforce or defenc
our issued patents.

If we fail to obtain and maintain patent protectamd trade secret protection of our product carndsjgroprietary technologies and their
uses, we could lose our competitive advantage ampetition we face would increase, reducing oueptial revenues and adversely affecting
our ability to attain or maintain profitability.

Risks Related to Our Industry

We will be subject to stringent regulation in conctéon with the marketing of any products derivedfn our product candidates, which
could delay the development and commercializatidroor products.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to stringegulation by the FDA and other regulatory agehaiethe United States and by
comparable authorities in other countries. Neithhemor our collaborators can market a pharmacdutioauct in the United States until it has
completed rigorous preclinical testing and clinigélls and an extensive regulatory clearance m®oaplemented by the FDA. Satisfaction of
regulatory requirements typically takes many yedepends upon the type, complexity and novelthefdroduct, and requires substantial
resources. Even if regulatory approval is obtaiitatiay impose significant restrictions on the oated uses, conditions for use, labeling,
advertising, promotion, and/or marketing of sucbdurcts, and requirements for post-approval studiesjding additional research and
development and clinical trials. These limitationay limit the size of the market for the productesult in the incurrence of additional costs.
Any delay or failure in obtaining required appravabuld have a material adverse effect on ourtglidigenerate revenues and continue our
business.

Outside the United States, the ability to markptaduct is contingent upon receiving approval fritve appropriate regulatory authoriti
The requirements governing the conduct of clinidals, marketing authorization, pricing, and reiméement vary widely from country to
country. Only after the appropriate regulatory autly is satisfied that adequate evidence of safgtlity, and efficacy has been presented
it grant a marketing authorization. Approval by #2A does not automatically lead to the approvatdnulatory authorities outside the United
States and, similarly, approval by regulatory atitles outside the United States will not autorradticlead to FDA approval.

Many of our competitors have greater resources arapital than us, putting us at a competitive disaaage. If our competitors develop a
market products that are more effective than ouroduct candidates, they may reduce or eliminate commercial opportunity.

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnolioglystries is intense and increasing. We face etitign from pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, as well as numerous adaderd research institutions and governmental dgenboth in the United States and
abroad. Some of these competitors have produaseguursuing the development of drugs that talgesame diseases and conditions that are
the focus of our drug development programs.

For example, our potential products for the treatinod acute schizophrenia would compete with, amathgr branded products, Abilify
®  marketed jointly by Bristol-Myers Squibb and (kauPharmaceutical, Fangpt marketed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals, SeroquePXR
marketed by AstraZeneca, Invegamarketed by Janssen, and Lat@danarketed by Sunovion. In addition, our producils s@mpete with,
among other generic antipsychotic drugs, halopéritiperidone, quetiapine, olanzapine and clozapin

Many of our competitors and their collaboratorsénaignificantly greater experience than we do enftilowing:

» identifying and validating target
e screening compounds against targ
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» preclinical studies and clinical trials of potehp@armaceutical products; a

» obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvi

In addition, many of our competitors and their abtirators have substantially greater capital agelareh and development resources,
manufacturing, sales and marketing capabilitied, @oduction facilities. Smaller companies also meyve to be significant competitors,
particularly through proprietary research discoeernd collaboration arrangements with large pheemtacal and established biotechnology
companies. Many of our competitors have produashiave been approved or are in advanced develd@mdmmay develop superior
technologies or methods to identify and validatggdiargets and to discover novel small moleculgsir@ur competitors, either alone or with
their collaborators, may succeed in developing slithgt are more effective, safer, more affordadnlenore easily administered than ours and
may achieve patent protection or commercialize sis@pner than us. Our competitors may also dea@temative therapies that could further
limit the market for any drugs that we may develOpr failure to compete effectively could have aenal adverse effect on our business.

Any claims relating to improper handling, storager disposal of biological, hazardous, and radioaatimaterials used in our business cot
be costly and delay our research and developmefure.

Our research and development activities involvectirgrolled use of potentially harmful hazardouderials, including volatile solvents,
biological materials such as blood from patientd tiave the potential to transmit disease, chemitbalt cause cancer, and various radioactive
compounds. Our operations also produce hazardoste \weoducts. We face the risk of contaminatiompry from the use, storage, handling
or disposal of these materials. We are subjeaderfl, state and local laws and regulations gavgithe use, storage, handling, and dispos
these materials and specified waste products. dseof compliance with these laws and regulatiangdatbe significant, and current or future
environmental regulations may impair our reseagletvelopment, or production efforts. If one of omptoyees were accidentally injured from
the use, storage, handling, or disposal of thedermabs, the medical costs related to his or heatent would be covered by our workers’
compensation insurance policy. However, we do aatycspecific biological or hazardous waste insaeacoverage and our general liability
insurance policy specifically excludes coveragedmmages and fines arising from biological or hd@as waste exposure or contamination.
Accordingly, in the event of contamination or injuwe could be subject to criminal sanctions oesior be held liable for damages, our
operating licenses could be revoked, and we coailicbuired to suspend or modify our operationsamdesearch and development efforts.

Consumers may sue us for product liability, whicbudd result in substantial liabilities that exceealir available resources and damage our
reputation.

Researching, developing, and commercializing dmeglypcts entail significant product liability risksiability claims may arise from our
and our collaborators’ use of products in clinicals and the commercial sale of those produat®isGmers may make these claims directly
and our collaborators or others selling these prtsdonay seek contribution from us if they receilams from consumers. We have obtained
limited product liability insurance coverage foralinical trials. Our product liability insurano®verage for clinical trials is currently limited
to an aggregate of $10 million. As such, our ineaeacoverage may not reimburse us or may not igigaf to reimburse us for any expenses
or losses we may suffer. Although we currently haraduct liability insurance that covers our clalitrials, we will need to increase and
expand this coverage as we commence larger s@kednd if our product candidates are approveddonmercial sale. This insurance may be
prohibitively expensive or may not fully cover quotential liabilities. Inability to obtain sufficig insurance coverage at an acceptable cost ol
otherwise to protect against potential productilighclaims could prevent or inhibit the commercation of products that we or our
collaborators develop. Product liability claims lwbhave a material adverse effect on our businedgesults of operations. Our liability could
exceed our total assets if we do not prevail iaveslit from any injury caused by our drug products.
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Risks Relating to Owning Our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly and yaunay have difficulty selling your shares based amrent trading volumes of our stock. |
addition, numerous other factors could result in lsstantial volatility in the trading price of our stck.

Since January 31, 2014, shares of our common $t@e been listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Mar&etl from December 20,
2013 to January 30, 2014, shares of our commork stece quoted for trading on the OTC Markets—OTCi@B or OTCQB, in very limited
volume. As of March 20, 2014, the price per shdreuo common stock has ranged from a high of $2102%low of $10.00. Prior to
December 20, 2013, our common stock was not pykiiaded. We cannot predict the extent to which itresterest in our company will le
to the development of an active trading markettenNASDAQ Global Select Market or any other excleaimgthe future. We have several
stockholders, including affiliated stockholders,oniold substantial blocks of our stock. Sales afjdanumbers of shares by any of our large
stockholders could adversely affect our tradingearparticularly given our small historic tradinglwmes. If stockholders holding shares of oul
common stock sell, indicate an intention to selif @ is perceived that they will sell, substaitamounts of their common stock in the public
market, the trading price of our common stock calédline. Moreover, if there is no active tradingriet or if the volume of trading is limite
holders of our common stock may have difficultylisgltheir shares.

In addition, the trading price of our common stocky be highly volatile and could be subject to widetuations in response to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control. €Hastors include:

e actual or anticipated quarterly variation in owsuiés of operations or the results of our competijt

« announcements of medical innovations or new pradogtour competitor:

» issuance of new or changed securities an¢ reports or recommendations for our stc

» developments or disputes concerning our intellégit@perty or other proprietary righi

e commencement of, or our involvement in, litigati

« market conditions in the biopharmaceutical indus

» timing and announcement of regulatory approv

» any future sales of our common stock or other sgéesiin connection with raising additional capitalotherwise
* any major change to the composition of our boardirgctors or management; a

» general economic conditions and slow or negatiesvtyt of our markets

The stock market in general, and market price¢hfersecurities of biotechnology companies like dagarticular, have from time to tir
experienced volatility that often has been unrelatethe operating performance of the underlyingupanies. These broad market and industry
fluctuations may adversely affect the market pdteur common stock, regardless of our operatirmppmance. In several recent situations
where the market price of a stock has been voldtdklers of that stock have instituted securitiess action litigation against the company
issued the stock. If any of our stockholders werbring a lawsuit against us, the defense and digpo of the lawsuit could be costly and
divert the time and attention of our managementtardh our operating results.
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The resale of shares covered by our effective shedfistration statement and the resale of sharesommon stock issued in our recently
completed public offering could adversely affecetmarket price of our common stock in the public rkat, which result would in turn
negatively affect our ability to raise additionabaity capital.

The sale, or availability for sale, of our commaewock in the public market may adversely affectphevailing market price of our
common stock and may impair our ability to raisdiadnal capital by selling equity or equity-linkaécurities. We filed a registration
statement with the SEC, which was declared effeativ December 18, 2013, to register the resalé 862,496 shares of our common stock,
which represents substantially all of the sharesunfcommon stock issued in connection with thedéerThe shelf registration statement
permits the resale of these shares at any timgaub applicable lock-up restrictions describedtém 13 of this report under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactiond,Zirector Independence — Agreements with Stocldrsld In addition, we recently issued
7,063,300 shares of common stock in our publicroféewhich closed on February 5, 2014. The reshiesubstantial number of shares of our
common stock in the public market could adverséflgcathe market price for our common stock and enigknore difficult for you to sell
shares of our common stock at times and pricesythafeel are appropriate. Furthermore, we exget because there are a large number of
shares registered pursuant to the shelf registratatement, the selling stockholders named in segistration statement will continue to offer
shares covered by the shelf registration statefoemat significant period of time, the precise digatof which cannot be predicted.
Accordingly, the adverse market and price presswsdting from an offering pursuant to the sheffistration statement may continue for an
extended period of time and continued negativespireson the market price of our common stock chake a material adverse effect on our
ability to raise additional equity capital.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shas of common stock is restricted from immediatealesbut may be sold into the market
the near future. This could cause the market prioEour common stock to drop significantly, evendi@ir business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camstock in the public market could occur in thifa. These sales, or the perception
in the market that the holders of a large numbeshafes of common stock intend to sell sharesdamauce the market price of our common
stock. Our directors, executive officers and cartockholders own an aggregate of approximate#Q8467 shares of our common stock
are subject to a lock-up agreement with us conthiime¢he Registration Rights Agreement and/or assp lock-up agreement with the
underwriters in our recently completed public afigrpursuant to which these persons have agrebjtciuo specified exceptions, not to sell,
transfer, dispose of, contract to sell, sell antfappor contract to purchase, or otherwise transfatispose of, directly or indirectly, without the
written consent of the underwriters, any sharesunfcommon stock or any securities convertible ortexercisable or exchangeable for share:
of our common stock prior to April 30, 2014. Onbede lock-up provisions expire, these shares, wdriehiegistered on our shelf registration
statement that was declared effective on Deceme2(13, can be freely sold in the public markdticlv could cause the market price of our
common stock to drop significantly.

At any time when our shelf registration statementynnot be available, the liquidity and price of oaommon stock could significantl
decline and it may be difficult for you to sell yoshares, if at all.

Although we filed a registration statement with 8#C, which was declared effective on DecembePQ@83, to register the resale of
21,961,496 shares of our common stock, which repitssubstantially all of the shares of our comstogk issued in connection with the
Merger, and the shelf registration statement parthi¢ resale of these shares at any time, subjegplicable lock-up restrictions, such
registration may not be available at all times. & not currently eligible to register the resdleuwr common stock included in our shelf
registration statement on Form S-3, and, therefaree registered the resale of these securiti€®an S-1. As a result, under certain
circumstances, we must update the registratioersgtt for the resale of such shares of our comnoak dvy filing post-effective amendments
to the registration statement that will not be etfifee until each is declared
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effective by the SEC. Between the time it is deteed that the registration statement must be ugdagea post-effective amendment and the
time the SEC declares the applicable post-effeetimendment effective, the registration statemelitnot be available for use and the price of
our common stock could decline during that timee BEEC has broad discretion to determine whetheregigtration statement (including any
post-effective amendment) will be declared effexnd may delay or deny the effectiveness of agigtration statement or post-effective
amendment filed by us for a variety of reasons.rdtoee, at any time when our shelf registrationiesteent may not be available, the liquidity
and price of our common stock could significanthclihe and it may be difficult for you to sell yosinares, if at all.

The price of our common stock could be subject tbatility related or unrelated to our operations.

The market price of our common stock could flucdusibstantially due to a variety of factors, inahgdmarket perception of our ability
to meet our growth projections and expectationaytguly operating results of other companies inséume industry, trading volume in our
common stock, changes in general conditions iretemomy and the financial markets or other devetgmaffecting our business and the
business of others in our industry. In additior, $stock market itself is subject to extreme pricé @olume fluctuations. This volatility has had
a significant effect on the market price of sedesiissued by many companies for reasons relai@d@elated to their operating performance
and could have the same effect on our common stock.

Management and certain members of our board of di@rs beneficially own a substantial amount of oautstanding equity securities ar
will be able to exert substantial control over us.

Our executive officers and directors beneficiallynoa substantial percentage of the outstandingyegecurities of the Company.
Accordingly, if they act as a group, the executiféicers and directors of the Company will be atolenake all business decisions, including
with respect to such matters as amendments toghg@nys charter, other fundamental corporate transagtgueh as mergers, asset sales
the sale of the Company, and otherwise will be &bidirect the Company’s business and affairs.

We will incur increased costs and demands upon mgemaent as a result of complying with the laws aredjulations affecting public
companies, which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we will incur significant légaccounting and other expenses, including caste@ated with public company
reporting requirements. We will also incur costsoasated with current corporate governance requargs) including requirements under
Section 404 and other provisions of the SarbandeyOixct, as well as rules implemented by the SEGherNASDAQ Global Select Market or
any other stock exchange or inter-dealer quotasyetem on which our common stock may be listatiénfuture. The expenses incurred by
public companies for reporting and corporate goarce purposes have increased dramatically in rgeams. We expect these rules and
regulations to substantially increase our legalfamahcial compliance costs and to make some dietsvimore time-consuming and costly. We
are unable currently to estimate these costs wighdagree of certainty. We also expect that thesemiles and regulations may make it
difficult and expensive for us to retain our dicand officer liability insurance, and if we at@eto retain such insurance, we may be reqt
to accept reduced policy limits and coverage ouiirstibstantially higher costs to obtain the sansroilar coverage available to privately-held
companies. As a result, it may be more difficuttdis to attract and retain qualified individualssyve on our board of directors or as our
executive officers.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective interdaontrols, our ability to produce accurate and tety financial statements could k
impaired, which could harm our operating resultsupability to operate our business and investor&ws of us.

We are required to comply with Section 404 of tlagb@nes-Oxley Act. Section 404 of the SarbanesyOx&e requires public companies
to conduct an annual review and evaluation of timérnal controls and, for
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public companies that are not emerging growth caongsa attestations of the effectiveness of intecoatrols by independent auditors.
Ensuring that we have adequate internal financidlaccounting controls and procedures in placéaovwe can produce accurate financial
statements on a timely basis is a costly and tioreseming effort that will need to be evaluated @rextly. Our failure to maintain the
effectiveness of our internal controls in accor@awith the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Aatdchave a material adverse effect on ou
business. We could lose investor confidence iratteeiracy and completeness of our financial repatgch could have an adverse effect or
price of our common stock. In addition, if our effoto comply with new or changed laws, regulatj@msl standards differ from the activities
intended by regulatory or governing bodies duembiguities related to practice, regulatory authesitmay initiate legal proceedings against u
and our business may be harmed.

We are an emerging growth company and the reducestidsure requirements applicable to emerging gravebmpanies could make our
common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company under the JOBSFAC as long as we continue to be an emergingithroompany, we intend to
take advantage of certain exemptions from variepsiting requirements that are applicable to gplsdtic companies, which may include, but
are not limited to, reduced disclosure obligatioegarding executive compensation in our periodiores and proxy statements, exemptions
from the requirements of holding a nonbinding admisstockholder vote on executive compensationaandgolden parachute payments not
previously approved, and exemption from the reaquéet of auditor attestation in the assessment pind@rnal control over financial reportir
If we do take advantage of these exemptions, tleeriration that we provide stockholders may be dé#fife than what is available with respect
to other public companies. We cannot predict iestors will find our common stock less attractieeduse we will rely on these exemption:
some investors find our common stock less attraciva result, there may be a less active tradargenfor our common stock and our stock
price may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies edaydadopting new or revised accounting standantifsuch time as those
standards apply to private companies. However,ave lirrevocably elected not to avail ourselveshif extended transition period for
complying with new or revised accounting standauad, therefore, we will be subject to the same aerevised accounting standards as othe
public companies that are not emerging growth congsa

We will remain an emerging growth company until #aliest of (1) the end of the fiscal year in whibe market value of our common
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $7@0an as of the end of the second fiscal quari®ythe end of the fiscal year in which we have
total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or marerdy such fiscal year, (3) the date on which veeiésmore than $1 billion in non-convertible
debt in a three-year period or (4) the end of ibeaf year following the fifth anniversary of thatd of the first sale of our common stock
pursuant to an effective registration statemeatfilnder the Securities Act of 1933, as amendetthecBecurities Act. Our first registration
statement filed under the Securities Act was dedlaffective on December 18, 2013. Decreased disds in our SEC filings due to our stz
as an “emerging growth company” may make it hafdeinvestors to analyze our results of operatiang financial prospects.

If securities or industry analysts do not publisbr cease publishing, research or reports about asy business or our market, or if the
change their recommendations regarding our stockvadsely, our stock price and trading volume couleatine.

As the trading market for our common stock develdips trading market for our common stock is anliva influenced by whether
industry or securities analysts publish or contitmpublish research and reports about us, ounbkssj our market or our competitors and, to
the extent analysts do publish such reports, wiet publish in those reports. We may not contirmuleave or to obtain analyst coverage in the
future. Any analysts that do cover us may make i@#dveecommendations regarding our stock, advecselgge their recommendations from
time to time, and/or provide more favorable relatiecommendations about our
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competitors. If any analyst who covers us or mayecais in the future were to cease coverage otompany or fail to regularly publish
reports on us, or if analysts fail to cover us ablsh reports about us at all, we could lose,eren gain, visibility in the financial markets,
which in turn could cause our stock price or trgdiolume to decline.

Provisions of the Delaware law, our restated cadifte of incorporation and our restated bylaws mdglay or prevent a takeover which m
not be in the best interests of our stockholders.

The provisions of Delaware law and our restatetifamte of incorporation and restated bylaws cadiktourage or make it more diffici
to accomplish a proxy contest or other change muanagement or the acquisition of control by albpbf a substantial amount of our voting
stock. It is possible that these provisions coustkenit more difficult to accomplish, or could deteansactions that stockholders may otherwis
consider to be in their best interests or in ot i@erests. These provisions are intended torerghtie likelihood of continuity and stability in
the composition of our board of directors and ia plolicies formulated by the board of directors emdiscourage certain types of transactions
that may involve an actual or threatened changriotontrol. These provisions are designed to redur vulnerability to an unsolicited
acquisition proposal and to discourage certaindattat may be used in proxy fights. Such provisialso may have the effect of preventing
changes in our management.

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in tloeeseeable future.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsféinding growth. We do not anticipate paying ainyidends in the foreseeable future. As a
result, you should not rely on an investment in geourities if you require dividend income. Capétppreciation, if any, of our shares may be
your sole source of gain for the foreseeable futMi@eover, you may not be able t-sell your shares at or above the price you paidhfem.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS

This report includes forward-looking statementdhnitthe meaning of Section 27A of the Securities #&wd Section 21E of the Exchange
Act that relate to future events or our future ficial performance and involve known and unknowksiisincertainties and other factors that
may cause our actual results, levels of activigrfgrmance or achievements to differ materiallyrfrany future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements expressed or impligtidse forward-looking statements. Words such atspdit limited to, “believe,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,”potential,” “predict,” “project,” “targets,” “likdy,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,”
“continue,” and similar expressions or phrasethemegative of those expressions or phrasesnteded to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forwdabking statements contain these identifying woAlthough we believe that we have a reasonablestiat
each forward-looking statement contained in thpore we caution you that these statements aredlmseur projections of the future that are
subject to known and unknown risks and uncertardied other factors that may cause our actualtsesenvel of activity, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by these fonleanking statements, to differ. The description of Business set forth in Item 1, the Risk
Factors set forth in this Item 1A and our Managersddiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditemmd Results of Operations set forth in
Item 7 as well as other sections in this reposguass some of the factors that could contributbdee differences. These forward-looking
statements include, among other things, statenadist:

» the accuracy of our estimates regarding expensesefrevenues and capital requireme
« the initiation, cost, timing, progress and resaftsur development activities, preclinical studasl clinical trials

» the timing of and our ability to obtain and miain regulatory approval of our existing produahdidates, any product candidates
that we may develop, and any related restrictiimstations, and/or warnings in the label of anysegpved product candidate

» our plans to research, develop and commercializéubure product candidate
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» our collaborator election to pursue research, development and coaiatigation activities

» our ability to obtain future reimbursement and/dlestone payments from our collaboratc

« our ability to attract collaborators with developmheegulatory and commercialization expert

» our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual pesty protection for our product candidat

* our ability to successfully commercialize our prodoandidates

» the size and growth of the markets for our prodactdidates and our ability to serve those marl

« the rate and degree of market acceptance of angefproducts

» the success of competing drugs that are or beconikable;

» regulatory developments in the United States ahdratountries

» the performance of our thi-party suppliers and manufacturers and our abiitglitain alternative sources of raw materi
» our ability to obtain additional financin

» our use of the proceeds from our public offeringr@bruary 2014 and our private placement in AugQ04s;

e our expectations regarding the time during whichwilebe an emerging growth company under the J@B&

» the accuracy of our estimates regarding expensesefrevenues, capital requirements and the r@eatiflitional financing; an

» our ability to attract and retain key scientificrmnanagement personn

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentiansxpectations disclosed in our forward-lookingestaents, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statementguél results or events could differ materiallyrfréhe plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we m#ke have included important cautionary statemintisis report, particularly in the Risk
Factors set forth in Item 1A of this Annual RepamtForm 10-K, that we believe could cause actuallte or events to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements that we make. Ouwéod-looking statements do not reflect the potnithpact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investmeve may make.

You should read this report and the documentsvileateference in this report and have filed as @teib this report completely and with
the understanding that our actual future resultg beamaterially different from what we expect. Thevard-looking statements contained in
this report are made as of the date of this repad,we do not assume, and specifically disclaimg,abligation to update any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafidore events or otherwise.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located at 3960 Broadway, Yk, New York 10032, where we occupy approximatey000 square feet of
office and laboratory space. The term of the leagéres September 30, 2014, and we have the oatiextend the term of the lease for six
additional months, until March 31, 2015. We alszske office space in Towson, Maryland on a monthdath basis.
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material lggakceedings.

Item 4. MINE S AFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

From December 20, 2013 through January 30, 20T4caumon stock was quoted on the OTC MarkeBSFEQB tier, or OTCQB, undt
the symbol “ITCI.” On January 31, 2014, our comnstock commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global Se¥atket under the symbol
“ITCI” and ceased being quoted on the OTCQB. Thghland low bid quotations per share of our comntooksas reported by the OTCQB for
the fourth quarter of 2013 are set forth below:

Year Ended December 31, 201 High Low
Fourth Quarte $20.0( $10.0(

Stockholders

As of March 15, 2014, we had 29,222,746 outstandi@ges of common stock and no outstanding shapeferred stock. As of March
15, 2014, there were 257 holders of record of onnrnon stock.

Dividends

We have never paid cash dividends on any of outalagtock and we currently intend to retain ouufe earnings, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. We dontend to pay cash dividends to holders of our comstock in the foreseeable future.

Unregistered Sales of Securities

From the effective time of our reverse merger, Whaccurred on August 29, 2013, until January 1420 issued an aggregate of
24,799 shares of our common stock to five individugon the exercise of stock options issued utideR003 Equity Incentive Plan that we
assumed in the Merger. We received an aggregéi#6l11l as payment of the exercise prices for sptbns. We deemed the issuances o
shares upon the exercise of such options to be gbdeom registration under the Securities Act iliargce on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities
Act, relative to transactions by an issuer not lmvigy a public offering.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We did not purchase any of our registered equityistes during the fourth quarter of 2014.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On February 5, 2014, we completed our initial pribffering of 7,063,300 shares of our common stick price of $17.50 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $123l@miThe offer and sale of all of the sharestia bffering were registered under the
Securities Act pursuant to a registration stateroarftorm S-1, which was declared effective on Jgn8@, 2014 (File No. 333-193313), and a
registration statement on Form S-1 filed pursuaule 462(b) of the Securities Act (File No. 3383676). Leerink Partners LLC and Cowen
and Company, LLC acted as joint book-running marsf@ the offering and as representatives of thaeunwriters. Guggenheim Securities,
LLC and JMP Securities LLC acted as co-managerthfooffering. The offering commenced on January2®44 and did not terminate until
the sale of all of the shares offered.

We received aggregate net proceeds from the offefimpproximately $115.4 million, after deducteagproximately $7.4 million of
underwriting discounts and commissions, and apprately $0.8 million of estimated offering expenpagable by us. None of the
underwriting discounts and commissions or other
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offering expenses were incurred or paid to ouraies or officers or their associates or to persmmsing 10 percent or more of our common
stock or to any of our affiliates.

We have invested the net proceeds from the offérirrgvariety of capital preservation investmentsluding short-term, investment
grade, interest bearing instruments such as conimh@aper and corporate debt securities and U.g&rmgment securities. There has been no
material change in our planned use of the net pds&om the offering as described in our finalgpectus dated January 30, 2014 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission pursudRtik® 424(b) under the Securities Act on January2814. We have broad discretion in the
use of the net proceeds from our initial publiceofig and could spend the proceeds in ways thabtlonprove our results of operations or
enhance the value of our stock.

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the financial conditemd results of our operations and our wholly-owseabsidiary should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and tbees to those statements appearing elsewheresrtimual Report on Form 10-K. Some of
the information contained in this discussion andlgsis or set forth elsewhere in this report, irthg information with respect to our plans
and strategy for our business, includes forwardklog statements that involve risks and uncertaint¥ou should read the Risk Factors set
forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Forn-K for a discussion of important factors that coultlise actual results to differ materially
from the results described in or implied by thenfard-looking statements contained in the following désion and analysis.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused onisitewkry and clinical development of innovative airmolecule drugs that address
underserved medical needs in neuropsychiatric andofogical disorders by targeting intracellulargiling mechanisms within the central
nervous system. Our lead product candidate, ITI-@0in Phase 2 clinical trials as a first-in-classatment for schizophrenia. Results from the
Phase 2 trial are included in “Business—Our ClinRagrams—ITI-007 Program” under Item 1 of thisnial Report on Form 10-K. Subject
to discussions with the U.S. Food and Drug Admiatiin, or FDA, we intend to initiate Phase 3 dalitrials and additional supporting trials
in patients with acute exacerbated schizophrentldrsecond half of 2014 and plan to initiate setgaadditional trials in bipolar disorder in
2015. We expect that the planned trials in bipdlaorder will overlap in time with the clinical cdact of the planned trials in schizophrenia. Ir
addition, in March 2014, we announced the initiatid ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinical trial desidrto evaluate the safety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007 in healtjgyiatric subjects and in patients with demenieluding Alzheimer’s disease. We believe
that ITI-007 and followen compounds have utility to treat additional iradions, which we may investigate, either on our @wvwith a partnel
We hold exclusive, worldwide commercialization ttig/to ITI-007 and a family of related compoundsirBristol-Myers Squibb Company.

We have a second major program called ITI-002 lilaatyielded a portfolio of compounds that seletfiughibits the enzyme PDE1. We
have licensed the lead compound in the ITI-002fplat ITI-214, and other compounds in that poritipko Takeda. 1TI-214 is the first
compound in its class to successfully advancemase 1 clinical trials and is being developedHertreatment of cognitive impairment
associated with schizophrenia and other disorders.

Our pipeline also includes preclinical programg #ra focused on advancing drugs for the treatmeoognitive dysfunction, in both
schizophrenia and Alzheimer’s disease, and foradisenodification and the treatment of neurodegérmerdisorders, including Alzheimer’s
disease.
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Since inception, we have devoted all of our effartd resources to our research and developmenitiasti We have incurred significant
net losses since inception. As of December 31, 26dB8accumulated deficit was $57.6 million. We @xfpto continue incurring substantial
losses for the next several years as we contindewelop our clinical and pre-clinical drug cand@aand programs. Our operating expenses
are comprised of research and development expansiegeneral and administrative expenses.

We have not generated any revenue from product saléate and we do not expect to generate revéraragproduct sales for at least
next several years. Our revenues for fiscal yeads@ December 31, 2013 and 2012 have been frotitéimse and collaboration agreement
with Takeda. In addition, we have received and gtytinue to receive grants from U.S. governmenheigs and foundations.

Our corporate headquarters and research faciityomated in New York, New York.

Reverse Merger and Private Placement in August 2013

On August 29, 2013, we consummated a merger witlptivately held biopharmaceutical company formedyned “Intra-Cellular
Therapies, Inc.,” and changed our name from “OnBidsources Corp.” to “Intra-Cellular Therapies,.Ifithe privately held company surviv
the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of oursarahged its name to ITI, Inc., or ITI.

At the effective time of the merger, each sharEfbEommon stock and each share of ITI preferredisthat was issued and outstanding
was automatically exchanged for 0.5 shares of oommaon stock. We issued an aggregate of 22,134 }&'és of our common stock upon suct
exchange of the outstanding shares of ITI commocksand preferred stock. In addition, at the effectime, we assumed all of ITI's
outstanding stock options and its warrant to pusel@mmon stock.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standardar, or FASB, Accounting Standards CodificationA&C, Topic 805Business
Combinations ITl is considered the acquirer for accountingpmses, and we have accounted for the transactiarcagital transaction,
because ITI's former stockholders received 100%hefvoting rights in the combined entity and IT8&snior management represented all of the
senior management of the combined entity. Consdtyéime assets and liabilities and the histor@atrations that are reflected in our
consolidated financial statements are be thos&laind are be recorded at the historical cost lafdise Company.

Immediately prior to the Merger, ITI sold to acdted investors approximately $60.0 million of itsases of common stock, or
18,889,307 shares, at a price of $3.1764 per shduieh included approximately $15.3 million in peipal and $0.8 million in accrued interest
from the conversion of ITI's then outstanding cortilde promissory notes, or Notes, and which reglih net proceeds, after expenses, of
approximately $40.0 million. We refer to this trang8on as the Private Placement.

Public Offering in February 2014

On February 5, 2014, we completed our initial pribffering of 7,063,300 shares of our common stick price of $17.50 per share for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $123l@miand net proceeds of approximately $115.4iomil

Results of Operations
Revenue:

The following discussion summarizes the key factansmanagement believes are necessary for anstadding of our financial
statements.
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We have not generated any revenue from product saldate and we do not expect to generate revéraragroduct sales for at least
next several years. Our revenues for fiscal yeade@ December 31, 2013 and 2012 have been frolitémse and collaboration agreement
with Takeda. In addition, we have received and etinue to receive grants from U.S. governmenheigs and foundations.

The revenue from Takeda was comprised primarilgrofipfront payment, a milestone payment and reisgments for costs incurred in
the development of and patent prosecutions for camgs subject to the collaboration. The upfrontnpat was evaluated and it was
determined that there were separate units of atiogufor the deliverables that are provided fothe license and collaboration agreement. A
larger portion of the upfront payment was considerdicense fee, and the remaining portion was éeeim be related to the performance of
agreed upon activities under the collaboration camept of the license and collaboration agreemewrtdétermined this amount in accordance
with ASC Topic 605-25Revenue Recognitionsing best estimate of selling price, for the witvdt we would be required to perform. We
considered multiple factors in estimating this amtpincluding, but not limited to, direct exterredpenses and internal costs for salary and
related fringes, among others. The straight linghoe of amortization with a three-year schedule used and revenue was recognized equall
for the years 2011 through 2013. Revenue fromitiem$e payment was recognized as earned when edcé&tevenue from milestone payme
is recognized when all of the following conditicax® met: (1) the milestone payments are non-rehled&®) the achievement of the milestone
involves a degree of risk and was not reasonalsiyrad at the inception of the arrangement, (3)tanktigse effort on our part is involved in
achieving the milestone, (4) the amount of the stilee payment is reasonable in relation to thatediqpended or the risk associated with
achievement of the milestone, and (5) a reasorabtaunt of time passes between the up-front liceagenent and the first milestone payment
Reimbursement revenue is recognized when the aostacurred and the services have been performed.

We expect our revenues for the next several yearsrisist of limited reimbursable costs incurredpfatent prosecutions and
reimbursements related to our collaboration witkelda under the license and collaboration agreertreatidition, we expect to receive
possible milestone payments under the license alteboration agreement, but these are not asstbisdime and would not be significant
enough to fund operations for a meaningful peribtinoe.

Expenses

The process of researching and developing drugsuioran use is lengthy, unpredictable and subjectaioy risks. We are unable with
any certainty to estimate either the costs orithelines in which those costs will be incurred. Wave one project, ITI-007 for the treatment of
schizophrenia, which consumes a large proporticsuofcurrent, as well as projected, resourcesddfitian, in March 2014, we announced the
initiation of ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinicaldridesigned to evaluate the safety, tolerability pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007 in
healthy geriatric subjects and in patients with detia, including Alzheimer’'s disease. We intenghtiosue other disease indications that ITI-
007 may address, but there are large costs assteidh pursuing FDA approval for those indicatiowsich would include the cost of
additional clinical trials. Our other projects, &give of the Takeda collaboration, are still ie fireclinical stages, and will require extensive
funding not only to complete preclinical testingt o enter into and complete clinical trials. Ergitures that we incur on these projects wil
subject to availability of funding in addition tbe funding required for the advancement of ITI-08y failure or delay in the advancement of
ITI-007 could require us to re-allocate resourecesifour other projects to the advancement of ITI;@@hich could have a significant material
adverse impact on the advancement of these otbggts and on our operations.

Our operating expenses are comprised of (i) reBesrd development expenses and (ii) general anéhésdrative expenses. Our resea
and development costs are comprised of:

» internal recurring costs, such as labor and fringeefits, materials and supplies, facilities andhteaance costs; ar
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» fees paid to external parties who provide uh wontract services, such as preclinical testimanufacturing and related testing, and
clinical trial activities.

General and administrative expenses are incurréuée major categories:
» salaries and related benefit co:
» patent, legal and professional costs;

» office and facilities overhea

We expect that our general and administrative agéténcrease substantially from prior periods doehe increased costs associated
being a public reporting entity.

The following table sets forth our revenues andrafiregy expenses for the fiscal years ended DeceBihet013 and 2012:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)
(Audited)

Revenues $ 2,737 $ 3,11¢
Expenses

Research and Developme 23,02¢ 15,48¢

General and Administrativ 5,97¢ 4,03t

29,00« 19,521

Net Loss $(26,869) $(16,59)

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 andebdzer 31, 2012
Revenues

Revenue decreased for the year ended Decembe®B3 a2 compared to the year ended December 31 ,B0d4@proximately $0.4
million, due primarily to lower reimbursable co$tsm Takeda in 2013 as compared to 2012.

Research and Development Expenses

Total research and development expenses were apaiaky $23.0 million for the fiscal year ended Betber 31, 2013, as compared to
$15.5 million for the fiscal year ended DecemberZ112. This increase of $7.5 million in total ras# and development expenses is due
primarily to an increase of $6.3 million in direxists for clinical trials, which is primarily thesult of an increase in the number of clinicall tria
subjects for our Phase 2 trial of ITI-007 in patsewith acutely exacerbated schizophrenia and $hion for a milestone payment we made
related to our license agreement with BMS. Clintdal costs for the fiscal year ended December2®13 were $16.9 million as compared to
$10.6 million for the fiscal year ended DecemberZ112 due to more patients screened and tes@@llid versus 2012 and the costs associat:
with the non-patent related data, statistical aheérmtesting needed to complete the study.

The research and development process necessagydtod a pharmaceutical product for commercialimais subject to extensive
regulation by numerous governmental authoritieth@United States and other countries. This proggssally takes years to complete and
requires the expenditure of substantial resoufes.steps required before a drug may be markettkib/nited States generally include the
following:

« completion of extensive pre-clinical laboratbéegts, animal studies, and formulation studiescitordance with the FDA’s Good
Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulatio
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» submission to the FDA of an Investigational Newug application, or IND, for human clinical texi which must become effective
before human clinical trials may beg

» performance of adequate and well-controlled &linical trials to establish the safety andagitly of the drug for each proposed
indication;

» submission to the FDA of a New Drug ApplicationNIDA, after completion of all clinical trials

» satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approwabection of the manufacturing facility or fadgais at which the active
pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, and finishedgdpuoduct are produced and tested to assess comgheth current Good
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMF

» satisfactory completion of FDA inspections bifical trial sites to assure that data supporthgsafety and effectiveness of produc
candidates has been generated in compliance witld Gtinical Practices; ar

» FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any aoercial marketing or sale of the drug in the UniBtdtes

The successful development of our product candsdatel the approval process requires substantial gffort and financial resources,
and is uncertain and subject to a number of ridks cannot be certain that any of our product caatd&lwill prove to be safe and effective,
meet all of the applicable regulatory requiremergsded to receive and maintain marketing approvaijll be granted marketing approval on
a timely basis, if at all. Data from preclinicalidies and clinical trials are susceptible to vagyimerpretations that could delay, limit or preven
regulatory approval or could result in label wagsnelated to or recalls of approved products. e FDA, or other regulatory authorities n
suspend clinical trials at any time if we or thejiéve that the subjects participating in suchsréae being exposed to unacceptable risks or if
such regulatory agencies find deficiencies in thredeict of the trials or other problems with ourdarot candidates. Other risks associated with
our product candidates are described in the seetitited “Risk Factors” in Item IA of this AnnuReport on Form 10-K.

The research and development expenses incurreaiifounts payable to external parties comprise afigignt portion of our research a
development spending during the fiscal years efEmember 31, 2012 and 2013, due primarily to tleparation for and commencement of
our Phase 2 clinical trial for ITI-007 in patientith acutely exacerbated schizophrenia. We incuesgeenses of approximately $18.8 million
and $12.6 million during the years ended DecemtefB13 and 2012, respectively, for amounts payabéxternal parties who manufactured,
tested and performed clinical trial activities &rof our projects. During the same periods, oterinal research and development expenses
were approximately $3.0 million and $2.9 millionrohg the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204f2¢ctvely. As of December 31, 2013,
we employed 13 full time personnel in our reseact development group.

The clinical development work related to 1007 requires the largest portion of our resouroel eonsequently, comprises the majorit
our spending. We spent approximately $21.0 mildod $11.3 million on direct costs for the developtraf ITI-007 during the periods ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. As dpwedmt of ITI-007 progresses, we anticipate cogt$TTb007 to increase considerably in
the next several years as we conduct Phase 3 haddbinical trials. We are also required to congleon-clinical testing to obtain FDA
approval and manufacture material needed for @lrtital use, which includes non-clinical testinftloe drug product and the creation of an
inventory of drug product in anticipation of podsiEDA approval.

We currently have several projects in additionTteQ07 that are in the research and developmegestarhese are in the areas of
cognitive dysfunction and the treatment of neuretegative diseases, including Alzheimer’s diseas®mng others. We have used internal
resources and incurred expenses not only in relaidghe development of ITI-007 but on these addél projects as well. We have not,
however, reported these costs on a project by girbgesis, as they are broadly spread among thegects. The external costs for these
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projects have been minimal and are reflected iratheunts discussed in this section “—Research awlbpment Expenses.” During the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we algoréaccosts that were both reimbursable anc-reimbursable under the license and
collaboration agreement with Takeda. We incurrqgt@amately $97,000 and $700,000 on direct cosis\ere billable to Takeda for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respgctWel anticipate that these costs will be redudgwificantly as the research portion of 1
license and collaboration agreement concluded mzey 2014.

General and Administrative Expenses

Salaries, bonuses and related benefit costs foexeaoutive, finance and administrative functionsbioth 2013 and 2012 constituted
slightly less than half of our total general andhadstrative costs. The next major categories @egmses are patent costs, some of which are
reimbursed by Takeda, legal, accounting and othafepsional fees and, to a lesser extent, fadldied general office-related overhead. We
expect all of these costs to increase significaasiyve expand our operations and have become stbjhe reporting requirements of a public
company. General and administrative expenses weferfillion for the fiscal year ended December&113 compared to $4.0 million for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. The incresasheiresult of higher personnel costs, legal, aathog, patent and public company
reporting-related costs, including costs relatethéoreverse merger and private placement in AuZQEB.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Through December 31, 2013, we have funded our tpasawith approximately $149.8 million of cashthas been obtained from the
following main sources $40.0 million of net procedrbm the Private Placement which closed on Aug@s2013 (net of $0.2 million of
unpaid costs); $25.4 million from other sales aiigq $0.4 million from the exercise of stock optg) $15.3 million in sales of convertible
promissory notes; $40.6 million from grants fronvgmment agencies and foundations; and $28.1 millidotal payments received under the
license and collaboration agreement with Takedduding approximately $1.8 million for reimbursenmen development costs incurred from
2011 through December 31, 2013, and $1.8 milliorp&dent costs incurred during the same time peBadling the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013, we did not receive any fundingugh grants. We do not believe that grant revevilide a significant source of funding
in the near future. We expect that reimbursemeintsiodevelopment costs by Takeda will decline gdiorward, and we do not expect such
reimbursements to be a significant source of fupdinthe future. We also expect the reimbursemfantpatent filing costs will remain at the
same level, but because reimbursements will beiffig the actual expenditures incurred, reimbursgsngo not represent a net source of
funding for us.

In October and November 2012, we issued convertitdenissory notes, or Notes, having an aggregateipal amount of approximate
$15.2 million. We issued additional Notes havingaggregate principal amount of $0.1 million in Ma&013. The Notes were unsecured and
accrued interest at a rate of 6% per year, and arggaally scheduled to mature on April 25, 20b8f maturity was extended until October
2013. The principal amount of the Notes, togethigh Whe accrued interest thereon, converted intmeshof ITI common stock at the closing of
the Private Placement.

As of December 31, 2013, we had a total of $37Iianiin cash, cash equivalents and certificatedeyosit, and approximately $6.8
million of short-term liabilities consisting of stteterm liabilities from operations. Excluding threrease in net cash of approximately $40.0
million from the Private Placement which closeddigust 2013 (net of $0.2 million of unpaid costsylahe conversion of $15.2 million of
convertible notes outstanding at December 31, 28&23)sed $25.3 million in working capital for theay ended December 31, 2013. This
reduction in working capital is due primarily teetfunding of the Phase 2 clinical trial for ITI-0007 in patients with acutely exacerbated
schizophrenia, and to a lesser extent to fund rieguoperating expenses, the preparation for aatuhticlinical trials and non-clinical testing.
On February 5, 2014 we raised approximately $1&5l4bn in net proceeds from a public offering afraccommon stock. Excluding the effect
of the offering, we expect to consume working capf approximately $7.5 million to $8.0 million dog
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the first quarter of 2014. This is expected to be grimarily to recurring expenses and for costsiired for the completion of the Phase 2
clinical trial and the preparations for additiotrdls and non-clinical testing related to the degeent of ITI-007, including initiation of a
Phase 3 clinical trial in patients with acutely esidated schizophrenia and a Phase 1/2 cliniedlitrhealthy geriatric subjects and in patients
with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease. Imgection with the completion of our Phase 2 clihidal of ITI-007 in patients with acutely
exacerbated schizophrenia, we made a milestonegreyoh $1.25 million to BMS during the fourth quarrbf 2013.

Our cash, cash equivalents and investment seautitialed $37.2 million at December 31, 2013. Iditah, we received net proceeds of
approximately $115.4 million from our public offag of common stock, which closed on February 5420thile we believe that our existing
cash, cash equivalents and investment securitigsttier with interest on cash balances, will béaant to fund our operating expenses and
capital expenditure requirements through early 20d6will require significant additional financimg the future to continue to fund our
operations. In particular, we anticipate that wé meed to secure additional funding to completegtanned additional clinical and non-clinical
trials, manufacturing and pre-commercialization\ati¢s needed for potential regulatory approvad aammercialization of ITI-007 in patients
with acute exacerbated schizophrenia, our Phaselibi@al trial of ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjects and in patierits Wementia, includin
Alzheimer’s disease, for further development of0DI7 in patients with bipolar disorder and otheligations, and for development of our ot
product candidates.

We have incurred losses in every year since ingaptith the exception of, 2011, due to the up-fifet received from Takeda in
connection with entry into our collaboration agresm These losses have resulted in significant aastl in operations. During the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, our cash usgrbiations was approximately $22.6 million and $18illion respectively. This increase
of cash used during the fiscal year ended DeceBithe2013 is primarily due to the clinical developrhand clinical trial activities for ITI-007.
While we have several research and developmentgmgyunderway, the ITI-007 program has advanceéuttigest and will continue to
consume increasing amounts of cash for conductingal trials and the testing and manufacturingpodduct material. As we continue to
conduct these activities necessary to pursue Fpdoapl of ITI-007 and our other product candidates,expect the cash needed to fund
operations to increase significantly over the reexteral years.

We seek to balance the level of cash, cash equitgatend marketable securities on hand with oureptefl needs and to allow us to
withstand periods of uncertainty relative to thaitability of funding on favorable terms. Until vean generate significant revenues from
operations, we will need to satisfy our future cashds through public or private sales of our ggeeturities, sales of debt securities, the
incurrence of debt from commercial lenders, striategllaborations, licensing a portion or all ofrgaroduct candidates and technology and,
lesser extent, grant funding. We cannot be sutetare funding will be available to us when weedét on terms that are acceptable to us, or
at all. We sell securities and incur debt whentéimms of such transactions are deemed favorahle &md as necessary to fund our current an
projected cash needs. The amount of funding we tai®ugh sales of our common stock or other seéesiilepends on many factors, includ
but not limited to, the status and progress ofpyaduct development programs, projected cash naedgability of funding from other sourci
our stock price and the status of the capital ntark2ue to the recent volatile nature of the finahmarkets and, in particular, the adverse
impact on market capitalization and valuation aftéchnology companies, equity and debt financing beadifficult to obtain. In addition, any
unfavorable development or delay in the progressuofiTI-007 program could have a material advérggact on our ability to raise additional
capital.

To the extent that we raise additional capital tigfothe sale of equity or convertible debt se@sijtthe ownership interest of our existing
stockholders will be diluted, and the terms mayude liquidation or other preferences that advgraéfiect the rights of our stockholders. Debt
financing, if available, may involve agreements thalude covenants limiting or restricting our lghito take specific actions, such as incuri
debt, making capital expenditures or declaringdiivids.
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If adequate funds are not available to us on alyitnasis, we may be required to: (1) delay, limétluce or terminate preclinical studies,
clinical trials or other clinical development adti®s for one or more of our product candidatesluding our lead candidate ITI-007 as well as
our other preclinical stage product candidatesdéy, limit, reduce or terminate our discoverga@ch or preclinical development activities;
or (3) enter into licenses or other arrangementts third parties on terms that may be unfavorablestor sell, license or relinquish rights to
develop or commercialize our product candidatehrtelogies or intellectual property at an earliage of development and on less favorable
terms than we would otherwise agree.

Our cash is maintained in money market accountstarallesser extent, in certificates of deposihajor financial institutions. Due to tl
current low interest rates available for theserimaents, we are earning limited interest income. i@uestment portfolio has not been adver:
impacted by the problems in the credit markets tilaae existed over the last several years, bué ttem be no assurance that our investment
portfolio will not be adversely affected in the .

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiaind results of operations are based on oundiahstatements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principkrsegally accepted in the United States, or GAAR piteparation of these financial
statements requires management to make estimatessanmptions that affect reported amounts of sisset liabilities as of the date of the
balance sheet and reported amounts of revenuesxgedses for the periods presented. Judgmentsaisodte made about the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. We base our estimates @tdnical experience and on various other assumgptiuat we believe to be reasonable unde
circumstances. These estimates and assumptionglierbrasis for making judgments about the carryaiges of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Managemeakes estimates and exercises judgment in rewecognition and stock-based
compensation. Actual results may differ from thesemates and under different assumptions or condit

We believe that the following critical accountinglipies affect management’s more significant judgteeind estimates used in the
preparation of our financial statements:

Revenue Recognitio

Revenue is recognized when all terms and conditibtise agreements have been met, including peksiasidence of an arrangement,
delivery has occurred or services have been reddpriee is fixed or determinable and collectabili reasonably assured. We are reimbursec
for certain costs incurred on specified researclepts under the terms and conditions of grantfalmoration agreements, and awards. We
record the amount of reimbursement as revenuesgoosa basis in accordance with ASC Topic 605REenue Recognition/Principal Agent
Considerations We are the primary obligor with respect to pusihg goods and services from third-party suppliars,obligated to
compensate the service provider for the work peréat, and have discretion in selecting the supffimvisions for estimated losses on
research grant projects and any other contractsiade in the period such losses are determined.

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted a new acoaystandard that amends the guidance on the atogudor arrangements involving
the delivery of more than one element. Pursuatiidmew standard, each required deliverable isiated to determine whether it qualifies as
separate unit of accounting. For us, this detertitinas generally based on whether the deliverabke“stand-alone value” to the customer. Wi
adopted this new accounting standard on a prosgeléisis for all Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Argaments, or MDRAS, entered into on or
after January 1, 2011, and for any MDRASs that veerered into prior to January 1, 2011, but matgriabdified on or after that date.

62



Table of Contents

For MDRASs entered into prior to January 1, 201E{p011 arrangements) and not materially modifiedeéfter, we continue to apply
our prior accounting policy with respect to suctaagements. Under this policy, in general, revdnom non-refundable, up-front fees related
to intellectual property rights/licenses, wherelvaee continuing involvement and where standalohgeveould not be determined under the
previous guidance, is recognized ratably over #tienated period of ongoing involvement. In genetfa, consideration with respect to the o
deliverables is recognized when the goods or seswace delivered.

The adoption of this accounting standard did netreamaterial impact on our results of operatiamgtie years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, or on our financial positiag®f those dates.

In January 2011, we adopted ASC Topic 605MRestone Method Under this guidance, we recognize revenue coatingpon the
achievement of a substantive milestone in its etytin the period the milestone is achieved. Sultista milestone payments are recognized
upon achievement of the milestone only if all af tbllowing conditions are met:

» the milestone payments are -refundable
» achievement of the milestone involves a degreéskfand was not reasonably assured at the incepfitre arrangemen
e substantive effort on our part is involved in aeinig the milestone

* the amount of the milestone payment is readeriabyelation to the effort expended or the risk@ciated with achievement of the
milestone; ant

* areasonable amount of time passes betwearptfrent license payment and the first milestongnpant, as well as between each
subsequent milestone payme

Determination as to whether a payment meets themfentioned conditions involves management’s judgni€any of these conditions
are not met, the resulting payment would not besiclamred a substantive milestone, and thereforaethdting payment would be considered
part of the consideration for the single unit of@enting and be recognized as revenue as suchrpenfice obligations are performed under
either the proportional performance or straighelinethods, as applicable. In addition, the deteatiin that one such payment was not a
substantive milestone could prevent us from coriotythat subsequent milestone payments were subsanilestones and, as a result, any
additional milestone payments could also be consttipart of the consideration for the single uhacounting and would be recognized as
revenue as such performance obligations are pegbumder either the proportional performance @igiit-line methods, as applicable.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based payments are accounted for in accoedaitic the provisions of ASC Topic 718pmpensation—Stock Compensatidme
fair value of share-based payments is estimatethedate of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Medption-pricing model, or the Black-
Scholes model. The resulting fair value is recogaimtably over the requisite service period, wlscfpenerally the vesting period of the
option.

For all time vesting awards granted, expense isrézed using the straight-line attribution meth&dr awards that contain a performance
condition, expense is amortized using the accaldrattribution method. As stock-based compensatipense recognized in the statements of
operations for the fiscal years ended Decembe?@®13, 2012 and 2011 is based on share-based autindately expected to vest, it has been
reduced for estimated forfeitures. ASC Topic 71§uiess forfeitures to be estimated at the timerahyand revised, if necessary, in subseq
periods if actual forfeitures differ from thoseigsites. Pre-vesting forfeitures are based on @iofical experience for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, and have notrbeterial.

We utilize the Black-Scholes model for estimatiag fralue of our stock options granted. Option atibn models, including the Black-
Scholes model, require the input of subjective mxtions, and changes in the
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assumptions used can materially affect the gratet fdér value of an award. These assumptions ircthd risk-free rate of interest, expected
dividend yield, expected volatility and the expelliée of the award.

Expected volatility rates are based on historicdtility of the common stock of comparable publitiaded entities and other factors due
to the lack of historic information of our commaocak. The expected life of stock-based optionfiésgeriod of time for which the stock-based
options are expected to be outstanding. Givenatle ¢f historic exercise data, the expected lifdeermined using the “simplified method”
which is defined as the midpoint between the vgdtiate and the end of the contractual term.

The risk-free interest rates are based on the The&sury yield for a period consistent with theeotpd term of the option in effect at the
time of the grant. We have not paid dividends tosiackholders since our inception and do not pdgpay cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Therefore, we have assumed an expectedetigirate of zero.

Given the absence of an active market for our comstock during 2012 and 2013, the exercise pridde&tock options on the date of
grant was determined and approved by the boar@teétdrs using several factors, including prograss milestones achieved in our business
development and performance, the price per shavaerodonvertible preferred stock offerings and gahedustry and economic trends. In
establishing the estimated fair value of our commstmick, we considered the guidance set forth in daaa Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Practice GuideValuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensation

Under ASC Topic 718, the cumulative amount of congation cost recognized for instruments classdigequity that ordinarily would
result in a future tax deduction under existingltax shall be considered to be a deductible diffeeein applying ASC Topic 740hcome
Taxes. The deductible temporary difference is basechercompensation cost recognized for financial répgpurposes; however, these
provisions currently do not impact us, as all teéedred tax assets have a full valuation allowance.

Since we had net operating loss carryforwards &egember 31, 2013 and 2012, no excess tax befafitise tax deductions related to
share-based awards were recognized in the statemienaperations.

Equity instruments issued to non-employees areuwatted for under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 &KL Topic 505-50,
Equity/Equit-Based Payments to Non-Employe@scordingly, the estimated fair value of the agumnstrument is recorded on the earlier of
the performance commitment date or the date thecesrrequired are completed and are marked toehdrking the service period.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

We review new accounting standards to determinexipected financial impact, if any, that the admpif each such standard will have.
For the recently issued accounting standards tedielieve may have an impact on our financial statds, see “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements—Note 2—Summary of Signifidsttounting Policies” included in this Annual Report Form 10-K.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK
Not required for smaller reporting companies.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.

Index to Financial Statements and Financial Stat¢r@ehedule Numbe
Independent Auditors’ Report. F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,801 2017 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2013 and 2! F-3
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Deficit for the Years Ended December 31, 2013 &0t F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2013 and 2! F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemt F-6
Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer, after evaluating the effectivenesaf disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) as of the end of the period covered byFoisn 10-K, have concluded that, based
on such evaluation, our disclosure controls andgutares were effective to ensure that informatemjuired to be disclosed by us in the reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act orded, processed, summarized and reported, vitibitime periods specified in the SEC's
rules and forms, and is accumulated and commumidateur management, including our principal exieuand principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropriatallow timely decisions regarding required ltisare.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal controt émancial reporting. Internal
control over financial reporting is defined in RaifE3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Axh process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the Company’s principal executind arincipal financial officers and effected by @empany’s board of directors,
management and other personnel to provide reasmaablrance regarding the reliability of finanoggdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. The Gomjs internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras th

» pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Compar

» provide reasonable assurance that transadi@nsecorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #nad receipts and expenditures of the Company eirggbmade only in accordan
with authorizations of management and directorthefCompany; an

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitinse or disposition of the
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect onitla@dial statement

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls
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may become inadequate because of changes in aglitr that the degree of compliance with thegsior procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehggsCompany’s internal control over financiaporting as of December 31,
2013. In making this assessment, management usemlitéria set forth by the Committee of Sponsofrganizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integratedrrework.

Based on our assessment, management believeadtwdtDecember 31, 2013, the company’s internairabaver financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting, identified in connection witie evaluation of such internal control
that occurred during the fourth quarter of our festal year that have materially affected, or re@sonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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tem 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The following table sets forth certain informatiooncerning our executive officers and directorsfaglarch 15, 2014

Name Age Position

Executive Officer

Sharon Mates, Ph.I 61 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Lawrence J. Hinelin 57 Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Offieed Secretar
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C 53 Vice President of Business Developm

Juan F. Sanchez, M.I 43 Vice President, Corporate Communications and lovd3elations
Kimberly E. Vanover, Ph.C 48 Vice President, Clinical Developme

Lawrence P. Wennogle, Ph. 64 Vice President, Drug Discove

Nor-Employee Director

Christopher Alafi, Ph.D 50 Director

Richard Lerner, M.D 75 Director

Joel S. Marcu 66 Director

Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D., FRCP, Director
FMedSci 72

Rory B. Riggs 60 Director

Robert L. Van Nostran 56 Director

Executive Officers

Sharon Mates, Ph.Dr. Mates has been Chairman, President and Chiefiive Officer of the Company since the MergeAugust
2013 and has been the Chairman of the board aftdinee President and Chief Executive Officer of $irice June 2002. Dr. Mates co-founded
ITl in May 2002. Prior to co-founding ITI, Dr. Magevas a co-founder of Functional Genetics, andeseas its Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer from December 2000 until August 2003. Frb889 to 1998 Dr. Mates was the President and albmamber of North American
Vaccine Inc. and its predecessor companies. Shedmasd on several boards, and recently complebadiad membership and a two-year
chairmanship of the Board of the New York Biotedogy Association. Dr. Mates has also served orAiteisory Council of the Center for
Society and Health at the Harvard School of Pubéalth, the Board of Visitors of the Biotechnoldgsgtitute of the University of Maryland
and the board of directors of Gilda’s Club of Newrl. Earlier in her career, Dr. Mates spent sewszals as a research analyst and investme
banker, and as an advisor to the life sciencessingluDr. Mates received her B.S. from the Ohia&taniversity and her Ph.D. from the
University of Washington, and completed her postoi@t fellowships at The Massachusetts General itadsgnd Harvard Medical School.

We believe that Dr. Mates possesses specific atadthat qualify her to serve as chairman of aard of directors, including the
perspective and experience she brings as the ecméouPresident and Chief Executive of ITI, whicmbs historic knowledge, operational
expertise and continuity to our board of directars] her industry expertise, including over 24 gedrexperience leading both private and
public companies.

Lawrence J. HinelingCPA. Mr. Hineline has served as Vice President of Fieahief Financial Officer and Secretary of ther(pany
since the Merger in August 2013 and has served@sRfesident of Finance, Chief Financial Officed &ecretary of ITI since June
2002. From December 2000 to November 2003, Mr. lifiaavas the Vice President of Finance and Chir&Rcial Officer of Functional
Genetics, Inc. Prior to that, Mr. Hineline servediae Vice President of Finance of North Americatdine, Inc. and its predecessor compe
from 1993 to 2000, and he served as Corporate Qltertfrom 1989 to 1993. During this time,
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Mr. Hineline oversaw the growth of the accountingdtion and its systems for the company that enteagea startp and was later acquired
Baxter Health Care. Mr. Hineline is a licensed GRAhe State of Maryland and received his Bachelbegree from the University of
Maryland Baltimore County.

Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.[Dr. Fienberg has served as Vice President of Basibevelopment of the Company since the Mergenigust
2013 and has served as Vice President of Businegsl@ment of ITI since June 2002. He co-foundddri™ay 2002. Dr. Fienberg received
his A.B. degree in Genetics from the UniversityGaflifornia, Berkeley and his Ph.D. in Human Gersfiom Yale University. He completed
post-doctoral studies at The Rockefeller Univeraitger the direction of Dr. Paul Greengard from1t2999. From 1999-2001, Dr. Fienberg
was a staff scientist at the Genomics InstitutthefNovartis Research Foundation and was appoaniesearch Assistant Professor at The
Rockefeller University from 2001-2002.

Juan F. Sanchez, M.Dr. Sanchez has been our Vice President, Corp@@temunications and Investor Relations since Mafitv2
Previously, he was a healthcare research analystedtment banking firm Ladenburg Thalmann & Gw..] with a deep focus on companies
specializing in central nervous system diseases 008 to 2014, most recently as a Managing Dire&uwor to that time, he was a Vice
President of healthcare and nanotechnology egedtgarch at investment banking firm Punk, ZiegeGC& Dr. Sanchez received his Master in
International Affairs from Columbia University ahéis Master of Business Administration from Univeysf Los Andes in Bogota, Colombia.
Dr Sanchez practiced medicine for five years infaisve country, Colombia, having received a mddiegree from Pontifical Xavierian
University, in Bogota.

Kimberly E. Vanover, Ph.DDr. Vanover has been Vice President, Clinical @epment of the Company since the Merger in August
2013. Dr. Vanover joined ITIl in March 2007 and bagn Vice President, Clinical Development of I'Hicg January 2011. Previously, she was
Executive Director, Clinical Development of ITI froJanuary 2008 to December 2010 and Senior DireCtorical Development of ITI from
March 2007 to December 2007. She has spent ovge@@ on the discovery and development of smaleoubé drugs for the treatment of
neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disease¥.ddover was Postdoctoral Research Scientist@gile Laboratories from 1992 to 1994,
Postdoctoral Research Trainee in the DepartmeRspéhiatry at the University of California San Didgom 1994 to 1995, Senior Scientist
and Group Leader at CoCensys from 1995 to 200halttpositions as Group Leader and Director at AGRABPharmaceuticals from 2000 to
2007. In these positions, Dr. Vanover participadtethe discovery and development of a broad rarigeeew CNS therapeutics, including drugs
to treat psychosis, insomnia, cognitive impairmemyement disorders, acute and neuropathic pakienepilepsy, and drug
abuse. Dr. Vanover received her B.A. in Psycholiogsn the University of Missouri and her Ph.D. iroBsychology from the University of
Chicago.

Lawrence P. Wennogle, Ph.Dr. Wennogle has served as Vice President, Drugdvery of the Company since the Merger in August
2013 and has served as Vice President, Drug Disg@fdT| since January 2003. For the past 33 ydarsWennogle has been involved in
research and development in the pharmaceuticastndaimed at the discovery of novel pharmaceugadities for human diseases. He was a
Staff Scientist and Principal Research Fellow &#adbeigy and Novartis Pharmaceutical Corporatiorifoyears, where he led drug discovery
programs for CNS disorders, cardiovascular diseasaisetes and inflammation. Dr. Wennogle receivisdB.A. from Ithaca College and his
Ph.D. in Biochemistry from the University of Cold@ Boulder. He then completed two post-doctoraitims, one at the University of
Colorado and the second at the Pasteur InstituRaiis, France, working under Jean-Pierre ChangeukRe structure-function of the nicotinic
acetylcholine receptor.

Non-Employee Directors

Christopher Alafi, Ph.DDr. Alafi became a director of the Company follogithe Merger that occurred in August 2013 and bagesl
on the board of directors of ITI since January 2@I3 Alafi has been a General Partner of Alafi @@pCompany, LLC, a venture capital firm,
since 1995. He was previously a Physiology and ématteacher at Santa Monica College, a visitingkahin the Department of Chemistry at
Stanford University and a researcher at DNAX. Daficurrently serves as a director of ISTO Teclog@ts, Inc. and has previously
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served as a director of Coley Pharmaceutical Griup, CyberGold, Inc. and Stereotaxis, Inc. DrafAteceived a B.A. in Biology from
Pomona College and a D.Phil. in Biochemistry frém University of Oxford.

We believe that Dr. Alafi possesses specific aiteb that qualify him to serve as a member of @ard of directors, including the
perspective and experience he brings as a Geramntale® of Alafi Capital Company, LLC.

Richard Lerner, M.DDr. Lerner became a director of the Company foltapthe Merger that occurred in August 2013 andseaged on
the board of directors of ITI since 2002. Dr. Lareerved as President of the Scripps Researchuitasta private, non-profit biomedical
research organization from 1986 to January 201@ sarce then has served and continues to servestitsile Professor. Dr. Lerner received
Wolf Prize in Chemistry in 1994, the California Saiist of the Year Award in 1996, the Paul Ehrletd Ludwig Darmstaedter Prize in 2003,
and the Prince of Asturias Award in 2012 for hikiaeements in the development of catalytic antibedind combinatorial antibody libraries.
Dr. Lerner is a member of the National Academy @&Bces and the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciemred.erner served as a director of
Kraft Foods, Inc. from 2005 to March 2012 and catlseserves as a director of Opko Health, Inc.,aBharmaceutical Industries Ltd., and
Sequenom, Inc. Dr. Lerner received his M.D. frormn®drd Medical School.

We believe that Dr. Lerner possesses specifibates that qualify him to serve as a member obward of directors, including his
service as a director of other public companieslioed with his business acumen and judgment peowid board of directors with valuable
scientific and operational expertise and leaderskilts.

Joel S. Marcus, J.D., CPAVIr. Marcus became a director of the Company foilmithe Merger that occurred in August 2013 and has
served on the board of directors of ITI since ABAD6. Mr. Marcus co-founded Alexandria Real EsEsgeaities, Inc. in 1994, Alexandria
Venture Investments in 1996, and the annual Alesarsummit in 2011. He has served as ChairmaneoBtbard of Directors of Alexandria
Real Estate Equities, Inc. since May 2007, Chieddttive Officer since March 1997, President sinebriary 2009, and a director since the
companys inception in 1994. From 1986 to 1994, Mr. Maraas a partner at the law firm of Brobeck, Phleged&rison LLP, specializing
corporate finance and capital markets, venturet@lapind mergers and acquisitions. From 1984 ta}188 also served as General Counsel an
Secretary of Kirin-Amgen, Inc., a joint venture tfiaanced the development of, and owned patentsvim multi-billion dollar genetically
engineered biopharmaceutical products. Mr. Marcas fermerly a practicing certified public accourtand tax manager with Arthur Young
Co. specializing in the financing and taxation &lRs. He received his undergraduate and Juris Daetgrees from the University of
California, Los Angeles. In addition to our boafdloectors, Mr. Marcus serves on the boards ofAbeelerator Corporation, of which he was
one of the original architects and co-founders,réation for the National Institutes of Health (FNJ#ultiple Myeloma Research Foundation
(MMRF), and the Partnership for New York City. Midarcus also served on the Board of Trustees of daa Mortgage Investment Trust, a
publicly traded mortgage REIT, from August 2009%uegust 2012. Mr. Marcus received the Ernst & Yol8§9 Entrepreneur of the Year
Award (Los Angeles—Real Estate).

We believe that Mr. Marcus possesses specifidatis that qualify him to serve as a member ofomard of directors, including his
many years of experience in the life sciences itrgdsd his extensive experience serving as atdirend an executive officer of other public
companies.

Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D., FRCP, FMedS&ir Michael became a director of the Companyofelhg the Merger that occurred in Aug
2013 and has served on the board of directorsidfitice May 2013. Sir Michael is known for his lostginding leadership of the United
Kingdom’s National Institute for Clinical Excelleecor NICE, which he led from its inception in 19®@ugh March 2013. Recently in July
2012, Sir Michael was appointed as the Presidetiteonited Kingdom’s Royal Society of Medicinesenter for education and scholarship
both in the UK and globally. Sir Michael was a gsgor of clinical pharmacology and a general pligssiat the University of Newcastle upon
Tyne from 1973 to 2006. He received the Prince MahAward
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for Medicine in 2012, the Galen Medal in 2010, #mel Hutchinson Medal in 2003. Sir Michael was appal Knight Bachelor in 1999.

We believe that Sir Michael possesses specifitbatis that qualify him to serve as a member oftmard of directors, including his
extensive experience in areas of health policyermhomics.

Rory B. RiggsMr. Riggs has served on our board of directorsesiranuary 2014. Mr. Riggs co-founded Royalty Phaemanvestment
company focused on drug royalties, in 1996 andsbaged as Chairman of its investment committeeesiuty 2003. Since April 2010,
Mr. Riggs has served as founder and Chief Exec@iffieer of Syntax Analytics, LLC, a developmerage venture focused on creating a new
information technology platform for large-scale fialio management. Since June 2006, Mr. Riggs lasserved as Managing Member of
New Ventures, a venture fund focused on health&inee January 2001, Mr. Riggs has served as Magagémber of Balfour LLC, a
investment management company focused on healtHziatechnology and technology. From 1996 until@Qdr. Riggs served as President
and as a director of Biomatrix, Inc., a publiclgded biopharmaceutical company. From 1991 to 1985Riggs served as President and Chief
Executive Officer of RF&P Corporation, an investrheompany owned by the State of Virginia Retiren@ystem. Prior to that, he served as :
managing director in PaineWebber’s mergers andisitigns department from 1981 to 1990. In additiofRoyalty Pharma, Mr. Riggs serves
on the board of directors of FibroGen, Inc. (siBeptember 1993), a private biotechnology compaitys; LLC (since November 2001), a
private agricultural technology company; GeneNesiisoe January 1998), a publicly-traded moleculagdostic company; and eReceivables
(since September 2003), a private healthcare seteghnology company. Mr. Riggs graduated from N&iddry College and holds an MBA
from Columbia University.

We believe that Mr. Riggs possesses specific atgithat qualify him to serve as a member of @ard of directors, including his
financial expertise, extensive knowledge of the $i€iences industry, and many years of experieneedaveloper (founder), executive officer
and director of successful companies (both pubitt @rivate) in the life sciences and healthcare.

Robert L. Van Nostranddr. Van Nostrand has served on our board of dirsctoce January 2014. Mr. Van Nostrand was Exeeulti
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of AuneBiosciences, Inc., a private pathology life sceenompany, from January 2010 to July
2010. Prior to joining Aureon Biosciences, Mr. idastrand served as Executive Vice President andf@mancial Officer of AGI Dermatic:
Inc., a private biotechnology company, from Julp2@ September 2008 when the company was acqiirech May 2005 to July 2007,
Mr. Van Nostrand served as the Senior Vice Presided Chief Compliance Officer of OSI Pharmaceusicknc., a publicly-traded
biotechnology company, where he previously serngediee President and Chief Financial Officer frorad@mber 1996 through May 2005 and
as Vice President, Finance and Administration pudhat. He also served as OSI's Treasurer fronrcmMa992 to May 2005 and Secretary
from March 1995 to January 2004. Mr. Van Nostrasidgd OSI as Controller and Chief Accounting OfficeSeptember 1986. Prior to
joining OSI, Mr. Van Nostrand served in a manadgsition with the accounting firm, Touche Ros<&., currently Deloitte. Mr. Va
Nostrand serves as chairman of the board of direcioMetabolix, Inc., a public-traded biotechnology company, as well as chairofats
audit committee. Mr. Van Nostrand also serves erbibard of directors of Achillion Pharmaceuticéhs,., a publicly-traded biotechnology
company, where he serves as chairman of the anitnittee. He also serves on the board of diredbtise Biomedical Research Alliance of
New York, a private company providing clinical trigervices. Mr. Van Nostrand was the former chairrof and serves on, the board of
New York Biotechnology Association and serves anfbundation Board of Farmingdale University. Poasly, Mr. Van Nostrand served
the board of directors of Apex Bioventures, Incspacial purpose acquisition company focused erslifences. Mr. Van Nostrand holds a B.S
in Accounting from Long Island University, New YorKe is a Certified Public Accountant.

We believe that Mr. Van Nostrand possesses spettfibutes that qualify him to serve as a memlbeuo board of directors, including
his many years of experience in the life scienndsastry, as well as his expertise in financial aiens, transaction structuring and risk
management.
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Scientific Advisory Board

We have a Scientific Advisory Board which is chdif®y Paul Greengard, Ph.D., one of our founders@eengard received his Ph.D. in
biophysics from Johns Hopkins University in 1953teA postgraduate work in England, he served foenjears as director of biochemical
research at the Geigy Research Laboratories. 18, 1#6was appointed Professor of Pharmacology k&t Waiversity. In 1983, he was
appointed the Vincent Astor Professor at The RagleafUniversity, where he founded the Laboratdrivlolecular and Cellular Neuroscience.

Dr. Greengard is a pioneer in the field of neuraigihal transduction and his seminal discoveries tive years have provided a
framework by which to understand the complexitho# neurotransmitters function in the brain. Dre@rgard’s many awards and honors
include the CIBA-Geigy Drew Award in Biomedical Rasch (1979), the New York Academy of Sciences AwarBiological and Medical
Sciences (1980), the Andrew D. White Professorsliparge of Cornell University (1981-87), the PfiBiomedical Research Award (1987),
the Ralph W. Gerard Prize in Neuroscience, Sod@tiNeuroscience (1994), the Charles A. Dana Award’ioneering Achievements in
Health (1997), and the Nobel Prize in Physiologedicine (2000). Dr. Greengard has also been aultant to major pharmaceutical
companies and a Chairman and member of the sdgeadifisory boards of numerous biotechnology corgsan

We have additional members of our Scientific AdwsBoard who change from time to time, with whom eamsult on an as-needed
basis.

Medical Advisory Board

Carol A. Tamminga, M.D. is the Chair of our Mediéalvisory Board. Dr. Tamminga is the Chair of trey€hiatry Department at the
University of Texas Southwestern School of Medicike holds the McKenzie Foundation Chair in Pstchi the Communities Foundation
Texas, Inc. Chair in Brain Science and is the Chiéfranslational Neuroscience Research in Schizopa.

Jeffrey Lieberman, M.D. is the Lawrence C. Kolbfessor and Chairman of Psychiatry, at the Colurblbiisversity College of Physicial
and Surgeons; and Director, of the New York StatecRiatric Institute; Psychiatrist-in-Chief, New tkdPresbyterian Hospital-Columbia
University Medical Center.

John M. Kane, M.D. is Professor and Chairman otRmyry at The Hofstra North Shore-LIJ School ofditéne and Vice President for
Behavioral Health Services at The North Shore-Léalth System.

Christoph U. Correll, M.D. is Professor of Psychjaind Molecular Medicine, Hofstra North Shore Bighool of Medicine; Medical
Director, Recognition and Prevention (RAP) Prograime Zucker Hillside Hospital, North Shore Longatstl Jewish Health System.

Donald Goff, M.D. is Professor and Vice Chair fagdearch in the Department of Psychiatry at New Ydmkersity Langone Medical
Center (NYULMC) and Director of the Nathan S. Klimstitute for Psychiatric Research.

Board Composition and Election of Directors
Terms of Office

Our restated certificate of incorporation and @astated bylaws provide that, subject to any apipléceghts of holders of any preferred
stock then outstanding, the authorized numberrettiirs may be changed only by resolution of oart®f directors. We currently have
authorized seven directors. In accordance withrestated certificate of incorporation and restét@dws, our board of directors is divided into
three classes with staggered three-year termsadkt annual meeting of stockholders commencing thighmeeting in 2014, the successors to
the directors whose terms then expire will be eléto serve until the third annual meeting follogvthe election. Our directors are divided
among the three classes as follows:
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» the Class | directors are Richard Lerner, MaBd Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D., FRCP, FMedSci, ahnelitt terms will expire at the
annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2

» the Class Il directors are Christopher Alafi,[P. and Joel S. Marcus, and their terms will exjgit the annual meeting of
stockholders to be held in 2015; ¢

» the Class lll directors are Sharon Mates, PHDry B. Riggs and Robert L. Van Nostrand, and tleems will expire at the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held in 20

Any additional directorships resulting from an iease in the number of directors will be distribuaedong the three classes so that each
class will consist of approximately one-third oé tilirectors.

Director Independenct

Based upon information requested from and provimedach director concerning their background, egmlent and affiliations,
including family relationships, our board of dirext has determined that none of Dr. Alafi, Dr. lexrrMr. Marcus, Sir Michael, Mr. Riggs or
Mr. Van Nostrand, representing six out of our sedieactors, has a relationship that would interfgitn the exercise of independent judgment
in carrying out the responsibilities of a direcémd that each of these directors is “independenthat term is defined under Rule 5605(a)(2) o
the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules. Dr. Mates is emploggdhe Company and is therefore not independetiuNASDAQ Marketplace Rule

Board of Director! Meetings

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013etivere ten meetings of the board of directors@rameeting of the compensation
committee, which was the only standing committethefboard of directors. No director attended fethan 75% of the total number of
meetings of the board of directors and of the caemiof the board on which he or she served ddisiegl 2013, other than Richard Lerner,
M.D., who attended five of the ten board meetinglsl lduring his tenure, and Sir Michael Rawlins, M.ERCP, FMedSci, who attended five
the eight board meetings held during his tenuréh BRory B. Riggs and Robert L. Van Nostrand wereabtected to our board of directors until
2014. Our board of directors has adopted a polimeuwhich each member of our board of directostrizngly encouraged but not required to
attend each annual meeting of our stockholdersd/eot hold an annual meeting of stockholdersGh3

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our board of directors has established an audintitiere, a compensation committee and a nominatidggavernance committee. Each
committee operates under a charter approved bppaand of directors. Copies of each committee’stelnare posted on the Investor Relations
section of our website, which is locatedaatw.intracellulartherapies.comunder the caption “Corporate Governance.” Thepasiiion and
function of each of these committees are desciiiedaiv.

Audit CommitteeOur audit committee is comprised of Mr. Van NostaBir Michael and Mr. Riggs. Mr. Van Nostrandhs thairpersc
of the committee. Our board of directors has deegththat Mr. Riggs is an audit committee finaneigpert, as defined by the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and satigfeefinancial sophistication requirements of aplieaNASDAQ rules. Our board of
directors has determined that each of Mr. Van Nwostr Sir Michael and Mr. Riggs is an independergator under the NASDAQ Marketplace
Rules and Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act.

Our audit committee is authorized to:
» approve and retain the independent auditors towdrttle annual audit of our financial stateme

» review the proposed scope and results of the &

72



Table of Contents

» review and pr-approve audit and n-audit fees and service

* review accounting and financial controls with thdeépendent auditors and our financial and accogistiaff;

e review and approve transactions between us andimgtors, officers and affiliate

e recognize and prevent prohibited -audit services

» establish procedures for complaints received byegarding accounting matte

» oversee internal audit functions, if any; ¢

» prepare the report of the audit committee thatrules of the Securities and Exchange Commigsiguire to be included in our

annual meeting proxy stateme
Compensation Committe®ur compensation committee is comprised of Mr. Mar®r. Alafi and Mr. Riggs. Mr. Marcus is the amaan

of the committee. Our compensation committee ib@iged to:

* review and recommend the compensation arrangesn@ management, including the compensatioméompresident and chief
executive officer

» establish and review general compensation iggliwith the objective to attract and retain sugretdlent, to reward individual
performance and to achieve our financial gc

« administer our stock incentive plans; ¢
» prepare the report of the compensation committaetkie rules of the Securities and Exchange Conwnisequire to be included
our annual meeting proxy stateme
Nominating and Governance Committé®ur nominating and governance committee is cosedrdf Dr. Alafi, Mr. Lerner and
Mr. Marcus. Dr. Alafi is the chairman of the comta&. Our nominating and governance committee isogized to:
» identify and nominate members of the board of dines;
» develop and recommend to the board of directoet afscorporate governance principles applicableuwwocompany; an

» oversee the evaluation of our board of direct

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Congice

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourctlims and executive officers, and persons who owrerthan ten percent of a registe
class of our equity securities, to file with theGSHitial reports of ownership and reports of chesxqh ownership of our common stock and
other equity securities. Officers, directors anelager than ten percent stockholders are requireésBty regulations to furnish us with copies of
all Section 16(a) forms they file.

To our knowledge, based solely on a review of th@es of such reports furnished to us and writegmmesentations regarding the filing of
required reports, we believe that all Section 16(ap requirements applicable to our directorseeutive officers and greater-than-ten-percent
beneficial owners with respect to fiscal 2013 weiet.

Code of Ethics

Prior to the Merger, when it was a public shel @ompany had adopted an initial code of condudtedinics. We have adopted a new
code of conduct and ethics to replace the existatte of conduct and ethics effective January 142@hich applies to all of our employees,
including our principal executive officer and
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our principal financial and accounting officer. \Wave posted a copy of such code of conduct andsetim our website at
www.intracellulartherapies.com. Disclosure regagdamy amendments to, or waivers from, provisionthefcode of conduct and ethics that
apply to our directors, principal executive offia@rprincipal financial officer will be included ia Current Report on Form 8-K within four
business days following the date of the amendmewadver, unless website posting or the issuan@mess release of such amendments or
waivers is then permitted by The NASDAQ Stock MarkieC.

Board Leadership Structure and Role on Risk Oveldi

Our board of directors does not have a policy riggrthe separation of the roles of Chief Execu@ficer and Chairman of the board
directors, as our board of directors believes it ithe best interest of the Company to make te#&drahination based on the position and
direction of the Company and the membership obtherrd of directors. Our board of directors hasmieitged that having an employee director
serve as Chairman is in the best interest of thagamy’s stockholders at this time because of tfiei@ficies achieved in having the role of
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman combined, badause the detailed knowledge of our day-to-dayatjpns and business that the Chief
Executive Officer possesses greatly enhances ttisidle-making processes of our board of directsra ahole. We have a strong governance
structure in place, including independent directtrensure the powers and duties of the dualan@éhandled responsibly. We do not have a
lead independent director.

The Chairman of the board of directors and theratiembers of the board of directors work in contegirovide oversight of our
management and affairs. Our board of directors @rges communication among its members and betmeeagement and the board of
directors to facilitate productive working relatgrips. Working with the other members of the bazrdirectors, Dr. Mates also strives to
ensure that there is an appropriate balance amus famong key board responsibilities such as sicatlyelopment, review of operations and
risk oversight.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Unless we specifically indicate otherwise, all ghand per share numbers included in this “Execi@iompensation” section have been
adjusted as necessary to reflect the exchangeaoésim the Merger.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table shows the total compensatioid jpa accrued during the last two fiscal years ehdecember 31, 2013 and 2012 to
(1) our President and Chief Executive Officer aRdqur two next most highly compensated executffiears who earned more than $100,000
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013na1d serving as executive officers as of such ddtese executive officers are referred to
as our “named executive officers” in this report.

All Other
Option Compensatior
Salary Bonus Awards Total
Name and Principal Position Year $) $) $w $ @ $)
Sharon Mates, Ph.I 2013 611,90( 500,00(3) 115,00( 8,44: 1,235,34.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive 201z 588,40( 117,70( 100,00( 7,75( 813,85(
Officer
Lawrence J. Hinelin 2012 257,50( 100,00(# 23,00( 8,16¢ 388,66¢
Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial 201z 250,00( 17,50( 20,00( 7,75( 295,25(
Officer and Secretar
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C 201z 257,90( 25,80() 17,25( 7,92¢ 308,87t
Vice President of Business Developn 201z  250,40( 8,80( 20,00( 7,75( 286,95(

(1) The options granted in 2013 were for the nameztutive officer's performance in 2012 and theays granted in 2012 were for the
named executive officer's performance in 2011. Eha@sounts represent the aggregate grant datealaie for option awards granted to
our named executive officers, compute(
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(@)

(3)

(4)

(5)

accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 4uoanidited consolidated financial statements ferfibcal years ended

December 31, 2013 and 2012 included in this refpordetails as to the assumptions used to calcthatéair value of the option awards.
See also our discussion of stock-based compenaatider “Managemerg’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults o
Operation—Ciritical Accounting Policies and Estimaf’

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013sists of $792 for Dr. Mates, $516 for Mr. Hineliaed $276 for Dr. Fienberg in life
insurance premiums we paid for a term life insueapalicy to benefit the executive officer with &éavalue of $150,000, and the balance
in matching contributions under our 401(k) plant #e fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, consist250 in life insurance premiur
we paid for a term life insurance policy to ben#fit executive officer with a face value of $15@,08nd the balance in matching
contributions under our 401(k) ple

Dr. Mates received a bonus of $306,000 forgeeformance during the fiscal year ended Decembg?@13 plus an additional bonus of
$194,000 for her performance in connection withshecessful completion of the Private Placementgkteand Phase 2 clinical trial of
ITI-007.

Mr. Hineline received a bonus of $51,500 far pérformance during the fiscal year ended Dece®be2013 plus an additional bonus of
$48,500 for his performance in connection withghecessful completion of the Private Placementgelieand Phase 2 clinical trial of
ITI-007.

Dr. Fienberg received a bonus of $25,800 for hisopmance during the fiscal year ended Decembe2G13.

2013 Fiscal Year Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table shows information regardingrmgsaof equity awards that we made during the figear ended December 31, 2013 to

each of our named executive officers. We did nahgany non-equity incentive plan awards durindfigeal year ended December 31, 2013.

All Other Option

Awards: Number Exercise or Bas Grant Date Fair

Compensatior Value of Stock anc
of Securities Price of Option
Committee Grant Underlying Awards ($/Sh) Option Awards
Name Approval @) Date () Options (#) @ @) ®=

Sharon Mates, Ph.D. 12/20/201. 5/31/201: 50,00( 3.2¢ 115,00(
Lawrence J. Hinelin 12/20/201. 5/31/201: 10,00( 3.2¢ 23,00(
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C 12/20/201. 5/31/201. 7,50( 3.2¢ 17,25(
(1) On December 20, 2012, ITI's compensation corn@migpproved grants of 50,000 options to Dr. M&t@g)00 options to Mr. Hineline

(2)
(3)

(4)

and 7,500 options to Dr. Fienberg to be granteldiohg the completion of a valuation of ITI's commetock and an increase in the
number of shares reserved under ITI's 2003 Equitghtive Plan. Following the completion of the aian of ITI's common stock and
the increase in the number of shares reserved Uihbde2003 Equity Incentive Plan, on May 31, 20h2 board of directors of ITI
approved these option grants at an exercise pfi$8.86 per share

These awards are subject to vesting, as describéekail unde“—Outstanding Equity Awards at 2013 Fiscal Y-Enc” below.

The exercise price is equal to the fair mavedtie of our common stock, determined in good faittour board of directors in accordance
with the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, since ITI veaprivate company at the time of gre

These amounts represent the aggregate granfadavalue for option awards granted to our naeweetutive officers, computed in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 4uoanidited consolidated financial statements ferfibcal years ended

December 31, 2013 and 2012 included in this refjpordetails as to the assumptions used to calcthatéair value of the option awards.
See also our discussion of stock-based compensatider “Managemerg’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults o
Operation—Ciritical Accounting Policies and Estimaf’
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Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table

Sharon Mates, Ph.DlVe entered into an employment agreement with Dteslan February 2008, who has been our PresidehChief
Executive Officer since 2003. The agreement pra/fde a salary of $503,000 effective in Februar@@G0subject to our annual review and
adjustment in the discretion of our board of dioest and that Dr. Mates is eligible for bonus pagtae&nd stock options as may be awarded b
our board of directors. The most recent adjustneffective on January 1, 2014, increased Dr. Matakiry to $636,000, which represented a
4% increase from her 2013 base salary of $611)80December 2013, she was awarded a bonus of 330600 50% of her then base salary,
for her performance during the fiscal year endeddb&ber 31, 2013, plus an additional bonus of $1®4{0r her performance in connection
with the successful completion of the Private Plaeet, Merger and Phase 2 clinical trial of ITI-00Yaddition, her employment agreement
provides that we will pay the premium on a lifeirence policy in an amount equal to one and orfeihads her base salary; however, we paic
a premium in the amount of $792 on a life insurgoaiecy with a face value of $150,000, to which sissented. For 2013, we also paid $7,65
in matching contributions under our 401(k) plane Bmployment agreement also provides that Dr. Matestitled to participate in our benefit
plans on the same basis as other executive leabgees as well as long-term disability insurance @imbursement for reasonable business
expenses. The initial term of the agreement wastkiears and will be renewed for successive onetgaas, unless we or Dr. Mates provides
notice that we or she, as the case may be, doegisioto renew the agreement or wishes to renevagneement on different terms than those
contained in the agreement.

If Dr. Mates’ employment is terminated for any @asshe will be entitled to compensation and béséirough the last day of her
employment, including accrued but untaken vacatidmer employment is terminated due to her deattligability, we will also pay her or her
estate the compensation which would otherwise baes payable to her through the end of the monithioh such termination occurs as well
as payment for any accrued but untaken vacatidreriemployment is terminated without cause byrughe terminates her employment for
good reason, she will receive the following seveeslpenefits following her employment termination,amndition that she executes a general
release in our favor: (a) payment of 12 monthsesfthen current base salary and the pro rata posfian amount equal to the bonus she was
awarded for the previous year, if any, which seweegpayments will be paid in one lump sum on the ttee general release she executes
becomes effective; (b) payment for 12 months ofibition of the COBRA premiums that we paid primher termination; and (c) all of her
unvested stock options will become fully vested aredrcisable. Dr. Mates will also be entitled talsseverance benefits if we elect not to
renew her employment agreement for reasons othardbath, disability or cause, but (i) such sevardenefits are conditioned on Dr. Mates
executing a general release in favor of us, retigrail our property, and complying with her empl@mhagreement, proprietary information,
inventions, and non-competition agreement, andyémeral release and (ii) Dr. Mates will not beibligyfor such severance benefits if she or
we wish to renew the agreement on different tetras those contained in her employment agreemetttelevent of a change of control, all of
her unvested stock options and restricted stodknmwhediately vest. If her employment is terminatedreasons other than death or disability
within three months before or 12 months followinghange of control, she terminates her employnmrydod reason during such period, or
she terminates her employment for any reason witheamonth following a change of control, she Wéleligible for the following severance
benefits following her employment termination: payment of 18 months of her then current baseysalad the pro rata portion of an amount
equal to the bonus she was awarded for the preyiears which severance payments will be paid inlanmg sum on the eighth day following
the effective date of the general release, angdbinent for 18 months of the portion of the COBRAmiums that we paid prior to her
termination. Such severance benefits following ancfe of control are payable on condition that dtee@tes a general release in favor of us,
returns all our property and complies with her gesmination obligations under her employment agrext, her proprietary information,
inventions, and non-competition agreement, andybaeral release.
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Pursuant to her proprietary information, inventicssd non-competition agreement, Dr. Mates hasedg@not (i) solicit customers,
consultants, contractors or employees of ours foerand of one year after the termination of hepkryment or (i) compete with us for a
period of one year after the later of the termmatf her employment or the date a court of compgteisdiction enters an order enforcing the
non-competition provision.

Lawrence J. HinelineWe entered into an employment agreement with Mnehtie in February 2008, who has been our Viceiéeas of
Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary siR602. The agreement provides for a salary of #@06effective in February 2008, subject
to our annual review and adjustment in the disonetif our board of directors, and that Mr. Hineliaeligible for bonus payments and stock
options as may be awarded by our board of directdrs most recent adjustment, effective on JanligP914, increased Mr. Hineline’s salary
to $309,000, which represented a 20% increase [fierB013 base salary of $257,500. In December 204 8as awarded a bonus of $51,500,
or 20% of his then base salary, for his performahaing the fiscal year ended December 31, 201% ph additional bonus of $49,500 for his
performance in connection with the successful cetignh of the Private Placement, Merger and Phadimi2al trial of ITI-007. In addition, his
employment agreement provides that we will payptfegnium on a life insurance policy in an amountadqo one and one half times his base
salary; however, we paid a premium in the amoudf6é on a life insurance policy with a face vatfi$150,000, to which he assented. For
2013, we also paid $7,650 in matching contributionder our 401(k) plan. The employment agreemesat mlovides that Mr. Hineline is
entitled to participate in our benefit plans on slaene basis as other executive level employeeskhasviong-term disability insurance and
reimbursement for reasonable business expensesnilibkterm of the agreement was three yearswilide renewed for successive one year
terms, unless we or Mr. Hineline provides noticat thre or he, as the case may be, does not wisinewrthe agreement or wishes to renew th
agreement on different terms than those contaiméaei agreement.

If Mr. Hineline’s employment is terminated for argason, he will be entitled to compensation ancfisnthrough the last day of his
employment, including accrued but untaken vacatidnis employment is terminated due to his deattisability, we will also pay him or his
estate the compensation which would otherwise baes payable to him through the end of the monthhich such termination occurs as v
as payment for any accrued but untaken vacatidris liEmployment is terminated without cause byruseaterminates his employment for ge
reason, he will receive the following severancedigmfollowing his employment termination, on catiwh that he executes a general releas
our favor: (a) payment of 12 months of his therrentrbase salary and the pro rata portion of anuaitnegual to the bonus he was awarded fol
the previous year, if any, which severance paymeiltde paid in one lump sum on the date the galrelease he executes becomes effective
(b) payment for 12 months of the portion of the G¥Bpremiums that we paid prior to his terminatiand (c) all of his unvested stock optic
will become fully vested and exercisable. Mr. Hinelwill also be entitled to such severance beséfilve elect not to renew his employment
agreement for reasons other than death, disabiliause, but (i) such severance benefits are ttoned on Mr. Hineline executing a general
release in our favor, returning all our propertyd @omplying with his employment agreement, prdarieinformation, inventions, and non-
competition agreement, and the general releaséiquMt. Hineline will not be eligible for such sevance benefits if he or we wish to renew
agreement on different terms than those contaiméisiemployment agreement. In the event of a ahafigontrol, all of his unvested stock
options and restricted stock will immediately vékhis employment is terminated for reasons othan death or disability within three months
before or 12 months following a change of conthel terminates his employment for good reason dwirdp period, or he terminates his
employment for any reason within one month follogvanchange of control, he will be eligible for flelowing severance benefits following
his employment termination: (a) payment of 18 merthhis then current base salary and the prop@tgon of an amount equal to the bonus
he was awarded for the previous year, which seeerpayments will be paid in one lump sum on thathiglay following the effective date of
the general release, and (b) payment for 18 mafttie portion of the COBRA premiums that we paibipto his termination. Such severance
benefits following a change of control are payalsiecondition that he executes a general releafvar of us, returns
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all our property and complies with his post-terntior obligations under his employment agreemestphdprietary information, inventions,
and non-competition agreement, and his generaisele

Pursuant to his proprietary information, inventioasd non-competition agreement, Mr. Hineline rgread to not (i) solicit customers,
consultants, contractors or employees of ours fmeraod of one year after the termination of higpbayment or (ii) compete with us for a
period of one year after the later of the termvatf his employment or the date a court of compgteisdiction enters an order enforcing the
non-competition provision.

Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.DWe entered into an employment agreement with mlsérg in February 2008, who has been our Vicednet
of Business Development since 2002. The agreemenides for a salary of $221,400 effective in Feloyu2008, subject to our annual review
and adjustment in the discretion of our board odéatbrs, and that Dr. Fienberg is eligible for b®payments and stock options as may be
awarded by our board of directors. The most readjustment, effective on January 1, 2014, incre&@seérienbergs salary to $268,200, whit
represented a 4% increase from his 2013 base «#H&857,900. In December 2013, he was awardedasof $25,800, or 10% of his then
base salary, for his performance during the figear ended December 31, 2013. In addition, his eynpént agreement provides that we will
pay the premium on a life insurance policy in aroant equal to one and one half times his baseysdlawever, we paid a premium in the
amount of $276 on a life insurance policy with egfaalue of $150,000, to which he assented. Fo2,20# also paid $7,650 in matching
contributions under our 401(k) plan. The employnegreement also provides that Dr. Fienberg isledttb participate in our benefit plans on
the same basis as other executive level employeeelaas longerm disability insurance and reimbursement fosoeable business expens
The initial term of the agreement was three yeadswaill be renewed for successive one year termiess we or Dr. Fienberg provides notice
that we or he, as the case may be, does not wiginéw the agreement or wishes to renew the agreemmdifferent terms than those
contained in the agreement.

If Dr. Fienberg’s employment is terminated for aegson, he will be entitled to compensation anafisnthrough the last day of his
employment, including accrued but untaken vacatidnis employment is terminated due to his deattisability, we will also pay him or his
estate the compensation which would otherwise baes payable to him through the end of the monthhich such termination occurs as v
as payment for any accrued but untaken vacatidris liEmployment is terminated without cause byruseaterminates his employment for ge
reason, he will receive the following severancedfigmfollowing his employment termination, on caiah that he executes a general releas
our favor: (a) payment of 12 months of his therrentrbase salary and the pro rata portion of anuaitnegual to the bonus he was awarded fol
the previous year, if any, which severance paymeiltde paid in one lump sum on the date the galrelease he executes becomes effective
(b) payment for 12 months of the portion of the G¥Bpremiums that we paid prior to his terminatiand (c) all of his unvested stock optic
will become fully vested and exercisable. Dr. Fiergowill also be entitled to such severance bendfive elect not to renew his employment
agreement for reasons other than death, disabilibause, but (i) such severance benefits are ttoned on Dr. Fienberg executing a general
release in our favor, returning all our propertyd @omplying with his employment agreement, prdarieinformation, inventions, and non-
competition agreement, and the general releaséiquii. Fienberg will not be eligible for such sance benefits if he or we wish to renew
agreement on different terms than those contaiméisiemployment agreement. In the event of a ahafigontrol, 75% of his unvested stock
options and restricted stock will immediately vest.

Pursuant to his proprietary information, inventioaisd non-competition agreement, Dr. Fienberg baseal to not (i) solicit customers,
consultants, contractors or employees of ours foerand of one year after the termination of higplayment or (ii) compete with us for a
period of one year after the later of the termvatf his employment or the date a court of compgteisdiction enters an order enforcing the
non-competition provision.
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The meanings of the terms “cause,” “good reasatigdbility” and “change of control” for purposestbése employment agreements are
described below under “Potential Payments upon rextion or Change in Control.”

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2013 Fiscal Year-End

The following table shows grants of stock optionsstanding on the last day of the fiscal year eridedember 31, 2013, to each of the
named executive officers.

Number of Number of

Securities Securities

Underlying Underlying

Unexercised Option: Unexercised Option: Option
Exercise Price
#O #O Option

Name Exercisable Unexercisable g$] Expiration Date
Sharon Mates, Ph.I 50,00( 0 $ 0.5C 12/19/201.
25,00( 0 $ 0.6C 12/14/201!
25,00( 0 $ 1.3¢€ 12/5/201¢
37,50( 0 $ 1.5C 12/12/201
50,00( 0 $ 1.5C 12/18/201:
50,00( 0 $ 2.7 6/10/202!
50,00( 0 $ 2.74 12/21/202
33,33: 16,66 $ 2.8¢ 4/30/202:
16,66¢ 33,33¢ $ 3.2¢ 5/31/202.
Lawrence J. Hinelin 37,50( $ 0.5C 12/19/201.
12,50( 0 $ 0.6( 12/14/201!
12,50( 0 $ 1.3¢ 12/5/201¢
12,50( 0 $ 1.5C 12/12/201
10,00¢( 0 $ 1.5C 12/18/201:
10,00( 0 $ 2.74 6/10/202!
10,00( 0 $ 2.7¢ 12/21/202
6,66¢ 3,33¢ $ 2.8¢ 4/30/202:
3,33¢ 6,667 $ 3.2¢ 5/31/202.
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C 37,50( 0 $ 0.5C 12/19/201.
12,50( 0 $ 0.6( 12/14/201!
12,50( 0 $ 1.3¢€ 12/5/201¢
12,50( 0 $ 1.5C 12/12/201
10,00( 0 $ 1.5C 12/18/201:
10,00( 0 $ 2.7¢ 6/10/202!
10,00( 0 $ 2.74 12/21/202
6,66¢ 3,33¢ $ 2.84 4/30/202:
2,50( 5,00( $ 3.2¢ 5/31/202:

(1) The remaining options to purchase shares o€oommon stock that expire on April 30, 2022 wilsven December 20, 2014. Each
option to purchase our common stock that expirelan 31, 2023 vested as to 1/3 of the shares oember 20, 2013, and will vest as
to 1/3 of the shares on December 20, 2014 andfif8shares on December 20, 2015. All options lzaten year term from the date of
grant.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2013

The following table shows information regarding e®es of options to purchase our common stockaloh @f our named executive
officers during the fiscal year ended December2813.

Option Awards

Number of
Shares
Acquired Value Realizec
on Exercise
on Exercise
Name *#) $) @
Sharon Mates, Ph.I 50,00( 302,64(
Lawrence J. Hinelin 50,00( 302,64(
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C 37,50( 226,98(

(1) Amounts shown in this column do not represetia value realized from the sale of the sharesiaed upon exercise of options becaus
the shares were not sold on exercise but contmbe teld by the executive officer exercising thgam. As these options were exercisec
prior to the Merger, the amounts shown represantlifierence between the option exercise price®hii764, the price at which ITI
common stock was sold in the Private Placemeradassted to $6.3528 after giving effect to the Mxjc

Pension Benefits

We do not have any qualified or non-qualified defirbenefit plans.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

We do not have any nonqualified defined contribufians or other deferred compensation plans.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Cotrol

Upon termination of employment without cause oesignation for good reason, each as defined belomamed executive officers are
entitled to receive severance payments. Severanderfnination without cause or termination for daeason, each as defined below, for
named executive officers is 12 months of base palais the pro rata portion of an amount equah®konus awarded to such named executiv
officer for the previous year, if any. In additiach named executive officer is entitled to paynoéi2 months of the portion of the premiu
for medical insurance coverage under COBRA thapaid prior to such named executive officer’s teration. Payment of these severance
benefits is conditioned on the named executiveeffsigning a general release in our favor.

The table below summarizes the potential paymerdsanefits to each of our named executive offiasmiming a termination without
cause or resignation for good reason had occused Becember 31, 2013.

Pos*-
Severance Bonus Termination
Payments Payments Total
Name 1) ) Benefits () Benefits
Sharon Mates, Ph.I $611,90( $117,70( $ 16,63¢ $746,23¢
Lawrence J. Hinelin $257,50( $ 17,50( $ 16,63¢ $291,63¢
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C $257,90( $ 8,80( $ 16,63¢ $283,33¢

(1) The severance agreements for our named execuficersfare set forth in their respective employnmegreements

(2) Reflects a pro rata portion of the named exeeudfficer's 2012 bonus based on the period framudry 1, 2013 through December 31,
2013, which equals the full amount of the namedetiee officer's 2012 bonus. However, the 2013 had already been paid to such
named executive officers prior to December 31, Z@1Be amounts set forth in the “Summary Compeosatable” above, so we would
not have paid the amounts set forth in this col@nbecember 31, 2013 in addition to the 2013 bgaysnents already mac
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(3)

Represents premiums that would be payable Bgrusontinuation of the executive’s medical andtééinsurance coverage, assuming a
termination without cause or resignation for goeason had occurred as of December 31, 2

The table below summarizes the potential paymerdsanefits to each of our named executive offiessiming a termination followir

a change in control had occurred at December 3113.20ach of our named executive officers has agreediting that the Merger did not
constitute a change in control under their respe@mployment agreements.

Value of
Additional
Vested Pos-
Severance Bonus Option Termination
Payments Payments Awards @ Total
Name @ L@ 3 Benefits W® Benefits
Sharon Mates, Ph.I $917,85( $117,70( $844,03: $ 24,957 $1,904,54
Lawrence J. Hinelin $386,25( $ 17,50( $168,81° $ 24,95 $ 597,52
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C $257,90( $ 8,80( $105,69° $ 16,63¢ $ 389,03

(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

Each of our named executive officers, excepbio Fienberg, shall, if the executive’s employmisriterminated for reasons other than
death or disability within three months before @rmionths following a change of control, the exa@iterminates his or her employment
for good reason during such period, or the exeeutvminates his or her employment for any reasittmmone month following a chan
of control, be entitled to (a) payment of 18 monththe executive’s then current base salary aagth rata portion of an amount equal
to the bonus the executive was awarded for theiguewear, if any, and (b) payment by us of 18 msmf the portion of the premiums
for medical insurance coverage under COBRA thapaid prior to such executive’s termination. Suchesance benefits following a
change of control are payable on condition thaetkecutive executes a general release in favos,afeturns all our property and
complies with his or her post-termination obligagaunder his or her employment agreement, propyi@téormation, inventions, and
non-competition agreement, and general release. Uppswash termination, Dr. Fienberg would be entitiedhe same severance ben
that he otherwise would be entitled to receive aitiregard to a change of control as describedeabavaddition, in the event of a
change of control, any unvested stock options stricted stock awarded to Dr. Mates or Mr. Hinelivié immediately vest and become
exercisable and 75% of any unvested stock optionsstricted stock awarded to Dr. Fienberg will igdiately vest and become
exercisable

Reflects a pro rata portion of the named exeeudfficer's 2012 bonus based on the period framuadry 1, 2013 through December 31,
2013, which equals the full amount of the namedetiee officer's 2012 bonus. However, the 2013 Imhad already been paid to such
named executive officers prior to December 31, Z2@1Be amounts set forth in the “Summary Compeosdtable” above, so we would
not have paid the amounts set forth in this colanBecember 31, 2013 in addition to the 2013 b@aysnents already mac

This represents the intrinsic value of the numifemption shares that would vest, assuming a chahgentrol termination had occurrec
December 31, 201

Represents premiums that would be payable grusontinuation of the executive’s medical andtdéinsurance coverage, assuming a
change of control termination had occurred at Ddmar31, 2013
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The table below summarizes the potential paymerdsanefits to each of our named executive offiessiming a change in control
without termination had occurred at December 31320

Value of
Additional
Vested PosH-
Severanci Option Termination
Bonus Awards (1) Total

Name Payments Payments 2 Benefits Benefits
Sharon Mates, Ph.[ N/A N/A $844,03: N/A $844,03:
Lawrence J. Hinelin N/A N/A $168,81° N/A $168,81°
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C N/A N/A $105,69° N/A $105,69°

(1) Inthe event of a change of control, any uregstock options or restricted stock awarded taMates or Mr. Hineline will immediately
vest and become exercisable and 75% of any unvetiekl options or restricted stock awarded to Denberg will immediately vest and
become exercisabl

(2) This represents the intrinsic value of the nantf option shares that would vest, assuming agdaf control without termination had
occurred at December 31, 20:

For purposes of severance payments, “good reasa®fined as an executive resigning after the weoge of one of the following evel
without the executive’s written consent:
e The assignment to the executive of any duties gpaesibilities which result in the material dimiiaut of the executiv's position;

e areduction by the Company in the executivainual base salary of 5% or greater with redpedat. Mates and Mr. Hineline, and
greater than 5% with respect to Dr. Fienb

* amaterial change in the geographic location athvtiie executive is required to perform service:
* material breach by the Company of any material igion of the executivs employment agreeme
The executive must provide us with written notidéhim 60 days after the occurrence of a good reasemt, and we have 30 days to
correct the event after receipt of the notice.
For purposes of severance payments, “cause” inglbfis a termination by us after the occurrenamefof the following events:

* agood faith finding by the Company that the@axive has engaged in gross negligence or grassomduct that is materially
injurious to the Compan

» the executiv's conviction of a felony or crime involving fraud @mbezzlement of Company propel

» the executive’s material breach of the exeeltiemployment agreement which, if curable, haseen cured by the executive
within 60 days after he or she receives writteraeoirom the Company stating with reasonable sftyithe nature of the breac

* material breach of fiduciary duty;

» refusal to follow or implement a clear and w@ble directive of our board of directors as alelfor an officer of the Company, in
the case of Mr. Hineline and Dr. Fienberg), prodidleat such directive is ethical and legal and Whitccurable, has not been cured
by the executive within 60 days after he or sheikexs written notice from the Company stating wehsonable specificity the
nature of such refuse

For purposes of severance payments, the determinatti‘disability” will occur when the executive ismable due to a physical or mental
condition to perform the essential functions ofdrisier position with or without reasonable accordatmn for 90 consecutive days, or 180
days in the aggregate whether or not consecutivinglany 360-day period, or based on the writenification by a licensed physician of the
likely continuation of such condition for such posti
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For purposes of severance payments, a “changeninotbmeans:
» asale, lease or other disposition of all or sutigty all of the assets of the Compa

e aconsolidation or merger of the Company witlnto any other corporation or other entity orqmer, or any other corporate
reorganization, in which the stockholders of thenPany immediately prior to such consolidation, neergyr reorganization, own
less than 50% of the outstanding voting power efgihrviving entity (and its parent) following thensolidation, merger or
reorganization; o

e any transaction (or series of related traneastinvolving a person or entity, or a group ofliafied persons or entities) in which in
excess of 50% of the Compé's outstanding voting power is transferr

Notwithstanding the foregoing,“change in control” will not be deemed to occuramtount of the sale or acquisition of the Compangjsital
stock by institutional investors or venture capiilahs for the primary purpose of obtaining finamgifor the Company.

Additional Narrative Disclosure

We sponsor a defined contribution 401(k) plan cmgeall full-time employees. Participants may el@ctontribute their annual pre-tax
earnings up to the federally allowed maximum lim¥te make a matching contribution of 50% on thst % of contributions made by
participants. For the fiscal year ended DecembgeRB13, we made matching contributions in the amoti$7,650 to the 401(k) plan for each
of our named executive officers.

Director Compensation

The following table shows the total compensatioid jpa accrued during the fiscal year ended DecerBtheP013 to each of our directors,
other than Dr. Mates who does not receive compemsadr her service as a director.

Change in Pensio

Fees Non-Equity
Earned or Incentive Plan Value and
Stock Nonqualified All Other

Paid in Awards Option Compensatior Deferred Compensatior

Cash Awards @ Compensation Total
Name @) ($) ($) (%) ($) Earnings ($) (%)
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D®) N/A N/A 65,80( N/A N/A N/A 65,80(
Richard Lerner, M.D(*) N/A N/A 72,80( N/A N/A N/A 72,80(
Joel S. Marcu® N/A N/A 72,80( N/A N/A N/A 72,80(
Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D.,

FRCP, FMedSc® N/A N/A 60,48( N/A N/A N/A 60,48(

(1) Mr. Riggs and Mr. Van Nostrand were appointedur board of directors in January 2014 and tloeeedid not receive any compensation
for service on our board of directors during threedl year ended December 31, 2013. As of Decenthed(33, Mr. Riggs and Mr. Van
Nostrand held no options to purchase shares of@uamon stock

(2) These amounts represent the aggregate granfadavalue for option awards granted to our naeestutive officers, computed in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 4uircanidited consolidated financial statements ferfibcal years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 included in this refpordetails as to the assumptions used to calcthatéair value of the option awards.
See also our discussion of stock-based compenaatider “Managemergs’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults o
Operation—Ciritical Accounting Policies and Estimaf’

(3) As of December 31, 2013, Dr. Alafi held 29,375 op$ to purchase shares of our common stock, nowhich were veste(
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(4) As of December 31, 2013, Dr. Lerner held 105,006bop to purchase shares of our common stock, aftwFB,750 options were veste

(5) As of December 31, 2013, Mr. Marcus held 110,06ptions to purchase shares of our common stdakhich 83,750 options were
vested.

(6) As of December 31, 2013, Sir Michael held 27,0000ms to purchase shares of our common stock, obnich were vestec

Director Compensation Policy

As compensation to our non-employee directorsternfear ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we drapt®ns to purchase 20,000
shares, and 12,500 shares of our common stocleatggly, to each of our non-employee directorsisgrduring such years. We granted any
non-employee director who resigned from or joirtegl IfT | board of directors during such years therpta portion of the annual option grant
representing the portion of such year during wisisgbh non-employee director served. We intend t@ptamon-employee director
compensation policy designed to ensure that thepeosation aligns the directors’ interests withltrg-term interests of the stockholders, tha
the structure of the compensation is simple, traresgt and easy for stockholders to understandtetdur directors are fairly compensated.

Compensation Practices and Policies Relating to RisManagement

Consistent with SEC disclosure requirements, we lessessed our compensation policies, practiceavaadis and have concluded that
our compensation policies, practices and awardsotlgreate risks that are reasonably likely to reaweaterial adverse effect on the company.
Our management assessed our compensation andtbgmefirams to determine if the programs’ provisiand operations create undesired or
unintentional risk of a material nature. We do Inate any programs where the ability of a participaay directly affect variability or timing
payout. Rather, our compensation programs incluctmnebination of fixed base salaries, cash bonuseg;term incentive awards, and
employee retirement plans that are generally umifior design and operation throughout the compaudyéth all levels of employees. The
compensation policies and practices are substhyntied same.

Based on the foregoing, we believe that our congt@nspolicies, practices and awards do not cneslts that are likely to have a
material adverse effect on the company as a whidéealso believe that our incentive compensatioang@ments provide incentives that do no
encourage risk-taking beyond the organization’sitghio effectively identify and manage significamks, are compatible with our effective
internal controls and our risk management practiaed are supported by the oversight and admitistraf the Compensation Committee w
regard to executive compensation programs.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth the number of sharesur common stock beneficially owned as of Matéh 2014 by (i) each of our
directors and named executive officers, (ii) albaf current executive officers and directors gsaap, and (iii) each person known by us to be
the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the ouwditagn shares of our common stock. Except as indicatéootnotes to this table, we believe
that the stockholders named in this table havesatiag and investment power with respect to adlrels of common stock shown to be
beneficially owned by them based on informationvited to us by these stockholders, subject to conitymproperty laws, where applicable.
Percentage of ownership is based on 29,222, 74é@sbhcommon stock outstanding on March 15, 20es$ otherwise noted below, the
address of each stockholder below is c/o IntravG®lTherapies, Inc., 3960 Broadway, New York, Néevk 10032.

Number of
Shares of Percentage o
Common Stock Common Stock
Beneficially Ownec Beneficially Ownec
Beneficial Owner Title (#) @ (%) @©
Directors and Named Executive Officers
Sharon Mates, Ph.[® Chairman, President and 1,391,43 4.7%
Chief Executive Office
Lawrence J. Hinelin&®) Vice President of Financ 164,99¢ 2
Chief Financial Officer
and Secretar
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.D# Vice President of Busine 351,66! 1.2%
Developmen
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D®) Director 4,046,63: 13.8%
Richard Lerner, M.D(®) Director 116,25( *
Joel S. Marcu( Director 1,383,34 4.7%
Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D., FRCP, FMed¢ Director — *
Rory B. Riggs® Director 252,76: i3
Robert L. Van Nostran Director — *
All current executive officers and directors asraup
(12 persons®) 7,970,17. 26.5%
Other 5% or More Stockholders
Alafi Capital Company, LLC and Moshe Al&10) 3,558,62 12.2%
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Investmen(11) 4,073,91 13.9%
Morton I. Soslan(12) 3,388,38! 11.6%

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1#heshares of common stor

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accorgawith SEC rules, and includes any shares as tohithe stockholder has sole or shared
voting power or investment power, and also anyeshahich the stockholder has the right to acquiteiw60 days of March 15, 2014,
whether through the exercise or conversion of angksoption, convertible security, warrant or othight. The indication herein that
shares are beneficially owned is not an admissiothe part of the stockholder that he, she oratdsrect or indirect beneficial owner of
those share:

(2) Consists of 1,053,935 shares of common stodkogtions to purchase 337,495 shares of commok stbich are exercisable within 60
days of March 15, 201.

(3) Consists of 50,000 shares of common stock and gt purchase 114,999 shares of common stock velneckxercisable within 60 da
of March 15, 2014

(4) Consists of 237,500 shares of common stockogtidns to purchase 114,165 shares of common sthah are exercisable within 60
days of March 15, 2014. Does not include: (i) 2@8,6hares of common stock held by J.D.F. Holdings, in which Dr. Fienberg holds
a 20% ownership interest; and (ii) 50,(
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()

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

shares of common stock held by two trusts for teeffit of members of Dr. Fienberg’s family. Dr. Riierg has no voting or investment
control with respect to any of the shares owned.ByF. Holdings Ltd. or held in the trus

Consists of 3,542,885 shares of common stoltktheAlafi Capital Company, LLC, or Alafi Capitadnd 503,753 shares of common
stock held by a trust for the benefit of memberthefAlafi family. Dr. Alafi is a managing partnef Alafi Capital and has shared voting
and investment power with respect to the shareedvay Alafi Capital and full voting and investmgrutwer with respect to shares ow
by the trust. Does not include 503,776 shares nekivo other trusts for the benefit of membershef Alafi family for which Dr. Alafi
does not have voting or investment control. Theesklfor Dr. Alafi is c/o Alafi Capital Company, O, 8 Admiral Drive, Suite 324,
Emeryville, CA 94608

Consists of options to purchase 78,750 shdresromon stock held by Dr. Lerner which are exetois within 60 days of March 15,
2014, and 37,500 shares of common stock held biehger Family Trust UAD 11/14/94, or the Lernentily Trust. Dr. Lerner shares
voting and investment control with respect to thares held by the Lerner Family TrL

Consists of (i) 1,283,856 shares of commonkstmdd by Alexandria Equities, LLC, (ii) 15,742 sha of common stock held by the Joel
S. Marcus and Barbara A. Marcus Family Trust, aifjdoftions to purchase 83,750 shares of commoaksheld by Mr. Marcus, which
are exercisable within 60 days of March 15, 2014. Marcus is the Chairman, CEO and Founder of Alexia Real Estate Equities, In
which is the managing member of Alexandria EqujtidsC, which has full voting and investment powethwrespect to the shares owned
by Alexandria Equities, LLC. As an officer of Alexdria Real Estate Equities, Inc., Mr. Marcus mayleemed to have voting and
investment power with respect to the shares owgedléxandria Equities, LLC. Mr. Marcus disclaimsriedicial ownership of the shares
held by Alexandria Equities, LLC, except to theamttof his underlying pecuniary interest thereine Bddress for Mr. Marcus is c/o
Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc., 385 Easb@umlo Boulevard, Suite 299, Pasadena, CA 91

Consists of 11,806 shares of common stock nelslir. Riggs and 240,955 shares of common stoatt bgINew Ventures |, LLC.

Mr. Riggs is Managing Member of New Ventures |, La@d has voting and investment control with respetite shares held by New
Ventures |, LLC. The address of New Ventures I, LE@G500 Pacific Avenue, Virginia Beach, VA 234!

See footnotes 2 through 8. Also includes 112 &tares of common stock and options to purchaB&832 shares of common stock held
by Lawrence P. Wennogle, Ph.D., Vice Presidentgiscovery, which are exercisable within 60 dafyMarch 15, 2014, and options
purchase 39,749 shares of common stock, whichxareisable within 60 days of March 15, 2014, hejdimberly E. Vanover, Ph.D.,
Vice President, Clinical Development. Juan F. SamcM.D., Vice President Corporate Communicatiams lavestor Relations, held no
shares of common stock or options to purchase slod@mmon stock as of March 15, 20

Consists of 3,542,885 shares of common stock helldifi Capital and 15,742 shares of common stoelk lby Moshe Alafi. Christoph
Alafi, Ph.D., one of our directors, and Moshe Alafe each managing partners of Alafi Capital aradeskioting and investment power
with respect to the shares owned by Alafi Capitak address for Moshe Alafi and Alafi Capital is@miral Drive, Suite 324,
Emeryville, CA 94608

Based on the Schedule 13G/A filed by FMR L@ #s affiliates on February 10, 2014, reporting &mount of securities beneficially
owned as of February 7, 2014. Fidelity ManagemeRe%earch Company, or Fidelity, 82 Devonshire §ti@ston, Massachusetts
02109, a whollyswned subsidiary of FMR LLC and an investment aglviegistered under Section 203 of the Investmelvisers Act o
1940, is the beneficial owner of 4,073,917 shafepmmon stock as a result of acting as investraduiser to various investment
companies registered under Section 8 of the Invasti@ompany Act of 1940. Edward C. Johnson 3d anR ELC, through its control
of Fidelity, and the funds each has sole poweiigpase of the 4,073,917 shares of common stock dwpehe Funds. Members of the
family of Edward C. Johnson 3d, Chairman of FMR L.la@e the predominant owners, directly or througbts, of Series B voting
common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of thiteng power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family groupail other Series B
shareholders have entered into a shareholdersigratireement under which all Series B voting comsiares will be voted in
accordance with the majority vote of Series B vgiommon shares. Accordingly, through their ownigrsifiivoting common shares and
the execution of the shareholc’ voting agreement, members of the Johnson family beageemed, under the Investm
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(12)

Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling groughwviespect to FMR LLC. Neither FMR LLC nor EdwardJohnson 3d, Chairman of
FMR LLC, has the sole power to vote or direct tbdng of the shares owned directly by the Fidefitynds, which power resides with the
Funds’ Boards of Trustees. Fidelity carries outwbieng of the shares under written guidelinestdithed by the Funds’ Boards of
Trustees

Consists of 707,287 shares of common stodk iweDavid N. Sosland Trust A; 1,948,554 sharesoofimon stock held by The Sosland
Family Trust B Partnership; and 732,548 shareoofraon stock held by The Sosland Foundation. Mort&wosland is Trustee of the
David N. Sosland Trust A, Managing Partner of Thsl&nd Family Trust B Partnership and Vice Chairmffihe Sosland Foundation,
which we refer to collectively as the Sosland Hoéd@s such, Mr. Sosland has sole voting and imwest power with respect to the
shares held by the Sosland Holders. The addreddrfd8osland and the Sosland Holders is 4800 Maiee® Suite 100, Kansas City, N
64112.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides certain aggregate rinfation with respect to all of our equity compei@aplans in effect as of

December 31, 2013.

Number of securities
remaining available for
Weighted-average

Number of securities to b exercise future issuance under
price of outstandinc equity compensation
issued upon exercise of plans
outstanding options, options, (excluding securities
Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrg(1)() 1,400,121 $ 1.9¢ 837,39(@
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgiers — — —
Total 1,400,121 $ 1.9¢ 837,39(@
(1) Consists of options outstanding under the 2BGity Incentive Plan at December 31, 2013. Noarstiwere outstanding under the 2013

(2)

Equity Incentive Plan at December 31, 2C

Consists of 837,390 shares reserved underh@ Equity Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2@&®s not include (i) up to an
additional 1,400,125 shares reserved under the EQLRy Incentive Plan solely after the cancellatar expiration of any unexercised
stock options outstanding under the 2003 Equitghtive Plan that we assumed in the Merger, subjeatljustment as provided in the
plan, and (ii) an additional 800,000 shares ofaammon stock approved for reservation by our bofdirectors effective January 1,
2014 for issuance under the 2013 Equity Incentia@ Pursuant to the “evergreen” provision of th&2@&quity Incentive Plan, as
described in further detail below under the capt@Bil3 Equity Incentive Plan.” The 2003 Equity Intige Plan terminated by its terms
in July 2013. As a result of such termination, dditonal awards may be granted under the 2003t drutentive Plan, but equity awal
previously granted under the 2003 Equity Incenilan will remain outstanding and continue to beegoed by the terms of the 2003
Equity Incentive Plar

2003 Equity Incentive Plan

The ITI 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, agapted by the board of directors of ITl in JuB03 and by the stockholders of ITI

in September 2003. The 2003 Equity Incentive Plas subsequently amended in January 2006, FebrQafyghd December 2012, and
expired by its terms in July 2013. As a resultudsexpiration, no additional awards may be granteter the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, but
equity awards previously granted under the 2003tEducentive Plan will remain outstanding and douag to be governed by the terms of the
2003 Equity Incentive Plan. In connection with Merger, we assumed the options then outstandingrihd 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, and
immediately following the Merger on August 29, 2018 only outstanding awards under the 2003 Ednigntive Plan were options to
purchase 1,462,380 shares of our common stock200@ Equity Incentive Plan is administered by ooaui of directors.
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If we are acquired, the surviving or acquiring ca@my may assume or continue the outstanding ophigrssibstituting either (a) the
consideration payable with respect to the outstandhares of common stock in connection with tlgisition or (b) shares of stock of the
successor or acquiring company. If the survivingayuiring company does not assume or continueutstanding options, the outstanding
options will be accelerated in full prior to thdeadtive time of the acquisition and will terminat@ot exercised at or prior to such effective
time.

2013 Equity Incentive Plan

In August 2013, our board of directors approved2t#3 Equity Incentive Plan. The 2013 Equity IneenPlan became effective on
November 7, 2013. Unless sooner terminated by oardoof directors or our stockholders, the 2013iyducentive Plan will expire 10 yea
from its date of effectiveness. Under our 2013 Bqglricentive Plan, we may grant incentive stocka, nonstatutory stock options, restric
stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, stpgkeciation rights and other stock awards to ouysleyees, directors and consultants.

As of December 31, 2013, the maximum number ofeshaf our common stock that may be delivered iisfs&tion of awards under the
2013 Equity Incentive Plan is 837,390 shares, pjut an additional maximum of 1,400,125 shareskvhiay be issued solely after the
cancellation or expiration of any unexercised stogkons that we assumed in the Merger. These nigrave subject to adjustment in the even
of a stock split, stock dividend or other changeun capitalization.

In addition, the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan consaam “evergreenprovision, which allows for an annual increasehi@ humber of share
of our common stock available for issuance under2thil3 Equity Incentive Plan on January 1 of eaar gommencing on January 1, 2014
ending upon expiration of the 2013 Equity Incenflan. Effective January 1, 2014, our board ofdors approved for reservation an
additional 800,000 shares of our common stockdsuance under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan patdoghe “evergreen” provision of the
2013 Equity Incentive Plan. In the future, the aalnncrease in the number of shares shall be eéquhk lesser of:

* 800,000 shares of our common stc
* 4% of the number of shares of our common stockiantng as of such date; a

» such lesser number of shares as determined byoawd lof directors prior to the applicable Januastdate.

Shares of our common stock to be issued under@h& Equity Incentive Plan may be authorized bussuned shares of our common
stock or previously issued shares acquired by ng.shares of our common stock underlying awardsdtierwise expire, terminate, or are
forfeited or reacquired by us will again be avditafor issuance under the 2013 Equity IncentivePla

The 2013 Equity Incentive Plan is administered by @mpensation committee. Our compensation coraenfias full power and
authority to determine the terms of awards grapteguant to this plan, including:

* which employees, directors and consultants shajraeted award:
« the type of award to be grante

» the terms and conditions of each award, inclgdhe schedule upon which the participant maya@seror otherwise receive common
stock under the award; a

» all other terms and conditions upon which each dwaaly be granted in accordance with the 2013 Edudgntive Plan

However, at such time as the Company may be sutgjedtction 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Cod&d&6, as amended, or the Code,
a maximum of 200,000 shares of our common stocjestitd options, stock

88



Table of Contents

appreciation rights and other awards whose valdetsrmined by reference to an increase over antisgeor strike price of at least 100% of
the fair market value on the date the award istgchmay be granted to any one participant duringose calendar year.

Our board of directors may amend or discontinueie3 Equity Incentive Plan at any time and mayradreny outstanding award. No
such amendment may materially impair the rightsenrashy outstanding award without the holder’s cahsgtockholder approval will be
required for any amendment to the 2013 Equity ItigerPlan to the extent such approval is requingthtw, including the Code or applicable
stock exchange requirements.

If we are acquired, our board of directors willdfyange for the surviving corporation or acquiraogporation (or the surviving or
acquiring corporatiors parent company) to assume or continue the awaalsubstitute a similar award for the award; ¢ancel or arrange fi
the cancellation of the award, to the extent nste or not exercised prior to the effective timhéhe transaction, in exchange for such cash
consideration, if any, as our board of directorgdrsole discretion, may consider appropriate; @)dnake a payment, in such form as may be
determined by our board of directors equal to tteess, if any, of (A) the value of the property bwdder would have received upon the
exercise of the award immediately prior to the effe time of the transaction, over (B) any exexqisice payable by such holder in connectiol
with such exercise. In addition in connection vétich transaction, our board of directors may acatddghe vesting, in whole or in part, of the
award (and, if applicable, the time at which theaelmay be exercised) to a date prior to the affet¢tme of such transaction and may arrang
for the lapse, in whole or in part, of any reaciais or repurchase rights held by the Company wafpect to an award.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Since January 1, 2012, ITI has engaged in theviitig transactions with its directors, executivdadfs and holders of more than 5% of
its voting securities, which we refer to as ounpipal stockholders, and affiliates or immediat@ifg members of our directors, executive
officers and principal stockholders. We believe #ilbof these transactions were on terms as féleras could have been obtained from
unrelated third parties.

As described above, the following executive officand directors held the following positions at pfior to the Merger:

e Sharon Mates, Ph.D., our President, Chief Exee®fficer and Chairman of our board of directarsis the President, Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the board of clioes of ITI prior to the Merge

» Lawrence J. Hineline, our Vice President of Finar@sief Financial Officer and Secretary, was thee#resident of Finance, Ch
Financial Officer and Secretary of ITI prior to thkerger.

» Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.D., our Vice President of Biess Development, was the Vice President of Bgsiieevelopment of ITI pric
to the Merger

» Lawrence P. Wennogle, Ph.D., our Vice Presidenig Discovery, was the Vice President, Drug Disgy of ITI prior to the
Merger.

» Kimberly E. Vanover, Ph.D., our Vice President,n@al Development, was the Vice President, Clinizgalelopment of ITI prior t
the Merger

»  Our directors Christopher Alafi, Ph.D., Richartner, M.D., Joel S. Marcus and Sir Michael Raw/|iM.D., FRCP, FMedSci were
each directors of ITI prior to the Merg:
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Some of our directors are affiliated with our pipat stockholders as indicated in the table below:

Director Affiliation with Principal Stockholder
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D Dr. Alafi is a General Partner of Alafi Capital Cpamy, LLC.
Joel S. Marcus Mr. Marcus is co-founder, Chairman of the boardlioéctors, Chief Executive

Officer, President and a director of Alexandria Restate Equities, Inc., which is
the managing member of Alexandria Equities, LLCjoltwas, until the
consummation of our public offering in February 204 principal stockholder of
the Company

The directors of ITI were previously selected asators of ITI in accordance with the terms of Eihen existing restated certificate of
incorporation, which was no longer effective foliog the Merger, and ITI's Second Amended and Redt#bting Agreement effective as of
October 25, 2007, as amended, which was terminategtdiately prior to the Effective Time of the Merg

Convertible Promissory Notes Issued in 2012 and 281

In October 2012, ITI entered into a convertibleenptirchase agreement with certain investors putsaavhich 1Tl issued convertible
promissory notes having an aggregate principal anoluapproximately $15.3 million, which were isduen October 25, 2012, November 14,
2012 and March 20, 2013. Certain of these convergiltomissory notes were purchased by our prindfmadkholders and affiliates of our
directors in the following amounts and on the follog dates:

Original Principal Amount

Name of Beneficial Ownei®) of Convertible Notes Issuance Date

Alafi Capital Company, LLC $ 6,423,41! October 25, 201
Alexandria Equities, LLC $ 1,812,30 October 25, 201
Sosland Family Trust B Partnersl $ 4,783,09 October 25, 201
New Ventures |, LLC $ 500,00( October 25, 201

(1) Does notinclude the convertible promissoryertwaving a principal amount of $124,975 held by.B.Bloldings Ltd., in which Allen A.
Fienberg, Ph.D., our Vice President of Businessdimment, holds a 20% ownership interest. Dr.eedsan October 25, 2r investment
control with respect to any of the securities owhgd.D.F. Holdings Ltc

The convertible promissory notes were unsecurattyad interest at the rate of 6% per year and hadtarity date of October 25, 2013.
The convertible promissory notes converted intaeshaf ITI common stock in connection with the RterPlacement discussed in Gemmor
Stock Issued in Private Placement in 2013” belewaddition, ITI paid $7,200 to the purchasers’ legainsel for fees and expenses of
purchasers’ legal counsel incurred in connectich Wie convertible promissory note financing.
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Common Stock Issued in Private Placement in 2013

The following table summarizes ITI's sales of iBramon stock on August 29, 2013 in the Private Pfere to our officers, directors and

beneficial owners of more than five percent of alags of our voting securities. The purchase @fc$3.1764 per share (as adjusted to $6.:
after giving effect to the Merger) was the fair ketrvalue as determined by arms-length negotiati@ween sophisticated investors and ITI's
management and board of directors. In additionhtiiders of the convertible promissory notes isdoezkrtain principal stockholders and an
affiliate of one of our directors in 2012 electedcbnvert the aggregate principal amount plus actimterest on all of ITI's outstanding
convertible promissory notes into shares of ITI owon stock at the purchase price of $3.1764 peegaaradjusted to $6.3528 after giving
effect to the Merger). ITI received no additionahsideration from the conversion of the convertjiiemissory notes.

Principal Plus
Accrued Interest of
Purchase Price

of ITI Common Convertible Notes Shares of ITI
Through Date of Common

Name of Beneficial Ownei(l) Stock Conversion Stock Issued®)
Sharon Mates, Ph.[(? $ 24,99¢ — 7,87(C
Joel S. Marcus and Barbara A. Marcus Family T®) $ 100,00t — 31,48«
Alafi Capital Company, LLC $ 4,747,49 $ 6,748,63 3,619,223
Moshe Alafi4) $ 100,00t — 31,48
Alexandria Equities, LLC $ 1,339,46: $ 1,904,06. 1,021,13.
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Investmen $ 12,700,00 — 3,998,23
David N. Sosland Trust . $ 900,00: — 283,34
Sosland Family Trust B Partnersi $ 400,00t $ 5,025,26: 1,707,99.
The Sosland Foundatic $ 2,235,12 — 703,66’
Rory B. Riggs and New Ventures I, LL®) $ 75,00: $ 549,17: 196,50:

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)

Does not include 104,301 shares of ITI commoolksissued to J.D.F Holdings Ltd., in which All&nFienberg, Ph.D., our Vice
President of Business Development, holds a 20% shipeinterest. Dr. Fienberg has no voting or inwesnt control with respect to any
of the shares owned by J.D.F. Holdings |

Dr. Mates is our Chairman, President and Chief Httee Officer.

Mr. Marcus is one of our directors. Mr. Marauay also be deemed to beneficially own the shaeeslhy Alexandria Equities, LLC set
forth in the table

Moshe Alafi may also be deemed to beneficially dinashares held by Alafi Capital Company, LLC setif in the table

Mr. Riggs is one of our directors and may be deetodgkneficially own the shares held by New Vergurd LC.

Does not reflect the adjustment in the number afehas a result of the Merg
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At the Effective Time of the Merger, on August 2813, each share of ITI preferred stock and ITI eam stock outstanding immediately p
to the Effective Time was exchanged for 0.5 shafése Company’s common stock. The following taklenmarizes the exchange of the
outstanding shares of ITI preferred stock and comstock at the Effective Time by our officers, dies and beneficial owners of more than
five percent of any class of our voting securities.

Number of Number of Number of

Shares of Shares of Shares of

ITI ITI Company

Preferred Common Common

Stock Held Stock Held Stock Held
Immediately Immediately Immediately

Prior to Prior to Following

Name of Beneficial Ownet Exchange Exchange Exchange
Sharon Mates, Ph.[(D) — 2,107,87! 1,053,93!
Lawrence J. Hinelin(@ — 100,00( 50,00(
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C) — 475,00( 237,50(
Lawrence P. Wennog® — 200,00 100,00(
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D®) 1,007,50! 0 503,75:
Richard Lerner, M.D(®) — 75,00( 37,50(
Joel S. Marcus and Barbara A. Marcus Family T() — 31,48« 15,74
Rory B. Riggs and New Ventures I, LL®) 251,87 196,50: 224,19(
Alafi Capital Company, LLC 3,466,53! 3,619,23 3,542,88!
Moshe Alafi(®) — 31,48¢ 15,74.
Alexandria Equities, LLC 1,546,57 1,021,13 1,283,85!
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Investmen — 3,998,23 1,999,12
Paul Greengard, Ph.[(10) — 2,262,501 1,131,25!
David N. Sosland Trust. 1,131,23. 283,34 707,28’
The Sosland Family Trust B Partners 2,189,11! 1,707,99 1,948,55.
The Sosland Foundatic 761,42¢ 703,66 732,54¢

(1) Dr. Mates is our Chairman, President and Chief Httee Officer.

(2) Mr. Hineline is our Vice President of Finance, Gliamancial Officer and Secretatr

(3) Dr. Fienberg is our Vice President of BusinBsselopment. Does not include: (i) 311,745 shafd$Iqreferred stock and 104,301
shares of ITI common stock held by J.D.F. Holdihgk, in which Dr. Fienberg holds a 20% ownershiferest; or (ii) 100,000 shares of
ITI common stock held by two trusts for the benefimembers of Dr. Fienberg’s family, which werekanged for an aggregate of
258,023 shares of our common stock at the Effedtisee. Dr. Fienberg has no voting or investmenttic@with respect to any of the
shares owned by J.D.F. Holdings Ltd. or held intthets.

(4) Dr. Wennogle is our Vice President, Drug Discov

(5) Dr. Alafi is one of our directors. Consistssifares held by a trust for the benefit of membg&BroAlafi’'s family. Dr. Alafi may also be
deemed to beneficially own the shares held by Alafpital Company, LLC set forth in the table. Daesinclude 1,007,550 shares of
preferred stock, which were exchanged for 503, iéBes of our common stock at the Effective Timédl g two other trusts for the
benefit of members of Dr. Al¢' s family, as Dr. Alafi does not have voting or istraent control over the shares held by those tr

(6) Dr. Lerner is one of our directors. Consistsitudéres held by the Lerner Family Trust UAD 11/84(8 the Lerner Family Trust.
Dr. Lerner shares voting and investment controhwéspect to the shares held by the Lerner Fanniigt]

(7) Mr. Marcus is one of our directors. Mr. Marauay also be deemed to beneficially own the shaskslhy Alexandria Equities, LLC set
forth in the table

(8) Mr. Riggs is one of our directors. Consistslafres held by Mr. Riggs and shares held by Neviwes |, LLC of which Mr. Riggs is
Managing Membet

(9) Moshe Alafi may also be deemed to beneficially diashares held by Alafi Capital Company, LLC settf in the table
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(10) Until the consummation of our public offerimgFebruary 2014, Dr. Greengard was a principalldtolder of the Company. Does not
include 3,000,000 shares of ITI common stock, whiehe exchanged for 1,500,000 shares of our constamk at the Effective Time,
held by six trusts for the benefit of members of Greengard’s family, as the trustee of thesedrudtsula von Rydingsvard, who is
Dr. Greengar's spouse, has sole voting and investment contexl the shares held by the tru:

Assumption of Outstanding Stock Options in Merger

At the Effective Time, on August 29, 2013, the Camp assumed all options to purchase ITI commorkdtoen outstanding under the
ITI 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, and such optionsame exercisable for an aggregate of 1,462,38@sldiCompany common stock, subject
to the vesting and other terms of such options.vigsting of such options was not accelerated asutrof the Merger. The following table
provides the number of outstanding options anduhighted average exercise price of such optiongiie 2003 Equity Incentive Plan held
by our officers, directors and beneficial ownersmaire than five percent of any class of our vosegurities that the Company assumed from
ITl in connection with the Merger, as adjustedtfue exchange ratio in the Merger:

Number of
Shares of th

Company’s
Common
Stock Weighted
Underlying Average
Outstanding Exercise Price
Name of Beneficial Ownet Options Per Share
Sharon Mates, Ph.I 387,50( $ 2.0Z
Lawrence J. Hinelin 125,00( $ 1.5¢
Allen A. Fienberg, Ph.C 122,50( $ 1.51
Lawrence P. Wennogle, Ph. 130,00( $ 1.3¢
Kimberly E. Vanover, Ph.C 49,75( $ 2.3¢
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D 29,37t $ 3.2¢
Richard Lerner, M.D 105,00( $ 2.4¢
Joel S. Marcu 110,00( $ 2.4z
Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D., FRCP, FMeds 27,00( $ 3.2¢€

The Redemption

Immediately following the Effective Time, pursudatthe terms of a Redemption Agreement dated Aug@,s?013 by and among the
Company and its then-current sole stockholder, evepteted the closing of a redemption of 5,000,0@res of Company common stock from
our then-current sole stockholder in consideratibf60,000, plus professional costs related tdridmesaction that were approximately $20,000
The 5,000,000 shares constituted all of the issmeldoutstanding shares of the Company’s capitakstin a fully-diluted basis, immediately
prior to the Merger.

Participation in Our Public Offering

New Ventures I, LLC, of which Mr. Riggs, one of alirectors, purchased 28,571 shares of common #tomlir public offering which
closed on February 5, 2014 at the public offeririggpof $17.50 per share. In addition, we belientities affiliated with Fidelity Investments
also purchased an aggregate of 1,550,000 shaoesrwhon stock in the offering at the public offerimgce.
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Agreements with Stockholders
Termination of Existing Stockholder Agreements

In connection with ITI's Series C preferred stotiahcing in 2007 and 2010, ITI entered into varisteekholder agreements with the
holders of its common stock and preferred stocktirgg to voting rights, information rights and retgation rights, among other things. The
stockholder agreements terminated immediately poidhe Effective Time of the Merger. Parties te #xisting registration rights agreement,
however, as well as our directors and executiviea® and all of our other stockholders, were gediwith an opportunity to become partie
the registration rights agreement that ITI enténéal in connection with the Private Placement, iasubsed below under “Registration Right
Agreement.”

Registration Rights Agreemet

At the closing of the Private Placement, ITI entiergo a registration rights agreement with theegters in the Private Placement and
the existing stockholders of ITI who agreed to eegarties to certain provisions of the agreememthm choose to become parties in the
future, which covers substantially all of our oataling shares of common stock as of December 3B.20e assumed the registration rights
agreement in connection with the Merger. Pursualttie registration rights agreement and subjetttéaules and regulations of the SEC, we
have agreed to file a shelf registration stateraenéring the resale of the shares of our commarkdield by the investors in the Private
Placement and the shares of our common stock lyeldebformer stockholders of ITI who are partieshte agreement. We were required to
the shelf registration statement within 45 daythefdate of the registration rights agreement (etd3, 2013), which we filed on
September 18, 2013 and which was declared effectiv@ecember 18, 2013.

We will be liable to each investor in the Privatad@ment (but not to the former stockholders ofWhio are parties to the agreement) for
liquidated damages, on a 30-day basis, equal & dfthe aggregate purchase price paid by the favésr the registrable shares of our
common stock then held by the investor, subjeentoverall cap of 5%, (i) if we suspend (subjedtrtoted blackout periods described below)
or terminate the registration statement prior ®dhrlier of December 18, 2016 and the date ontwddlof the registrable shares cease to be
registrable shares, or (ii) in the event one orersurspensions of the effectiveness of the regmtratatement exceeds 60 days in the aggrega
during any 12-month period. We will be permittecstspend the registration statement one or mosstioaring any 12-month period provided
such suspensions do not exceed 30 consecutiveod&@sdays in the aggregate in any 12-month peAog.suspension associated with our
filing of an annual, periodic or current report,raquired by the Exchange Act, will be permitted arll not be counted against the 60 day
limitation. Expenses with respect to the filing aftectiveness of such registration statementibtiselling expenses, or underwriter or agent
compensation) will be paid by us, including expanskone counsel for the selling stockholders.

Lock-up Provisions in Registration Rights Agreement

One of the provisions of the registration rightsesgnent that is applicable to the former stockhmsladé ITI who are parties to the
agreement (other than the investors in the Priveement) who hold an aggregate of approximat2J§Ql7,110 shares of common stock, is a
lock-up provision pursuant to which these stockbmddagreed, subject to specified exceptions, ne¢llptransfer, dispose of, contract to sell,
sell any option or contract to purchase, or otheevtiansfer or dispose of, directly or indirectijthout the written consent of Leerink Partners
LLC, any shares of our common stock or any seesritbnvertible into or exercisable or exchangefaslehares of our common stock prior to
April 30, 2014. These lock-up provisions do notlggp, among other things, shares of common steckiaed in connection with any follow-
on securities offerings by us or in open markatgeztions, or upon the exercise of stock optioastgd pursuant to our equity incentive plans
so long as the shares acquired upon exercise resubject to the lock-up provisions in the agreementertain gifts and other transfers for
estate-planning purposes or by stockholders whertittes to their limited partners, members ocklmlders, as specified in the agreement. I
the event that a former stockholder of ITI was aso
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investor in the Private Placement, then these lgzkrovisions in the agreement only apply with ee$gio the shares held by such stockholder
that were not purchased in the Private Placement.

Lock-up Agreements

We and each of our directors and executive offie@is certain stockholders, who collectively owndBG,038 shares of our common
stock, agreed in connection with our public offgrof shares of common stock which closed on Feprbiig014, that, without the prior writte
consent of Leerink Partners LLC and Cowen and CompalC, on behalf of the underwriters, we and dinectors and executive officers and
certain stockholders will not, subject to limitecteptions, directly or indirectly sell or disposfeany shares of our common stock or any
securities convertible into or exchangeable or@gable for shares of our common stock prior toilA3#¥, 2014, subject to extension as
provided in the lock-up agreement. The lock-up agrent also contains certain exceptions for, amadinerahings, certain transfers as gifts;
transfers by stockholders who are entities to tireited or general partners, members, stockholdeedfiliates, as specified in the agreement;
transfers to immediate family members or othersfars for estate-planning purposes; dispositiorghafes acquired in open market
transactions after the completion of the publienffg; dispositions of shares acquired in the Peilacement; and the establishment of tra
plans pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Ac

Indemnification Agreement:

We have entered into indemnification agreement @dtch of our directors and certain of our offica@itse indemnification agreements,
our restated certificate of incorporation and astated bylaws require us to indemnify our diresctond officers to the fullest extent permitted
by Delaware law. In addition, as a condition to kherger, we also entered into an indemnity agreeméh the former sole officer and direc
of the Company pursuant to which we agreed to imdgninim for actions taken by him in his officiahpacities relating to the consideration,
approval and consummation of the Merger and cer&aied transactions.

Policy for Approval of Related Person Transactions

Pursuant to the written charter of our Audit Contedt the Audit Committee is responsible for revieyand approving, prior to our en
into any such transaction, all transactions in Whi@ are a participant and in which any partieateel to us, including our executive officers,
our directors, beneficial owners of more than 5% wf securities, immediate family members of thedoing persons and any other persons
whom our board of directors determines may be clemst related parties under Item 404 of Regulai®n has or will have a direct or indire
material interest.

In reviewing and approving such transactions, thdinCommittee will obtain, or will direct our magement to obtain on its behalf, all
information that the committee believes to be rafévand important to a review of the transactiaargo its approval. Following receipt of the
necessary information, a discussion will be helthefrelevant factors if deemed to be necessathidogommittee prior to approval. If a
discussion is not deemed to be necessary, apprasabe given by written consent of the committdas Bpproval authority may also be
delegated to the chair of the Audit Committee imsaircumstances. No related party transactionbeilentered into prior to the completion of
these procedures.

The Audit Committee or its chair, as the case mgyhll approve only those related party transardithat are determined to be in, or no
inconsistent with, the best interests of us andstackholders, taking into account all availabletdsand circumstances as the committee or the
chair determines in good faith to be necessarg@om@ance with principles of Delaware law generafpplicable to directors of a Delaware
corporation. These facts and circumstances wilcly include, but not be limited to, the benefifsthe transaction to us; the impact on a
director’s independence in the event the relatety ima director, an immediate family member afir@ctor or an entity in which a director is a
partner, stockholder or executive officer; the &lality of other sources for comparable produatservices; the terms of the transaction; and
the terms of comparable
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transactions that would be available to unrelatéd fparties or to employees generally. No memib¢n® Audit Committee will participate in
any review, consideration or approval of any relgiarty transaction with respect to which the managbeany of his or her immediate family
members has an interest.

Director Independence

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ GlobaleseMarket. Under Rules 5605 and 5615 of the NASDM&)ketplace Rules, a
majority of a listed company’s board of directorasnbe comprised of independent directors. In adiNASDAQ Marketplace Rules require
that, subject to specified exceptions, each membailisted company’s audit, compensation and gtasece and nominating committees be
independent and that audit committee members atssfisindependence criteria set forth in Rule 1®Ander the Exchange Act. Under Rule
5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules, a diveavill only qualify as an “independent directaf,’in the opinion of that company’s
board of directors, that person does not haveatioakhip that would interfere with the exercisemafependent judgment in carrying out the
responsibilities of a director.

Based upon information requested from and provimedach director concerning their background, egmlent and affiliations,
including family relationships, our board of dirext has determined that none of Dr. Alafi, Dr. lexrrMr. Marcus, Sir Michael, Mr. Riggs or
Mr. Van Nostrand, representing six out of our sedieactors, has a relationship that would interfgitn the exercise of independent judgment
in carrying out the responsibilities of a direcémd that each of these directors is “independenthat term is defined under Rule 5605(a)(2) o
the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules. Dr. Mates is emploggdhe Company and is therefore not independetiuNASDAQ Marketplace Rule

Item 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following table presents fees for professi@nalit services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP, aalependent registered public
accounting firm, for the audit of our financial teiments for the years ended December 31, 2013 andriber 31, 2012, and fees billed for
other services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP duthmase periods.

2013 2012
Audit fees: (D) $483,00( $ 87,76
Audit related fees: 190,00( —
Tax fees:(@ 30,25( 45,47(
All other fees: — —
Total $703,25( $133,23:

(1) Audit fees consisted of audit work performedha preparation of financial statements and sesvic connection with our periodic and
current SEC filings and Form S-1 filings, as weallveork generally only the independent registerdaip@accounting firm can reasonably
be expected to provide, such as statutory at

(2) Tax fees consist principally of assistance withitters related to Federal, State Local and Forteig consulting, compliance and reporting
as well as tax compliance and reporti

The percentage of services set forth above indkegory that were approved by the Audit Committ@espant to Rule 2-01(c)(7)(i)(C)
(relating to the approval of a de minimis amounhofi-audit services after the fact but before catiquh of the audit), was 100%.
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Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Puld Accountant

Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor petedence, the Audit Committee has responsibilityafipointing, setting compensat
and overseeing the work of our independent regidtpublic accounting firm. In recognition of thessponsibility, the Audit Committee has
established a policy to pre-approve all audit asahissible non-audit services provided by our irdefent registered public accounting firm.

Prior to engagement of an independent registerbticoaccounting firm for the next yearaudit, management will submit an aggrega
services expected to be rendered during that pearaich of four categories of services to the AGdinmittee for approval.

1. Audit services include audit work performed in the prafian of financial statements, as well as work tiexterally only an
independent registered public accounting firm easonably be expected to provide, including cométrers, statutory audits, and attest
services and consultation regarding financial antnog and/or reporting standards.

2. Audit-Relatedservices are for assurance and related servicearéh&aditionally performed by an independentsteged public
accounting firm, including due diligence relatedriergers and acquisitions, employee benefit plaitsiand special procedures required to
meet certain regulatory requirements.

3. Tax services include all services performed by an iedepnt registered public accounting firm’s tax parel except those services
specifically related to the audit of the finan@&tements, and includes fees in the areas oforapléance, tax planning, and tax advice.

4. Other Feesare those associated with services not capturtiteinther categories. The Company generally doegegaest such
services from our independent registered publioactng firm.

Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre-apgsdiiese services by category of service. Thedieebudgeted and the Audit
Committee requires our independent registered paloicounting firm and management to report acees f/ersus the budget periodically
throughout the year by category of service. Dutimgyear, circumstances may arise when it may becwuessary to engage our independen
registered public accounting firm for additionahdees not contemplated in the original pre-apptolvathose instances, the Audit Committee
requires specific pre-approval before engagingimdgpendent registered public accounting firm.

The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval aitthto one or more of its members. The member honv such authority is
delegated must report, for informational purposdg,any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Conteaitat its next scheduled meeting.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Item 15(a). The following documents are filed as part of tms@al report on Form -K:

Item 15(a)(1)
and (2)

Item 15(a)(3) Exhibits

The following is a list of exhibits filed as pafftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

See “Index to Consolidated Financial StatementsFanancial Statement Scheduleg”ltem 8 to this Annual Report
Form 10-K. Other financial statement schedules mtédeen included because they are not applicatitee
information is included in the financial statemeoitsiotes theretc

Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Exhibit Form or SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description Schedule Filing Date Reg. Number
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Augus2@83, by and 8-K 8/29/201: 000-54896
among the Registrant, ITI, Inc. and Ir-Cellular Therapies, In (Exhibit 2.1)
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Augus2@93, by and 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
between the Registrant and Intra-Cellular Thergpies, relating to the (Exhibit 2.2)
name change of the Registre
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, filed with the S-1/A 11/26/13  333-191238
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on Ndper 7, 2013 (Exhibit 3.1)
3.2 Certificate of Merger relating to the Merger of | Tic. with and into 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., filed with the Setary of State of the (Exhibit 3.3)
State of Delaware on August 29, 20
3.3 Certificate of Ownership and Merger relating to Merger of Intra- 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
Cellular Therapies, Inc. with and into the Registréiled with the (Exhibit 3.4)
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on Augf, 2013, relating
to the name change of the Registr:
3.4 Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
(Exhibit 3.5)
4.1 Form of common stock certificate. 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
(Exhibit 4.1)
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Exhibit
Number

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

)

[\

Incorporated

by Reference

herein from

Form or SEC File/
Exhibit Description Schedule Filing Date Reg. Numbe!

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated April 19328sued to 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
Alzheimer Drug Discovery Foundation, Ir (Exhibit 4.2.1)
Amendment dated August 29, 2013 to Warrant to RagelCommon 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
Stock dated April 19, 2013 issued to Alzheimer DRigcovery (Exhibit 4.2.2)
Foundation, Inc
License Agreement dated as of May 31, 2005 by atdden 8-K/A 10/31/201. 0005489¢
Bristol-Meyers Squibb Company and Ir-Cellular Therapies, Inc.’ (Exhibit 10.1.1
Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated as oEhder 3, 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
2010 by and between Bristol-Meyers Squibb Compantylatra- (Exhibit 10.1.2
Cellular Therapies, In
License and Collaboration Agreement dated as ofuge 25, 2011 8-K/A 10/31/201° 000-5489¢
by and between Takeda Pharmaceutical Company ldraitel Intra- (Exhibit 10.2)
Cellular Therapies, Inc.*
Employment Agreement effective as of February 20&by and 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢
between Sharon Mates, Ph.D. and I-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (Exhibit 10.3)
Employment Agreement effective as of February 20&by and 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
between Lawrence J. Hineline and I-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (Exhibit 10.4)
Employment Agreement effective as of February 20&by and 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
between Allen Fienberg, Ph.D. and I-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (Exhibit 10.5)
Employment Agreement effective as of February 280&by and 8-K 9/5/2013 000-5489¢
between Lawrence Wennogle, Ph.D. and Intra-CellTlirarapies, (Exhibit 10.6)
Inc.*
Offer Letter dated February 2, 2007 by Intra-Celtulherapies, Inc. 8-K 9/5/2013 0005489¢

to Kimberly Vanover.?

Offer Letter dated February 21, 2014 by Intra-GellTherapies,
Inc. to Juan Sanchez, M.C
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Exhibit
Number

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Form or SEC File/
Exhibit Description Schedule Filing Date Reg. Number
Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, anshKCompetitior 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Agreement effective as of September 1, 2003 bybtataeen Sharc (Exhibit 10.8)
Mates, Ph.D. and Int-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, anshKCompetitior 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Agreement effective as of December 1, 2003 by ataiden (Exhibit 10.9)
Lawrence J. Hineline and In-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, anshKCompetitior 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Agreement effective as of June 3, 2002 by and batwidlen (Exhibit 10.10)
Fienberg, Ph.D. and In-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, ansthKCompetitior 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Agreement effective as of January 1, 2003 by amdden Lawrenc (Exhibit 10.11)
Wennogle, Ph.D. and In-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, anshKCompetitior 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Agreement effective as of March 5, 2007 by and ketwKimberly (Exhibit 10.12)
E. Vanover, Ph.D. and In-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, anshKCompetitior
Agreement effective as of March 7, 2014 by and ketwJuan
Sanchez, M.D. and Ini-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between@ompany 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
and its directors and executive officer (Exhibit 10.13)
2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.* 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
(Exhibit 10.14)
Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Bduicentive 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
Plan, as amended (Exhibit 10.15)
2013 Equity Incentive Plan.* 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 Bguitentive
Plan.*
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Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Exhibit Filed Form or SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description Herewith Schedule Filing Date Reg. Number
10.20 Redemption Agreement dated as of August 29, 201anbly 8-K 9/5/2013 000-54896
between the Registrant and NLBDIT 2010 Service$ 1 (Exhibit 10.17;
10.21 Indemnity Agreement dated as of August 29, 2018y among 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
the Registrant, Int-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and Samir N. Ma (Exhibit 10.18]
10.22 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of AugusR%3 by 8-K 9/5/2013  000-54896
and among Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., the stotders named (Exhibit 10.19;
therein and the Registral
14.1 Corporate Code of Conduct and Ethics and WhistigbidPolicy. 8-K 1/7/2014  000-54896
(Exhibit 14.1)
21.1 Subsidiaries. S-1 9/18/13  333-19123¢
(Exhibit 21.1)
231 Consent of Ernst & Young LLF X
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Office X
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Office X
32.1 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadsddxley Act of X
2002.
101 INS  XBRL Instance Document.** X
.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. X
.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documte* X
.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition.**: X
.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. X
.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document. X

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

**  Confidential treatment has been granted for jomg of this Exhibit. Redacted portions filed seqtaly with the Securities and Exchange
Commission

***  Submitted electronically herewith. In accordanwith Rule 406T of Regulation B-the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 h&ges
deemed not filed or part of a registration statenoemrospectus for purposes of Sections 11 orf1ReoSecurities Act of 1933, as

amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of Sedtfoof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asraleé, and otherwise is not subject

to liability under these sectior
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized

INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.

Date: March 25, 2014 By: /s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.|
Sharon Mates, Ph.L
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities indicateldw and on the dates indicated.

Signature: Title Date
By: /s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.D. Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer March 25, 2014
Sharon Mates, Ph.I (principal executive officer)
By: /sl Lawrence J. Hineline Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Offieed March 25, 2014
Lawrence J. Hineline Secretary (principal financial officer and prindipa

accounting officer

By: /sl Christopher Alafi, Ph.D. Director March 25, 2014
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D

By: /sl Richard Lerner, M.D. Director March 25, 2014
Richard Lerner, M.D

By: /sl Joel S. Marcus Director March 25, 2014
Joel S. Marcu:

By: /s/ Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D., Director March 25, 2014
FRCP, FMedSci
Sir Michael Rawlins, M.D.,
FRCP, FMedSc

By: /s/ Rory B. Riggs Director March 25, 2014
Rory B. Riggs
By: /s/ Robert L. Van Nostrand Director March 25, 2014

Robert L. Van Nostran
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. as@tddnber 31, 2013 and 2012, and the
related consolidated statements of operationsebbéters’ equity and cash flows for the years thetled. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ai afuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting thewents and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlebarsg significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Intra-
Cellular Therapies, Inc. at December 31, 2013 d&i®2and the consolidated results of their opematand their cash flows for the years then
ended, in conformity with U.S. generally acceptedoainting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young
McLean, VA
March 25, 2014
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Assets

Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Certificates of depos
Accounts receivabl

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued and other current liabiliti

Accrued employee benefi
Deferred reveni—shor-term

Total current liabilities
Stockholder' equity:

Common stock, $.0001 par value: 100,000,000 stargwrized; 22,159,446 and 14,599,612

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

shares issued and outstanding at December 31,8@13012, respective

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.
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December 31

2013 2012
$ 35,150,92 $ 15,645,52
2,000,001 3,500,001
336,31 300,42
762,24 188,70:
38,249,48 19,634,65
68,27 58,26t
131,55 130,75t
$ 38,449,31 $19,823,68
$ 3.395,06 $  41,60¢
2,611,09 404,65
827,87 726,65
— 1,666,67-
6,834,03 2,839,59
2,21¢€ 1,46(
89,177,55 47,678,92
(57,564,49) (30,696,29)
31,615,27 16,984,08
$ 38,449,31 $19,823,68
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012

Revenues

License and collaboration reven $ 2,737,00 $ 3,117,99
Total revenue: 2,737,00: 3,117,99
Costs and expense

Research and developm 23,027,57 15,486,47

General and administrati\ 5,976,27! 4,034,92!
Total costs and expens 29,003,85 19,521,40
Loss from operation (26,266,85) (16,403,41)
Interest expens (612,96) (193,49
Interest incom 29,61" 39,00z
Income taxe: (18,000 (32,92
Net loss $(26,868,19) $(16,590,82)
Net loss per common sha

Basic & Diluted $ (1.5 % (2.9¢)
Weighted average number of common she

Basic & Diluted 17,260,76 5,607,53!

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.
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Balance at December 31, 2011
Exercise of stock optior
Share-based compensatic
Conversion of convertible notes in private placen

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20
Conversion of convertible notes in private placen
Private placement of common stc
Exercise of stock optior
Stock subscriptiol
Shar+-based compensatic

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents.

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity
12,149,06 $1,21¢ $31,996,56 $(14,105,47) $17,892,30
33,27( 3 31,07¢ — 31,08:
— — 295,10t — 295,10t
2,417,28. 242 15,356,18 — 15,356,422
- - - (16,590,82) (16,590,82)
14,599,61 1,46( 47,678,92 (30,696,29) 16,984,08
110,44¢ 11 701,71 — 701,72:
6,916,69 692 39,962,80 — 39,963,50
514,46t 51 332,88 — 332,93t
18,22¢ 2 109,83. — 109,83«
— — 391,39: — 391,39:
— — — (26,868,19) (26,868,19)
22,159.44  $2,21€  $89,177,55  $(57,564,49)  $ 31,615,27
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (irseprovided by operating activitie
Depreciatior
Share-based compensation expel
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities and employee bene
Deferred revenu

Net cash used in operating activit

Investing activities

Purchases of investmer
Maturities of investment
Purchase of property and equipm

Net cash provided by investing activiti

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissotggame:
Proceeds from stock option exerci

Proceeds from stock subscripti

Gross proceeds of private placem

Payment of costs of private placem

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid for taxe

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents.

Years Ended December 31

2013

2012

$(26,868,19)

$(16,590,82)

23,24¢ 47,74’
391,39 295,10
(35,889 48,63
(574,34 (34,189
3,353,45' (554,25()
2,785,73 (448,49)
(1,666,67) (1,666,65)

(22,591,26)  (18,902,93)

— (12,000,00)
1,500,00! 17,700,12
(33,25%) (38,95
1,466,74! 5,661,16!
100,00( 15,163,00
332,93t 31,08
109,83« —

43,841,85 —
(3,754,70) —

40,629,91 15,194,08
19,505,39 1,952,31:
15,645,52 13,693,21

$35,150,92  $15,645,52

$ 1132 $ —
$ 31437 $  1385;
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

1. Organization

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”),dhgh its wholly-owned operating subsidiary, ITIclfITI), is a biopharmaceutical company
focused on the discovery and clinical developméimimovative, small molecule drugs that addresseuserved medical needs in
neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders byating intracellular signaling mechanisms within teatral nervous system (“CNS”). The
Company'’s lead product candidate, ITI-007, is im$&h2 clinical trials as a first-in-class treatmfentschizophrenia.

ITI was incorporated in the State of Delaware oryM3a, 2001 under the name “Intra-Cellular Theraplies.” and commenced operations in
June 2002. ITI was founded to discover and deveétags for the treatment of neurological and psytciciaisorders.

On August 29, 2013, ITI completed a reverse meftiper“Merger”) with a public shell company namedeata Resources Corp. (“Oneida”).
Oneida was formed in August 2012 as a vehiclewestigate and, if such investigation warrantedyaeca target company or business seekin
the perceived advantages of being a publicly hetgaration. In the Merger, each outstanding shamapital stock of ITI was exchanged for
0.5 shares of common stock of Oneida, and eachamgli®g option to purchase one share of ITI comstonk and each outstanding warrant tc
purchase one share of ITI common stock was assbyn@heida and became exercisable for 0.5 shar@seida common stock. As a result of
the Merger and related transactions, ITI survived avholly-owned subsidiary of Oneida, Oneida cledrits fiscal year end from March 31 to
December 31, and Oneida changed its name to Getiadar Therapies, Inc.. In addition, the Compaegan operating ITI and its business,
therefore ceased being a shell company. FollowiegMerger and the redemption of all then outstamdhmares of Oneida at the closing of the
Merger, the former shareholders of ITI owned 10G% e shares of the Company’s outstanding capibaks

Immediately prior to the Merger, on August 29, 2013 sold to accredited investors approximatel) $6million of its shares of common
stock, or 18,889,307 shares at a price of $3.1&84lpare (the “Private Placement”), which inclu@&8.3 million in principal and $0.8 million
in accrued interest from the conversion of ITI'enhoutstanding convertible promissory notes (thet&d").

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standardar (“FASB”), Accounting Standards CodificatioASC") Topic 805,Business
Combinations ITl is considered the acquirer for accountinggmses, and has accounted for the transaction agitaldransaction, because
ITI's former stockholders received 100% of the mgtrights in the combined entity and ITI's senicamagement represents all of the senior
management of the combined entity. Consequengyasisets and liabilities and the historical openatithat are reflected in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements are those ol have been recorded at the historical cost bafiie Company. All share and per share
amounts in the consolidated financial statemendsralated notes have been retrospectively adjustesflect the one for 0.5 shares common
stock exchange as well as the conversion of thes\Nad ITI's Series A, B, and C redeemable corberpireferred stock of ITI.

The Company earns license and collaboration revéoueits significant partnership with Takeda Phaceutical Company Limited
(“Takeda”). In order to further its research prageand support its collaborations, the Company mdjuire additional financing until such time
that revenue streams are sufficient to generatsistemt positive cash flow from operations. Posssidurces of funds include strategic
alliances, additional equity offerings, grants andtracts, and research and development fundimg finird parties.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estimates ar
assumptions that affect the amounts reported ifitkacial statements and accompanying notes. Atthactual results could differ from thc
estimates, management does not believe that stfehedices would be material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith a maturity of three months or less from tla¢edof purchase to be cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents consist of certificateeposit with commercial banks and financial igions. Certificates of deposit with a
maturity date of more than three months are cliassgeparately on the balance sheet. Their carmahges approximate the fair market value.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company applies the fair value method under B3@ Fair Value Measurements and DisclosurésSC 820 defines fair value, establis

a fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilitiesasured at fair value and requires expanded digeesbout fair value measurements. The .
820 hierarchy ranks the quality and reliabilityimgbuts, or assumptions, used in the determinatidaiovalue and requires assets and liabilities
carried at fair value to be classified and disalbiseone of the following categories based on tiveelst level input used that is significant to a
particular fair value measurement:

e Level 1—Fair value is determined by using unat§d quoted prices that are available in activiketa for identical assets and
liabilities.

e Level 2—Fair value is determined by using irgpother than Level 1 quoted prices that are diremtindirectly observable. Inputs
can include quoted prices for similar assets atfllities in active markets or quoted prices faritical assets and liabilities in

inactive markets. Related inputs can also inclldsé used in valuation or other pricing modelshsaginterest rates and yield
curves that can be corroborated by observable rhdsta.

e Level 3 - Fair value is determined by inpuiatthre unobservable and not corroborated by mdekat Use of these inputs involves
significant and subjective judgments to be mada bgporting entity—e.g., determining an appropratgistment to a discount
factor for illiquidity associated with a given seity.

The Company evaluates financial assets and liegsilgubject to fair value measurements on a re@ulrasis to determine the appropriate leve
at which to classify them each reporting periodsTetermination requires the Company to make stibgjudgments as to the significance of
inputs used in determining fair value and wheréhsaoputs lie within the ASC 820 hierarchy.

The Company has no assets or liabilities that werasured using quoted prices for similar assetdialnitities or significant unobservable
inputs (Level 2 and Level 3 assets and liabilitrespectively) as of December 31, 2013. The cagryalue of cash held in money market funds
of approximately $27 million as of December 31, 20% included in cash and cash equivalents antbappates market value based on qu
market price or Level 1 inputs.

Financial Instruments

The Company considers the recorded costs of iméial assets and liabilities, which consist ohcaguivalents, accounts receivable, account
payable and accrued liabilities, to approximatertfaér value because of their relatively short ordtes at December 31, 2013 and 2012.
Management believes that the risks associated
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)

with its financial instruments are minimal as tloeicterparties are various corporations, finandcisiiiutions and government agencies of high
credit standing.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Cash equivalents are held with major financialifngbns in the United States. Certificates of dapbeld with banks may exceed the amoui
insurance provided on such deposits. Generallggetieposits may be redeemed upon demand and attesieéar minimal risk.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable that management has the iantehtbility to collect are reported in the balasleeets at outstanding amounts, less an
allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company writisincollectible receivables when the likelihomfdcollection is remote.

The Company evaluates the collectability of acceuateivable on a regular basis. The allowana@yf is based upon various factors
including the financial condition and payment higtof customers, an overall review of collectiomperience on other accounts and economi
factors or events expected to affect future cabest experience. No allowance was recorded as oéber 31, 2013, as the Company has a
history of collecting on all its accounts includiggvernment agencies and collaborations fundingeiearch.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost and diepedoon a straight-line basis over estimated udighs ranging from three to five years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the@htrine method over the shorter of the estimatseful life of the assets or the term of the
related lease. Expenditures for maintenance aradrsegre charged to operations as incurred.

When indicators of possible impairment are ideatifithe Company evaluates the recoverability ot#reying value of its long-lived assets
based on the criteria established in ASC 380perty, Plant and EquipmeniThe Company considers historical performanceaanttipated
future results in its evaluation of potential impa&nt. The Company evaluates the carrying valubasfe assets in relation to the operating
performance of the business and undiscounted &ashk éxpected to result from the use of those asbapairment losses are recognized whe
carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flmwghich case management must determine the &hilevof the underlying asset. No such
impairment losses have been recognized to date.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when all terms and conditibtise agreements have been met, including peksuasidence of an arrangement,
delivery has occurred or services have been reddpriee is fixed or determinable and collectabii# reasonably assured. The Company is
reimbursed for certain costs incurred on specifesarch projects under the terms and conditiogsaoits, collaboration agreements, and
awards. The Company records the amount of reimmesgeas revenues on a gross basis in accordant@&®E 605-45Revenue
Recognition/Principal Agent Consideratio. The Company is the primary obligor with respegptirchasing goods and services from third-
party suppliers, is obligated to compensate the@seprovider for the work performed, and has difon in selecting the supplier. Provisions
for estimated losses on research grant projectaapather contracts are made in the period sussekare determined.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adoptedwaateounting standard that amends the guidanckeoadcounting for arrangements
involving the delivery of more than one elementrd@ant to the new standard, each required delileralevaluated to determine whether it
gualifies as a separate unit of accounting. Fothid determination is generally based on whethermdeliverable has “stand-alone value” to the
customer. The
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)

Company adopted this new accounting standard sospective basis for all Multiple-Deliverable ReuerArrangements (MDRAS) entered
into on or after January 1, 2011, and for any MDRi#et were entered into prior to January 1, 2011 phaterially modified on or after that
date.

For MDRAs entered into prior to January 1, 201011 arrangements) and not materially modifiedethafter, we continue to apply our pi
accounting policy with respect to such arrangemesmsler this policy, in general, revenue from nefundable, up-front fees related to
intellectual property rights/licenses, where weéhagntinuing involvement and where standalone vetugd not be determined under the
previous guidance, is recognized ratably over dtienated period of ongoing involvement. In geneltad, consideration with respect to the o
deliverables is recognized when the goods or seswace delivered.

The adoption of this accounting standard did neetematerial impact on our results of operatiamgtie years ended December 31, 2013 an
2012, or on our financial positions as of Decen8ier2013 and 2012.

In January 2011, the Company adopted ASC TopicZB)Milestone Method Under this guidance, we recognize revenue coatingpon the
achievement of a substantive milestone in its etytiin the period the milestone is achieved. Suttista milestone payments are recognized
upon achievement of the milestone only if all af tbllowing conditions are met:

e The milestone payments are refundable
» Achievement of the milestone involves a degreastfand was not reasonably assured at the incepfithre arrangemen
» Substantive effort on our part is involved in aeitig the milestone

e The amount of the milestone payment is readerialyelation to the effort expended or the riska@ciated with achievement of the
milestone; ant

« Areasonable amount of time passes betweengHeont license payment and the first milestongnpant, as well as between each
subsequent milestone payme

Determination as to whether a payment meets thremfentioned conditions involves managenmeptigment. If any of these conditions are
met, the resulting payment would not be considarsdbstantive milestone, and therefore, the reguttayment would be considered part o
consideration for the single unit of accounting &edecognized as revenues in accordance withetlemue models described above. In
addition, the determination that one such paymers mot a substantive milestone could prevent us froncluding that subsequent milestone
payments were substantive milestones and, as l, resy additional milestone payments could alsadmesidered part of the consideration for
the single unit of accounting and would be recogghias revenue as such performance obligationseai@med under either the proportional
performance or straight-line methods, as applicable

Deferred Revenue

Cash received as prepayment on future servicesfésrdd and recognized as revenue as the servie@edormed. The Company must remit
interest on any deferred revenue related to a govental agency. As of December 31, 2013 and 204 ytarest was due as the Company did
not have any deferred revenue from a governmemcyge

Research and Development

Except for payments made in advance of servicesCthmpany expenses its research and developmestasomcurred. For payments made in
advance, the Company recognizes research and gevef expense as the services are rendered. Resealcevelopment costs primarily
consist of salaries and related expenses for pees@md resources and the costs of clinical triather research and development expenses
include preclinical analytical testing, outsidevsegs, providers, materials and consulting fees.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liabifigthod. Deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the finandialesnent carrying amounts of existing assets ainlilies and its respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured) @nacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabtame in the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled

The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilitfes change in tax rates is recognized in incontbénperiod that includes the enactment date.
Valuation allowances are established when necessaeguce net deferred tax assets to the amopetéed to be realized. Income tax expe
is the tax payable for the period and the changmgthe period in deferred tax assets and liagditThe Company accounts for uncertain tax
positions pursuant to ASC 740 (previously include&inancial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) iptetation No. 48Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation oSBAStatement No. 109Financial statement recognition of a tax positiaken or
expected to be taken in a tax return is determizase:d on a more-likely-than-not threshold of tlesiton being sustained. If the tax position
meets this threshold, the benefit to be recognig@deasured as the tax benefit having the highiediood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement with the taxing authority. The Compaggognizes interest accrued related to unrecognéebenefits and penalties in the provis
for income taxes.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

ASC 220-10Reporting Comprehensive Incomequires the presentation of the comprehensienire or loss and its components as part ¢
financial statements. For the years ended DeceBhet013 and 2012, the Company’s net loss equatphensive loss.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based payments are accounted for in accaadticthe provisions of ASC 718o0mpensation—Stock Compensa(id8C 718). The
fair value of share-based payments is estimatethedate of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Medption-pricing model (the Black-Scholes
model). The resulting fair value is recognized bbbtaver the requisite service period, which isgrafly the vesting period of the option.

For all time vesting awards granted, expense iséred using the straight-line attribution meth&dr awards that contain a performance
condition, expense is amortized using the acceldrattribution method. As share-based compensatipanse recognized in the statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 20d42@12, is based on share-based awards ultimatphceed to vest, it has been reduced fol
estimated forfeitures.

ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated atithe of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsegperiods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. Pre-vesting forfeitures are basdble Company’s historical experience for the gyegded December 31, 2013 and 2012, an
have not been material.

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes model foimeting fair value of its stock options grantegtion valuation models, including the
Black-Scholes model, require the input of subjectigsumptions, and changes in the assumptionsaradaterially affect the grant date fair
value of an award. These assumptions include shefiree rate of interest, expected dividend yiekhected volatility and the expected life of
the award.

Expected volatility rates are based on historicddtility of the common stock of comparable publitladed entities and other factors due tc
lack of historic information of the Company’s commstock. The expected life of stock-based optiartbé period of time for which the stock-
based options are expected to be outstanding. Geelack of historic exercise data, the expedfedd determined using the “simplified
method” which is defined as the midpoint betweenuésting date and the end of the contractual term.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (corued)

The risk-free interest rates are based on the Thesury yield for a period consistent with theextpd term of the option in effect at the time
of the grant. The Company has not paid dividendtststockholders since its inception and doespiat to pay cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Therefore, the Company hasres$an expected dividend rate of zero.

Given the absence of an active market for the Caryipa&gommon stock prior to the Merger, the exergigee of the stock options on the date
of grant was determined and approved by the bdaditectors using several factors, including pragrand milestones achieved in the
Company’s business development and performancerite per share of its convertible preferred stoffkrings and general industry and
economic trends. In establishing the estimatedvigite of the common stock, the Company considéredjuidance set forth in American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Pract8aide,Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensation

Under ASC 718, the cumulative amount of compensatast recognized for instruments classified astedat ordinarily would result in a
future tax deduction under existing tax law shalldonsidered to be a deductible difference in appASC 740 Income TaxesThe deductibl
temporary difference is based on the compensatietirecognized for financial reporting purposesyéner, these provisions currently do not
impact the Company, as all the deferred tax assats a full valuation allowance.

Since the Company had net operating loss carryiasvas of December 31, 2013 and 2012, no exceseteefits for the tax deductions rela
to share-based awards were recognized in the stateraf operations.

Equity instruments issued to non-employees areuwatted for under the provisions of ASC 718 and A®6-50,Equity/Equity-Based
Payments to N-Employees Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the egimstrument is recorded on the earlier of thdqremnance
commitment date or the date the services required@npleted and are marked to market during thecseperiod.

Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is determinedviglidg the net loss allocable to common stockhadsrthe weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period, witbonsideration of common stock equivalents. Ddutet loss per share is computed by
dividing the net loss allocable to common stockbaddoy the weighted-average number of common stqakvalents outstanding for the
period. The treasury stock method is used to déterthe dilutive effect of the Company’s stock optgrants.

The following common stock equivalents were exctuatethe calculation of diluted loss per share bhseaheir effect would be anti-dilutive as
applied to the loss from operations as of Decer8heP013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012

Stock options 898,98: 905,28

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013@2nprehensive Income (Topic 220)—Reporting Amdrettassified Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (ASU-02). ASU 2013-02 provides guidance about disclosingassification adjustments,
which was previously deferred for further delibevatby ASU 2011-12. ASU 20182 provides financial statement issuers the ogtadisclos:
significant amounts reclassified from accumulatdtepcomprehensive income separately by each coempam either (1) a single note to the
financial statements, or (2) parenthetically onftee of the income statement for each line itemaffgcted by the reclassification adjustment.
The Company adopted the provisions of ASU 2023er the year ended December 31, 2013 and eléwgeiirst option. However, for the ye;
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Companylesseéqualed comprehensive loss, and, therefaeparate statement of other
comprehensive income was not necessary.
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3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31

2013 2012

Computer equipment $ 82,25 $ 92,31¢
Furniture and fixture 46,52: 42,73¢
Scientific equipmen 2,851,94 2,824,071
Leasehold improvemen 319,55: 319,55:
3,300,27! 3,278,68.

Less accumulated depreciati 3,232,00) (3,220,41)
$ 68,27 $ 58,26¢

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@033 and 2012 was $23,249 and $47,747 resphctive

4. Share-Based Compensation

The Company sponsors the Intra-Cellular Therapies, 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) to pide for the granting of stock awards,
such as stock options, restricted common stockstoek appreciation rights to employees, directod@her individuals as determined by the
Board of Directors. In 2013 the Company assumebéarMerger the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, whicpiged by its terms in July 2013.
Effective in November 2013, the Company adopted?013 Equity Incentive Plan. The Company resery88@000 shares of common stock
for issuance under the Plan. In January 2014, tmepgany increased the number of shares of commaok stserved for issuance under the
by 800,000 pursuant to the evergreen provisiontke@Plan.

Stock options granted under the Plan may be eiiticentive stock options (“ISOs”) as defined by th&rnal Revenue Code, or non-qualified

stock options. The Board of Directors determines wiil receive options, the vesting periods (wharke generally two to three years) and the
exercise prices of such options. Options have @aman term of 10 years. The exercise price of IS@stgd under the Plan must be at least

equal to the fair market value of the common statkhe date of grant.

Total stock-based compensation expense, relatall@bthe Company’s share-based awards to empsyykesctors and non-employees
recognized during the years ended 2013 and 201®2¢cwmaprised of the following:

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012
Research and development $ 132,54 $ 111,20t
General and administrati 258,85( 183,90(
Total shar-based compensation expel $ 391,39: $ 295,10t

The following table describes the weighted-avemggimptions used for calculating the value of oygtigranted for the years ended
December 31.:

2013 2012
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.C%
Expected volatility 80.0% 79.71%
Weightec-average ris-free interest rat 2.2% 1.2%
Expected tern 6.2 years 6.3 year
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4. Share-Based Compensation (continued)

Information regarding the stock options activitglirding employees, directors and non-employeed Beoember 31, 2013, and changes
during the year then ended, are summarized asvllo

Weighted- Weightec-
Average
Average Contractual
Number of Exercise
Shares Price Life
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,707,11. $ 1.380: 4.4 year
Options grante: 247,60( 3.260( 6.2 year
Options exercise (514,46¢) 0.647: 2.3 year
Options canceled or expirt (40,127 0.847¢ 8.8 year
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,400,12! $1.982¢ 5.3 year
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, ! 1,400,12! $1.982¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,182,14 $ 1.746: 4.6 year

The weighted-average grant date fair value for degranted during the year ended December 31, 20d43$3.26. Total intrinsic value of the
options exercised was approximately $580,623 iryda ended December 31, 2013. The total fair vafighares vested in the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, was approximately $208nd $332,000 respectively.

During 2013, the Company granted options to cedaiantific advisory board members of the Compangurchase 19,000 shares of common
stock at an average exercise price of $3.26. Di01®, the Company granted options to certain sfieadvisory board members of the
Company to purchase 19,500 shares of common st@kaverage exercise price of $2.84. The opti@ss ratably over a period of 12 to 24

months. Stock compensation related to these gvdhtfuctuate with any changes in the underlyirgwe of the Company’s common stock, as
the performance period is not fixed.

The unrecognized share-based compensation expalatedrto employee stock option awards at Dece®ibe2013, is $467,329 and will be
recognized over a weighted-average period of labsye

5. Income Taxes

Total income tax expense for the years ended Deeefibis allocated as follows:

December 31
2013 2012

Current $ 18,00( $ 32,921
Deferred (13,229,35) (6,289,88)
Valuation allowanct 13,229,35 6,289,88:i
Provision for income taxe $ 18,00( $ 32,92!
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5. Income Taxes (continued)

A reconciliation of the difference between the ity federal income tax rate and the effectiveine tax rate for the years ended

December 31 is as follows:

2013 2012
Income tax benefit at statutory federal rate 35.00% 34.0%
Permanent difference (1.20 (0.67)
Returr-to-provisio—R&D Credit 2.61 1.91
R&D Credit—current yea 3.72 —
Reserve for uncertain tax positic (6.5%) —
Change in effective state tax ra 6.5¢ —
State income tax expen 10.1z 4.34
Change in valuation allowan (50.3%) (39.89
Provision for income taxe (0.00% (0.20%

December 31

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeceofporary differences that exist between the @agrgmounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts usethfome tax purposes, using enacted tax ratefaot for the year in which the differences
are expected to reverse. As of December 31, 28@3Cbompany had $49.3 million of federal net opagaldss carryforwards, which expire at
various dates through 2034. The gross amount dftite net operating loss carryforwards is equal fess than the federal net operating loss
carryforwards and expires over various periods dhaseindividual state tax law. In general, busiesssith U.S. net operating losses (“NOLS")
are considered loss corporations for U.S. fedeame tax purposes. Pursuant to Section 382 ditike, loss corporations that undergo an
ownership change, as defined under the Code, mauliject to an annual limitation on the amount 6fL¥ (and certain other tax attributes)
available to offset taxable income earned afteh @wenership change. The Company has not performeushalysis to determine if it has
triggered any ownership changes pursuant to thes quescribed under U.S. tax law accordingly tleeaigthe Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards may be restricted due to changesim@any ownership.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had $0.2 miilioexcess tax benefits related to stock-based cosgten deductions, the benefit of
which will be recorded to additional paid-in-capidt@ce the benefit is realized through a reductibimcome taxes payable.

The following summarizes the significant componeritthe Company’s deferred tax assets and liaddlitis of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively:

December 31

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 22,346,86 $ 8,329,93
Accrued expense — 215,86!
Accrued employee benefi 377,04¢ 282,26¢
Capitalized research and development c 31,89: 27,51¢
Research and development cre 1,874,93 1,928,71.
Nonqualified stock option 53,68¢ —
Deferred revenu 643,66
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior 102,91¢ 130,01°
Net deferred tax ass 24,787,34 11,557,98
Valuation allowanct (24,787,34) (11,557,98)
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ =
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5. Income Taxes (continued)

Based upon the Company’s historical operating perémce and the reported cumulative net lossesté thee Company presently does not
have sufficient objective evidence to support #overy of its net deferred tax assets. Accordintly Company has established a valuation
allowance against its net deferred tax assetdrfané€ial reporting purposes because it is not rfikedy than not that these deferred tax assets
will be realized.

The following summarizes the significant componeitgross unrecognized tax benefits as of Decer®be2013 and 2012, respectively:

December 31

2013 2012
Balance at Januaryl, $ — $ —
Current Year Uncertain Tax Positiol
Gross Increase 6,64¢ —
Prior Year Uncertain Tax Positior
Gross Increase 1,709,25! —
Balance at December 2 $1,715,90. $ —

6. Collaborations and License Agreements
Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited

On February 25, 2011, ITI entered into a licensi @ilaboration agreement with Takeda Pharmacdu@icmpany Limited (“Takeda”) to
develop and commercialize selective phosphodiestdsge 1 (“PDEL1")nhibitors, discovered by ITI, for the treatmentonignitive impairmer
associated with schizophrenia. This agreementgeted worldwide, but ITI has retained the optiortd-promote with Takeda in the United
States.

Upon execution of the agreement, Takeda made a&homtable payment to the Company. ITl is eligiloledceive payments of approximately
$500 million in the aggregate upon achievementaotfain development milestones and up to an additi®®50 million in the aggregate upon
achievement of certain sales-based milestonesg alith tiered royalty payments based on net sajeBdkeda. Takeda will be solely
responsible for development, manufacturing and ceraialization of PDE1L inhibitors. ITI and Takedasedormed a joint steering committee
to coordinate and oversee activities on which e dompanies collaborate under the agreement.d$ithe right, but not the obligation, to sit
on the joint steering committee. There are no perémce, cancellation, termination, or refund priavis in the arrangement that contain
material financial consequences to the Company.

The Company evaluates all deliverables within aarsgement to determine whether or not they provalee on a stand-alone basis. The
Company identified two deliverables in the arrangam(1) a license to the Company’s intellectualperty, and (2) research and developmen
services (“R&D services”). Based on this evaluatitre deliverables were separated into units ofacting. The arrangement consideration
that is fixed or determinable at the inceptionhaf &rrangement was allocated to the separateafratcounting based on their relative selling
prices. We may exercise significant judgment ireciatning whether a deliverable is a separate dratoounting, as well as in estimating the
selling prices of such unit of accounting.

To determine the selling price of a separate dedbvie, we use the hierarchy as prescribed in AS@cT®05-25 based on vendor-specific
objective evidence (“VSOE"), third-party eviden¢&RE") or best estimate of selling price (‘BESPXY)SOE is based on the price charged
when the element is sold separately and is the jtually charged for that deliverable. TPE idatned based on third-party evidence for a
similar deliverable when sold separately and BESSfRe price at which we would transact a saledfd@lements of collaboration and license
arrangements were sold on a stand-alone basis. &t able to establish VSOE or TPE for the @edililes within collaboration and license
arrangements, as we do not have a history of aegtérto such arrangements or selling the individigiverables within such arrangements
separately. In addition, there may be significaffecentiation in these arrangements, which indisahat comparable third-party pricing may
not be available.
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6. Collaborations and License Agreements (continuéd

We determined that the selling price for the dekixes within collaboration and license arrangemsishbuld be determined using BESP. The
process for determining BESP involved significartigment on our part and included consideration wifipie factors such as prices offered by
third parties, estimated direct expenses and aib&is, and available data. The Company was aldletesmine the BESP for the license and
R&D services, and thus, allocated the consideratidghis arrangement based on relative sellingepoiceach deliverable. The revenue alloc

to the license was recognized upon the executidheohAgreement as Takeda obtained the right tthesiecense upon execution of the
agreement. The revenue for R&D services is beinggmeized over the estimated service period of 3syea

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and DemeBih 2012, the Company recognized revenue of idilion and $3.1 million under
this agreement, respectively. At December 31, 20482012, $0 and $1.7 million of revenue was determder this agreement.

In May 2002, ITI entered into a license agreemtrd {License”)and research agreement with a university. Undeptbeisions of the Licens
ITI is entitled to use this organization’s patentechnology and other intellectual property relgtio diagnosis and treatment of central nervou
system disorders. The License expires upon expiraif the patent rights or 15 years subsequemetdirst sale of products developed through
this License. ITl is required to make future mitewt payments for initiation of clinical trials angproval of a New Drug Application (“NDA”
Should ITI commercialize the technology relatedhis License, ITI would be required to make roygdayments, and would also be require
pay fees under any sublicense agreements with phirties.

In connection with the License, ITIl issued 400,88ares of common stock to the organization. Upsmaisce of the shares, ITI recorded the
estimated fair value of the shares issued, apprateiy $120,000, as research and development expersedition, ITI is required to use at
least $1 million annually of its resources for ttevelopment and commercialization of the technolagyl 1Tl submits a NDA. ITI met its
spending requirements in 2013 and 2012. There m@gher payments made or required for the yeats@december 31, 2013 and 2012.

In May 2005, ITI entered into a license agreemtre {Agreement”) with a company for the use of ttagnpany’s patented compounds. ITI
intends to test and use the compounds in its relseard development program as candidates for patemiw drugs. The Agreement expires
the later of 10 years after the first commerciét d a product developed using the licensed comgaur upon expiration of the patent rights.
ITl is required to make future milestone paymentscommencement of certain clinical trials anchfis with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration. Should ITI sell products coveredthg Agreement, ITI would be required to make rogyphyments. There were no payments
under this Agreement for the years ended Decenthe2(®L3 and 2012.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company currently has operating lease agresmetit commitments for $616,982 through 2014 fiwolatory and office facilities. Rent
expense for the years ended December 31, 20130rthvas $827,479 and $809,332, respectively.

F-16



Table of Contents

8. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 40dlé) covering all full-time employees. Participamtay elect to contribute their annual
pre-tax earnings up to the federally allowed maximimits. The Company makes a matching contributibB0% on the first 6% of
contributions made by participants. Participant @adhpany contributions vest immediately. During ylears ended December 31, 2013 and
2012, the Company recorded matching contributigreage of $77,138 and $79,656, respectively.

9. Subsequent Events

On February 5, 2014 the Company completed theadalg63,300 shares of its common stock, whichuidet exercise of the underwriters’
option to purchase 921,300 shares, at an offeriing pf $17.50 per share. After deducting undemgitiscounts, commissions and offering
expenses, the net proceeds to the Company wasxapptely $115.4 million.
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Exhibit 10.8

- Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

February 21, 2014

Dr. Juan Sanchez

34 North 7th Street
Apt. 11E

Brooklyn, N.Y. 11249

Re: Offer letter
Dear Dr. Sanchez:

ITI, Inc., (the Company) a wholly owned subsidiary of Intra-Cellular Thergilnc.is pleased to offer you the full-time piositof Head of
Corporate Communications and Investor Relationsofdingly, the terms of the Company’s employmeif¢oére as follows:

Your start date will be on or about March 3, 20hd sou will report to Sharon Mates, the CompanyB0C The Company may change your
position, duties, and work location as it deemsessary.

As a salaried employee, your compensation will b2,%00.00 per semi-monthly pay period, less pagtiuctions and other withholdings
required by law. This semi-monthly compensatioagsivalent to $300,000.00 over the course of ore.ye

You will be considered an introductory employeetfa first 90 days of your employment and will ldbject to Company policies concerning
introductory employees.

As mentioned above you will be hired as Head ofpBoate Communications and Investor Relations. Tom@znsation Committee of the
Company has reviewed your qualifications and veilammend to the Board of Directors of the Compdritg aext meeting that you will be
appointed to the position of Vice President. Thet meeeting of the Board will be held in March 2024 this meeting the Compensation
Committee will also recommend to the Board thay thgprove a grant of 80,000 to 100,000 stock optionyou at an exercise price equal to
the fair market value of the stock on the datéhefdrant (stock options). The options will vesequal installments over three years. In the
event your employment with the Company ends befotg option is fully vested, the unvested parthaf dbption will be forfeited. This option
grant is conditioned on your execution of the ConysmStock Option Agreement.

You will also be eligible for standard Company Wi#gseThe Company may modify compensation and henefs permitted by law. The
Company has granted bonuses in the past basedfonnpence and you would be included in the bonas piffered by the Company.
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- Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

As a Company employee, you will be subject to alipany policies and you will be expected to compith Company rules and regulations.
Your offer of employment is conditioned upon yoignéng a Proprietary Information, Inventions, andm\Disclosure Agreement.

The Company expects you to comply with existinggailons you may have, and therefore you will biureed in your work for the Company
not to use or disclose any confidential informatimluding trade secrets, of any former employestber person to whom you have an
obligation of confidentiality. Rather, you are tseuonly that information which is generally knowrdaised by persons with training and
experience comparable to your own, which is comkrmwwledge in the industry or otherwise legallyhe fpublic domain, or which is
otherwise provided or developed by the Company.

You agree that you will not bring onto Company pisea any property belonging to any former emplayasther person to whom you have an
obligation of confidentiality.

Employment is at-will and nothing contained in tbffer letter guarantees employment for any lerggttime or should be construed as a
contract of employment.

Please sign and date this letter, seal it in tledbosad envelope, and return it to me by Februan®@f4 to confirm that you have accepted
employment under the terms described above.

We are happy to have you join our Company and wk forward to a productive and enjoyable work rielaghip.

Sincerely,

/s/ Lawrence J. Hineline
Vice President of Financ

ACCEPTED:

/s/ Dr. Juan Sanchez
Signature

March 392014
Date

Confidential
Page 2 of :



Exhibit 10.14
INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.

EMPLOYEE PROPRIETARY INFORMATION,
INVENTIONS, AND NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

In consideration of my employment or continued esgpient byl NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC . (the “Company”), and the
compensation now and hereafter paid to me, | heagbge as follows:

1. NONDISCLOSURE.

1.1 Recognition of Company’s Rights; Nondisclosa. At all times during my employment and thereaftevill hold in
strictest confidence and will not disclose, usetuee upon or publish any of the Company’s Progrietnformation (defined
below), except as such disclosure, use or pubicatiay be required in connection with my work toe Company, or unless an
officer of the Company expressly authorizes suchriting. | will obtain Company’s written approvigfore publishing or
submitting for publication any material (writterenbal, or otherwise) that relates to my work at @any and/or incorporates any
Proprietary Information. | hereby assign to the @amy any rights | may have or acquire in such Retgmy Information and
recognize that all Proprietary Information shallthe sole property of the Company and its assigmave been informed and
acknowledge that the unauthorized taking of the gamy’s trade secrets may subject me to civil anckioninal penalties.

1.2 Proprietary Information.  The term ‘Proprietary Information ” shall mean any and all confidential and/or
proprietary knowledge, data or information of then@pany. By way of illustration but not limitatiohProprietary Information ”
includes (a) tangible and intangible informatiotatiag to antibodies and other biological materiakd! lines, samples of assay
components, media and/or cell lines and procecamdSormulations for producing any such assay carapts, media and/or cell
lines, formulations, products, processes, know-h®sgjgns, formulas, methods, developmental or éxgetal work, clinical data,
improvements, discoveries, plans for research, pregucts (‘Inventions” ); (b) marketing and selling, business plans, btglged
unpublished financial statements, licenses, pacescosts, suppliers and customers; and (c¢) infiomaegarding the skills and
compensation of other employees of the Companywitltgtanding the foregoing, it is understood tlaatall such times, | am free
use information which is generally known in thedear industry, which is not gained as result bfeach of this Agreement, and
my own, skill, knowledge, know-how and experienzevhatever extent and in whichever way | wish.

1.3 Third Party Information. | understand, in addition, that the Companyreasived and in the future will receive from
third parties confidential or proprietary infornaii (“ Third Party Information ) subject to a duty on the Company’s part to
maintain the confidentiality of such informationdato use it only for certain limited purposes. Digrthe term of my employment
and thereafter, | will hold Third Party Informatiamthe strictest confidence and will not disclés@nyone (other than Company
personnel who need to know such information in eation with their work for the Company) or use, &xcin connection with my
work for the Company, Third Party Information urdexpressly authorized by an officer of the Companyriting.



1.4 No Improper Use of Information of Prior Employers and Others. During my employment by the Company | will
not improperly use or disclose any confidentiabmiation or trade secrets, if any, of any formepkayer or any other person to
whom | have an obligation of confidentiality, andill not bring onto the premises of the Company anpublished documents or
any property belonging to any former employer or ather person to whom | have an obligation of @mnitiality unless consented
to in writing by that former employer or persomill use in the performance of my duties only infa@tion which is generally
known and used by persons with training and expedeomparable to my own, which is common knowlddgbe industry or
otherwise legally in the public domain, or whiclotherwise provided or developed by the Company.

2. ASSIGNMENT OF | NVENTIONS .

2.1 Proprietary Rights. The term ‘Proprietary Rights ” shall mean all trade secret, patent, copyrigtgsknwork and
other intellectual property rights or “moral righteroughout the world. “Moral rights” refers towanights to claim authorship of an
Invention or to object to or prevent the modifioatiof any Invention, or to withdraw from circulatior control the publication or
distribution of any Invention, and any similar righxisting under judicial or statutory law of aoguntry in the world, or under any
treaty, regardless of whether or not such rigllieisominated or generally referred to as a “mogditrt

2.2 Prior Inventions. Inventions, if any, patented or unpatented ciwhimade prior to the commencement of my
employment with the Company are excluded from tupe of this Agreement. To preclude any possibtetainty, | have set for
on Exhibit A(Previous Inventions) attached hereto a complst®fiall Inventions that | have, alone or jointhth others,
conceived, developed or reduced to practice orethttsbe conceived, developed or reduced to peaptior to the commencement
of my employment with the Company, that | consigelbe my property or the property of third paréesl that | wish to have
excluded from the scope of this Agreement (coletyi referred to as Prior Inventions ”). If disclosure of any such Prior
Invention would cause me to violate any prior cdefitiality agreement, | understand that | am ndistasuch Prior Inventions in
Exhibit Abut am only to disclose a cursory name for each suention, a listing of the party(ies) to whoniélongs and the fact
that full disclosure as to such inventions hash&@n made for that reason. A space is providdexibit Afor such purpose. If no
such disclosure is attached, | represent that érer@o Prior Inventions. If, in the course of nmyptoyment with the Company, |
incorporate a Prior Invention into a Company prddpmcess or machine, the Company is hereby giaartd shall have a
nonexclusive, royaltyree, irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide licensetiiwights to sublicense through multiple tiers alblicensees
to make, have made, modify, use and sell such Pnvention. Notwithstanding the foregoing, | agteat | will not incorporate, or
permit to be incorporated, Prior Inventions in &gmpany Inventions without the Company’s prior teritconsent.

2.3 Assignment of Inventions. Subject to Sections 2.4, and 2.6, | herebygasaind agree to assign in the future (when
any such Inventions or Proprietary Rights are fiestuced to practice or first fixed in a tangibledium, as applicable) to the
Company all my right, title and interest in andatty and all Inventions (and all Proprietary Rightth respect thereto) whether or
not patentable or registrable under copyright wiilar statutes, made or conceived or reduced tctipeaor learned by me, either
alone or jointly with others, during the periodm§ employment with the Company. Inventions assigoetie Company, or to a
third party as directed by the Company pursuattioSection 2, are hereinafter referred to &thpany Inventions.”



2.4 Unassigned Inventions. | recognize that this Agreement will not be miee to require assignment of any Invention
that was developed entirely on my own time withaosing the Company’s equipment, supplies, faciljitt¥srade secrets and neither
related to the Company’s actual or anticipatedrmss, research or development, nor resulted frork performed by me for the
Company.

2.5 Obligation to Keep Company Informed. During the period of my employment and for @x months after
termination of my employment with the Company, llywromptly disclose to the Company fully and initmmg all Inventions
authored, conceived or reduced to practice by ittegrealone or jointly with others. In additionwill promptly disclose to the
Company all patent applications filed by me or onbehalf within a year after termination of emplagmh The Company will keep
in confidence and will not use for any purposeiscldse to third parties without my consent anyficmtial information disclosed
in writing to the Company pursuant to this Agreetnen

2.6 Government or Third Party. | also agree to assign all my right, title amgérest in and to any particular Company
Invention to a third party, including without lination the United States, as directed by the Company

2.7 Works for Hire. | acknowledge that all original works of autsloip which are made by me (solely or jointly with
others) within the scope of my employment and wisich protectable by copyright are “works made fog,hpursuant to United
States Copyright Act (17 U.S.C., Section 101).

2.8 Enforcement of Proprietary Rights. | will assist the Company in every proper waybtain, and from time to time
enforce, United States and foreign Proprietary Rigalating to Company Inventions in any and allrdoies. To that end | will
execute, verify and deliver such documents ancparsuch other acts (including appearances asnesg} as the Company may
reasonably request for use in applying for, obtajnperfecting, evidencing, sustaining and enfgresinch Proprietary Rights and
the assignment thereof. In addition, | will execwterify and deliver assignments of such PropneRights to the Company or its
designee. My obligation to assist the Company vé#pect to Proprietary Rights relating to such Camypnventions in any and all
countries shall continue beyond the terminatiomgfemployment, but the Company shall compensatatrageasonable rate after
my termination for the time actually spent by méhat Company’s request on such assistance.

In the event the Company is unable for any reaafber, reasonable effort, to secure my signaturargndocument needed in connection with
the actions specified in the preceding paragrapkréby irrevocably designate and appoint the Compad its duly authorized officers and
agents as my agent and attorney in fact, whichiappent is coupled with an interest, to act for amchy behalf to execute, verify and file any
such documents and to do all other lawfully pemitacts to further the purposes of the precedinggpaph with the same legal force and
effect as if executed by me. | hereby waive andictpim to the Company any and all claims, of anyureawhatsoever, which | now or may
hereafter have for infringement of any Proprietaights assigned hereunder to the Company.

3. R EcorDs. | agree to keep and maintain adequate andrdureords (in the form of notes, sketches, drawiugd in any
other form that may be required by the CompanyglidProprietary Information developed by me andmlentions made by
me during the period of my employment at the Comgparich records shall be available to and remlaénsole property of
the Company at all time

4. D uTYy oF L oYALTY D URING E MPLOYMENT . | understand that my employment with the Comypaguires my full
attention and effort. | agree that during the ped my employment by the Company | will not, witlidhe Company’s
express written consent, engage in any employnramtigsiness activity other than for the Companyluiding but not limitec
to employment or business activity which is competiwith, or would otherwise conflict with, my eagment by the
Company.



5. N O SoLICITATION OF E MPLOYEES , C ONSULTANTS , C ONTRACTORS OR C USTOMERS. | agree that for the period of my
employment by the Company and for one (1) year #fieedate my employment by the Company ends fpraason,
including but not limited to voluntary terminatitay me or involuntary termination by the Companwill not, either directly
or through others, (i) solicit or attempt to sdliny employee of the Company to end his or hetiggiship with the
Company; and (ii) solicit any consultant, contracty customer of the Company, with whom | had eaohbr whose identity
| learned as a result of my employment with the @any to diminish or materially alter its relatioiskvith the Company

The parties agree that for purposes of this Agregnaecustomer is any person or entity to whichGbenpany has provided goods or
services at any time during the period commencixg® months prior to my employment with the Compand ending on the date my
employment with the Company ends.

6. N oN -C oMPETE P ROVISION . | agree that for the period of my employmerthwthe Company, and for the period of one
(1) year after the later of (1) the date my emplepbtends for any reason, including but not limitegoluntary termination
by me or involuntary termination by the Company(2)rthe date a court of competent jurisdictioreesmin order enforcing
this provision, | will not provide services, simil® those | provided to the Company, to any per@oentity in competition
(as defined below) with the Company. | acknowletlge this non-compete provision is limited to tipes of activities and
services | provided in my employment with the Comyp:

At the present time, the Company engages in theareb and discovery of genes and their functiod,tharefore entities and individuals
which provide similar products or services aremkdi as in competition with the Company. The padigderstand that the scope and nature of
my activities and services, and the Company’s lassinproducts or services, may change as the Conajearlops. The parties agree that the
scope of this provision will change to cover angroges in my activities or services, as well as@manges in the Comparsybusiness, produc
or services, during my employment.

7. N o C ONFLICTING A GREEMENT OR O BLIGATION . | represent that my performance of all the &ofhthis Agreement and
as an employee of the Company does not and wilbreztch any agreement or obligation of any kind eraribr to my
employment by the Company, including agreementsbbigations | may have with prior employers or &as for which |
have provided services. | have not entered intd,lagree | will not enter into, any agreement loligation either written or
oral in conflict herewith

8. R ETURN OF C omPANY D ocumMENTS . When | leave the employ of the Company, | ddliver to the Company any and all
drawings, notes, memoranda, specifications, deyvfoesulas, and documents, together with all coflieseof, and any oth
material containing or disclosing any Company Iri@rs, Third Party Information or Proprietary Infiaaition of the
Company. | further agree that any property situatethe Company’s premises and owned by the Compaciyding disks
and other storage media, filing cabinets or otherkvareas, is subject to inspection by Companyquers| at any time with
or without notice. Prior to leaving, | will coopéeawvith the Company in completing and signing tlmmpany’s termination
statement

9. L EGALAND E QuiITABLE R EMEDIES . | recognize that in the course of employmerthwhie Company, | will have access
Proprietary Information, to Third Party Informaticand to employees, consultants, contractors,tsli@md customers of the
Company. | also recognize that the services | lv@lemployed to provide are personal and uniquedérstand that because
of this the Company may sustain irreparable injtifwiolate this Agreement. In order to limit orgvent such irreparable
injury, the Company shall have the right to enfdide Agreement and any of its provisions by infimrt, specific
performance or other equitable relief, without bamd without prejudice to any other rights and rdieethat the Company
may have for a breach of this Agreem



10. NorTices. Any notices required or permitted hereundetl flgagiven to the appropriate party at the addspesified
below or at such other address as the party ghedify in writing. Such notice shall be deemed giwgpon personal delivery
to the appropriate address or if sent by certifiecegistered mail, three (3) days after the dataailing.

11. NortFicaTioNoF N Ew E MPLOYER . In the event that | leave the employ of the @any, | authorize the Company to
provide notice of my rights and obligations undes tAgreement to my subsequent employer and t@#rer entity or
person to whom | provide service

12. G ENERAL P RoOVISIONS .

12.1 Governing Law; Consent to Personal Jurisdion.  This Agreement will be governed by and constraecording t
the laws of the State of New York, as such lawsapmied to agreements entered into and to be qpeefd entirely within New Yor
between New York residents. | hereby expressly @oin® the personal jurisdiction of the state adkfal courts for New York
County, New York in any lawsuit filed there against by Company arising from or related to this Asgnent.

12.2 Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions, etiins, or sentences contained in this Agreenteit, s
for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal oenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, #liy or unenforceability shall not
affect the other provisions of this Agreement, #nd Agreement shall be construed as if such idydlegal or unenforceable
provision had never been contained herein. Morgdfzany one or more of the provisions containethis Agreement shall for any
reason be held to be excessively broad as to daraeographical scope, activity or subject, itldhe construed by limiting and
reducing it, so as to be enforceable to the extemipatible with the applicable law as it shall tlpear.

12.3 Successors and Assigns.This Agreement will be binding upon my heirsgeutors, administrators and other legal
representatives and will be for the benefit of @m@mpany, its successors, and its assigns.

12.4 Survival. The provisions of this Agreement shall suriive termination of my employment and the assignrmént
this Agreement by the Company to any successanténgst or other assignee.

12.5 Employment At-Will. | agree and understand that | am employed lhtamid that nothing in this Agreement shall
change this atvill status or confer any right with respect to tionation of employment by the Company, nor shatterfere in an
way with my right or the Company’s right to termi@any employment at any time, with or without cause

12.6 Waiver. No waiver by the Company of any breach of fkiggseement shall be a waiver of any preceding or
succeeding breach. No waiver by the Company ofrigiy under this Agreement shall be construed aaiger of any other right.
The Company shall not be required to give noticertforce strict adherence to all terms of this &grent.

12.7 Entire Agreement. The obligations pursuant to Sections 1 andthisfAgreement shall apply to any time during
which | was previously employed, or am in the fetemployed, by the Company as a consultant if heraigreement governs
nondisclosure and assignment of inventions durnirdp geriod. This Agreement is the final, complatd axclusive agreement of
the parties with respect to the subject matterdfeand supersedes and merges all prior discusbietmgeen us. No modification of
or amendment to this Agreement, nor any waivemngfrights under this Agreement, will be effectivelass in writing and signed
by the party to be charged. Any subsequent changkamges in my duties, salary or compensationnetiaffect the validity or
scope of this Agreement.



This Agreement shall be effective as of the fimy df my employment with the Company, namely: MarcR014.

| HAVE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY AND UNDERSTAND | TS TERMS . | HAVE COMPLETELY FILLED OUT E XHIBIT A TOTHIS A
GREEMENT .

Dated:March 7, 2014

/s/ Juan F. Sanch
(Signature)

Juan F. Sanche
(Printed Name)

A CCEPTEDAND A GREEDT O:

| NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC.

By: /s/ Lawrence J. Hinelin

Title: V.P. Finance

3960 Broadway, NY, NY 1005
(Address)

Dated:3/7/14



Exhibit 10.19

| NTRA -C ELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC.
2013 EquiTy | NCENTIVE P LAN

O pTION G RANT N OTICE

Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (theCompany”), pursuant to its 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (tHelan "), hereby grants to Optionholder an
option to purchase the number of shares of ComntackSet forth below (the Option”). The Option is subject to all of the terms and
conditions set forth in this Option Grant NoticeNbtice”), in the Option Agreement and the Plan, both of wiaichattached to this Notice &
incorporated into this Notice in their entirety.ftalized terms not explicitly defined in this Nedi but defined in the Plan or the Option
Agreement will have the same definitions as inRken or the Option Agreement. If there is any dohfietween the terms in this Notice and
the Plan, the terms of the Plan will control.

Optionholder:

Date of Grant:

Vesting Commencement Date:
Number of Shares Subject to Optit
Exercise Price (Per Share):

Total Exercise Price:

Expiration Date:

Type of Grant: O  Incentive Stock Optiol O  Nonstatutory Stock Optic

Vesting Schedule Shares subject to the Option shall vest and beemeeisable in three equal annual installmentsrimdgg on the one-
year anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Batggect to the Optionhold's Continuous Service through each s
vesting date

Additional Terms/Acknowledgements:Optionholder acknowledges receipt of, and undedstamd agrees to, this Notice, the Option
Agreement, the Plan and the stock plan prospeotutié Plan. Optionholder acknowledges and agrexdshis Notice and the Option
Agreement may not be modified, amended or revigedm as provided in the Plan. Optionholder furtheknowledges that as of the Date of
Grant, this Notice, the Option Agreement, and tlaa Bet forth the entire understanding betweenddptilder and the Company regarding the
Option and supersede all prior oral and writtereagrents, promises and representations on thaicsubje

| NTRA -C ELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC .: O PTIONHOLDER :
By:
Signature Signature
Title: Date
Date:

A TTACHMENTS : Option Agreement and 2013 Equity Incentive Plan

1 If this is an Incentive Stock Option, it (pluset outstanding Incentive Stock Options) canndirseexercisabldor more than $100,000
in value (measured by exercise price) in any caegdar. Any excess over $100,000 is a Nonstati@togk Option



| NTRA -C ELLULAR T HERAPIES, | NC.
2013 EquiTy | NCENTIVE P LAN

O PTION A GREEMENT
(I NCENTIVE STOCK O PTION OR N ONSTATUTORY STOCK O PTION AS SET FORTH IN THE GRANT NOTICE )

Pursuant to your Stock Option Grant Notice (tl&rant Notice”) and this Option Agreement, Intra-Cellular Thees Inc. (the “
Company’) has granted you an option under its 2013 Egmitgntive Plan (the Plan ") to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock
indicated in your Grant Notice at the exercise@iidicated in your Grant Notice. The option isryea to you effective as of the date of grant
set forth in the Grant Notice (théDate of Grant”). If there is any conflict between the termshistOption Agreement and the Plan, the terms
of the Plan will control. Capitalized terms not &gitly defined in this Option Agreement or in tl&rant Notice but defined in the Plan will
have the same definitions as in the Plan.

The details of your option, in addition to thoséfseth in the Grant Notice and the Plan, are ds\is:

1. VESTING . Your option will vest as provided in your Grant et Vesting will cease upon the termination of y@antinuous Service
and the number of shares of Common Stock whicluavested as of such date shall be forfeited.

2. NUMBER OF SHARES AND E XerRcISE P RICE . The number of shares of Common Stock subject to gption and your exercise price
per share in your Grant Notice will be adjustedGapitalization Adjustments as provided in the Plan

3. M ETHOD OF P AYMENT . You must pay the full amount of the exercise pfarehe shares you wish to exercise. You may pay th
exercise price as follows:

(a) in cash or by check, bank draft or money order plyto the Company;

(b) Pursuant to a program developed under Regulatias @romulgated by the Federal Reserve Board that,tp the issuance of
Common Stock, results in either the receipt of aastheck by the Company or the receipt of irrevdeanstructions to pay the aggregate
exercise price to the Company from the sales pascekhis manner of payment is also known as a ‘fralssisted exercise,” “same day sale,”
or “sell to cover.”

(c) By delivery to the Company (either by actual deljwer attestation) of already-owned shares of Com®imck that are owned
free and clear of any liens, claims, encumbrancegcurity interests, and that are valued at Fairlkdet Value on the date of exercise.
“Delivery” for these purposes, in the sole disaetof the Company at the time you exercise youioaptvill include delivery to the Company
of your attestation of ownership of the shares @in@on Stock in a form the Company approves. You nwdexercise your option by delive
to the Company of Common Stock if doing so wouldlate the provisions of any law, regulation or agnent restricting the redemption of the
Company’s stock.

(d) If this option is a Nonstatutory Stock Option, sedijto the consent of the Board or Committee, aticgble, prior to exercise,
by a “net exercise” arrangement pursuant to wHiehGompany will reduce the number of shares of Com8tock issued upon exercise of
your option by the



largest whole number of shares with a Fair Markatu¥ that does not exceed the aggregate exeréige ou must pay any remaining bala
of the aggregate exercise price not satisfied by'nlet exercise” in cash or other permitted fornpayment.

4. W HOLE SHARES . You may exercise your option only for whole shasE€ommon Stock.

5. SEcURITIES L Aw C OMPLIANCE . In no event may you exercise your option unlessttaes of Common Stock issuable upon exercis
are then registered under the Securities Act awifregistered, the Company has determined thatgxercise and the issuance of the shares
would be exempt from the registration requiremefithe Securities Act. The exercise of your optidgo must comply with all other applica
laws and regulations governing your option, and gy not exercise your option if the Company deteesithat the exercise would not be in
material compliance with applicable laws and regoites.

6. T ErRM . The term of your option expiresupon the earliegheffollowing:
(a) immediately upon the Participant’s notificationaofermination of your Continuous Service for Cause;

(b) three months after the termination of your Contimi8ervice for any reason other than Cause, yaatity or your death;
provided, howeve, that if during any part of such three month p&our option is not exercisable solely becausagieb would violate the
registration requirements under the Securities yaty option will not expire until the earlier dfdé Expiration Date or until it has been
exercisable for an aggregate period of three mgmth&ch need not be consecutive) after the terronadf your Continuous Service; provided
further, if during any part of such three monthipeythe sale of any Common Stock received upomncése of your option would violate the
Company’s insider trading policy, then your optieiti not expire until the earlier of the Expiratiddate or until it has been exercisable for an
aggregate period of three months after the ternoinatf your Continuous Service (which need not besecutive) during which the sale of the
Common Stock received upon exercise of your optionld not be in violation of the Company’s insidiexding policy. ;

(c) twelve months after the termination of your Conting Service due to your Disability ;

(d) eighteen months after your death if you die eiffjeduring your Continuous Service, (ii) within ¢ months after the
termination of your Continuous Service for any mrasther than Cause or your Disability, or (iiitkin twelve months after the termination of
your Continuous Service for your Disability;

(e)the Expiration Date indicated in your Grant Notice.

If your option is an Incentive Stock Option, ndtattto obtain the federal income tax advantagescesged with an Incentive Stock
Option, the Code requires that at all times begigmin the Date of Grant and ending on the day thhmeeths before the date you exercise your
option, you must be an employee of the Companydkféiliate, except in the event of your death auy Disability. The Company has
provided for extended exercisability of your optiomder some circumstances for your benefit but cagnarantee that your option will
necessarily be treated as an Incentive Stock Offtigu continue to provide services to the Compangn Affiliate as a Consultant or Direc
after your employment terminates or if you otheengxercise your option more than three months #ftedate your employment with the
Company or an Affiliate terminates.



7. EXERCISE .

(a) You may exercise the vested portion of your optlaring its term by (i) delivering a Notice of Exi&xe (in a form designated |
the Company) or making the required electronictelaovith the Company’s designated broker, andp@ying the exercise price and any
applicable withholding taxes to the Compan$ecretary, stock plan administrator, or suchrgikeson as the Company may designate, toc
with any additional documents as the Company mex tequire.

(b) If your option is an Incentive Stock Option, by eising your option, you agree that you will notthe Company in writing
within 15 days after the date of any dispositiomoy of the shares of the Common Stock issued agertise of your option that occurs within
two years after the Date of Grant or within oneryafter the shares of Common Stock are transferpee exercise of your option.

(c) By exercising your option, you agree that you wot sell, dispose of, transfer, make any short sflgrant any option for the
purchase of, or enter into any hedging or simiangaction with the same economic effect as avattherespect to any shares of Common S
or other securities of the Company held by you afgeriod of 180 days following the effective datea registration statement of the Company
filed under the Securities Act or any longer persdhe underwriters or the Company will requedatiitate compliance with FINRA Rule
2711 or NYSE Member Rule 472 or any successomoitagi rules or regulation (thel“ock-Up Period”); provided, howeverthat nothing
contained in this Section7(c) will prevent the of any repurchase option in favor of the Comypduring the LocKJp Period. You furthe
agree to execute and deliver the other agreememigy be reasonably requested by the Company antherwriters that are consistent with
the foregoing covenant or that are necessary w@fyither effect to the foregoing covenant. To etéahe foregoing covenant, the Company
may impose stop-transfer instructions with respegiour shares of Common Stock until the end ofLibek-Up Period. You also agree that :
transferee of any shares of Common Stock or otharrities of the Company held by you will be bolnydthis Section 7(c). The underwriters
of the Company’s stock are intended third partydfieraries of this Section 7(c) and will have tiight, power and authority to enforce the
terms of this Section 7(c) as though they werertypa this Option Agreement.

8. T RANSFERABILITY OF O PTION . Except as otherwise provided in this Section 8ryapiion is not transferable except by will or et
laws of descent and distribution, and is exercesalolring your life only by you.

(a) Domestic Relations OrdersUpon receiving written permission from the Boardterduly authorized designee, and provided
that you and the designated transferee enterratsfer and other agreements required by the Coyngan may transfer your option pursuant
to the terms of a domestic relations order, offiniarital settlement agreement or other divorceegaration instrument as permitted by
Treasury Regulations Section 1.421-1(b)(2) thataios the information required by the Company feafiate the transfer. You are
encouraged to discuss the proposed terms of argiativof this option with the Company prior to fiiziang the domestic relations order or
marital settlement agreement to help ensure th@natjinformation is contained within the domesétations order or marital settlement
agreement. If this option is an Incentive Stocki@mtthis option may be deemed to be a Nonstatustogk Option as a result of the transfer.

3.



(b) Beneficiary Designation.Upon receiving written permission from the Boardtsrduly authorized designee, you may, by
delivering written notice to the Company in a foapproved by the Company and any broker designatéidebCompany to handle option
exercises, designate a third party who, after gieath, will be entitled to exercise the option astkive the Common Stock or other
consideration resulting from the exercise. In theemce of such a designation, your executor orm@dirator of your estate will be entitled to
exercise the option and receive, on behalf of wstiate, the Common Stock or other consideratiantmeg from such exercise.

9. OPTION NOT A SERVICE C ONTRACT . Your option is not an employment or service coritrand nothing in your option will be deemed
to create in any way whatsoever any obligation @uarypart to continue in the employ of the CompangiroAffiliate, or of the Company or an
Affiliate to continue your employment. In additiampthing in your option will obligate the Companyanm Affiliate, their respective
stockholders, boards of directors, officers or eyeks to continue any relationship that you mightehas a Director or Consultant for the
Company or an Affiliate.

10. WITHHOLDING O BLIGATIONS .

(a) At the time you exercise your option, in whole mpiart, and at any time thereafter as requestédebompany, you hereby
authorize withholding from payroll and any othercamts payable to you, and otherwise agree to md&guate provision for (including by
means of a “same day sale” pursuant to a prograrelalged under Regulation T as promulgated by tliefé Reserve Board), any sums
required to satisfy the federal, state, local awdifjn tax withholding obligations of the Compamyaa Affiliate, if any, which arise in
connection with the exercise of your option.

(b) Upon your request and subject to approval by thegmy, and compliance with any applicable legabdtons or restrictions,
the Company may withhold from fully vested share€ommon Stock otherwise issuable to you upon ®esaise of your option a number of
whole shares of Common Stock having a Fair Markati¥, determined by the Company as of the dateetese, not in excess of the
minimum amount of tax required to be withheld by l@r such lower amount as may be necessary ta alassification of your option as a
liability for financial accounting purposes). Angharse consequences to you arising in connectitimsuvich share withholding procedure will
be your sole responsibility.

(c) You may not exercise your option unless the takidtding obligations of the Company and any Afféiare satisfied.
Accordingly, you may not be able to exercise ygutian when desired even though your option is westad the Company will have no
obligation to issue a certificate for such shafeS@@mmon Stock or release such shares of Commark $tom any escrow provided for herein,
if applicable, unless such obligations are satisfie

11. T Ax C ONSEQUENCES. You hereby agree that the Company does not hdutyao design or administer the Plan or its other
compensation programs in a manner that minimizes ax liabilities. You will not make any claim dgat the Company, or any of its Office
Directors, Employees or Affiliates related to tadbilities arising from your option or your othesrapensation. In particular, you acknowledge
that this option is exempt from Section 409A of @&de only if the exercise price per share spetifighe Grant Notice is at least equal to the
“fair market value”per share of the Common Stock on the Date of Gradtthere is no other impermissible deferral of gensation associat
with the option.



12. NoTIces . Any notices provided for in your option or the Plaitl be given in writing (including electronicallyand will be deemed
effectively given upon receipt or, in the case afices delivered by mail by the Company to youefilays after deposit in the U.S. mail,
postage prepaid, addressed to you at the lastsxigoe provided to the Company. The Company maiis sole discretion, decide to deliver
any documents related to participation in the Rladh this option by electronic means or to request gonsent to participate in the Plan by
electronic means. By accepting this option, youseoi to receive such documents by electronic dgliaed to participate in the Plan through
an online or electronic system established and taiaied by the Company or another third party destiggh by the Company.

13. GoVvERNING P LAN D ocUMENT . Your option is subject to all the terms of the Phahich are hereby made a part of your option, and
is further subject to all interpretations, amendtsgrules and regulations, which may from timeinwetbe promulgated and adopted pursuant
the Plan. In addition, your option (and any compéing paid or shares issued under your option)liget to recoupment in accordance with
The Dodd—Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumereletion Act and any implementing regulations thedsunany clawback policy adopted
by the Company and any compensation recovery poticgrwise required by applicable law. No recow@rgompensation under such a
clawback policy will be an event giving rise toight to resign for “good reason” or for a “constiuve termination” (or similar term) under any
agreement with the Company.

14. EFFecT oN O THER E MPLOYEE B ENEFIT P LANS . The value of your option will not be included asnmpensation, earnings, salaries,
or other similar terms used when calculating yeemdfits under any employee benefit plan sponsoyaidoCompany or any Affiliate, except

as such plan otherwise expressly provides. The @ognpxpressly reserves its rights to amend, modifygerminate any of the Company’s or
any Affiliate’'s employee benefit plans.

15. VoTING R IGHTS . You will not have voting or any other rights astackholder of the Company with respect to the shawee issued
pursuant to your option until such shares are soigou. Upon such issuance, you will obtain fulting and other rights as a stockholder of
the Company. Nothing contained in your option, andaction taken pursuant to its provisions, widate or be construed to create a trust o
kind or a fiduciary relationship between you anel @ompany or any other person.

16. SeveraABILITY . If all or any part of this Option Agreement or tAkan is declared by any court or governmental aitthto be
unlawful or invalid, such unlawfulness or invalidiwill not invalidate any portion of this Option Agement or the Plan not declared to be
unlawful or invalid. Any Section of this Option Aggment (or part of such a Section) so declareé tentawful or invalid shall, if possible, be
construed in a manner which will give effect to taems of such Section or part of a Section tdfilest extent possible while remaining
lawful and valid.

17. M ISCELLANEOUS .

(a) The rights and obligations of the Company undermrymtion will be transferable to any one or morespes or entities, and all
covenants and agreements hereunder will inurectbbéimefit of, and be enforceable by the Companiésessors and assigns.
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(b) You agree upon request to execute any further dentsyor instruments necessary or desirable indleedetermination of the
Company to carry out the purposes or intent of yaption.

(c) This Option Agreement will be subject to all applite laws, rules, and regulations, and to suchosas by any governmental
agencies or national securities exchanges as meggbé@ed.

(d)

This Option Agreement will be deemed to be signggtdu upon the signing by you of the Stock Option
Grant Notice to which it is attached.

6.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1933&0gning to the ITI, Inc. 2003 Equity
Incentive Plan, as amended, and the Intra-Cellth&rapies, Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan of apart dated March 25, 2014 with respect tc
the financial statements of Intra-Cellular Therapiac., included in this Annual Report (Form 10f&) the year ended December 31, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, VA
March 25, 2014



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Sharon Mates, Ph.D., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkntra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 25, 2014

/s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.D.

Sharon Mates, Ph.I

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Lawrence J. Hineline, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fkntra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloing, or caused such internal control over fmahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 25, 2014

/s/ Lawrence J. Hineline

Lawrence J. Hinelin

Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Offieed
Secretary

(principal financial officer and principal accoumti
officer)




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of Intrilt@r Therapies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (fiempany”), does hereby certify, to such
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @13 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliesth the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, and the information contained in thenFd0-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results @rapions of the Company.

Dated: March 25, 2014 /s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.|
Sharon Mates, Ph.I
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer

Dated: March 25, 2014 /s/ Lawrence J. Hinelin
Lawrence J. Hinelin
Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Offieed
Secretary
(principal financial officer and principal accoumi officer)




